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About Canada Life 
The Canada Life Assurance Company is a Canadian-based international company providing insurance, wealth management 
and healthcare benefit products and services in Canada, the United Kingdom, Isle of Man, Germany and Ireland. Founded in 1847, we were 
Canada’s first domestic life insurance company. Since then, our customers have trusted us to provide for their financial security needs and to 
deliver on the promises we have made. 

In Canada 
Canada Life has been helping improve the financial, physical and mental well-being of Canadians for over 175 years. We are an industry leader 
providing Canadians options for personal insurance solutions, including life, health and dental, disability, critical illness and creditor insurance. 
As a leading provider of group workplace benefit plans, we help employers and associations provide valuable benefits to their employees and 
members. In 2023, Canada Life became the largest provider of workplace solutions 2 – currently serving more than 1 in every 3 Canadians. In 
addition, Canada Life offers investments, retirement and wealth management solutions, including annuities and segregated funds. 

Internationally 
Canada Life Limited, with operations in the United Kingdom, provides individuals and businesses with a range of retirement, investment, 
insurance and wealth solutions. Canada Life offers individual annuities, pension de-risking solutions, home finance, estate planning and 
investment options, and workplace protection products. 

Canada Life International is a leading offshore provider, providing retirement, investment and protection solutions to individuals, families 
and businesses in Ireland and Isle of Man. 

Canada Life Assurance Europe plc, located in Germany, is a leading company in the brokerage market for unit-linked products. 

Canada Life Reinsurance, as a division of Canada Life, offers a range of innovative risk and capital management solutions. These cover 
mortality, longevity, health and lapse risks for insurers, reinsurers and pension funds across the U.S., Europe, Middle East and Asia. 

Irish Life is a subsidiary of Canada Life. With operations in Ireland, Irish Life provides pensions and investments, income and life protection, 
and health insurance to individuals and businesses. 

Community Support 
Supporting charitable organizations and initiatives are among the ways our companies give back, yet it means more than simply writing 
a cheque. We also engage our employees and advisors in volunteering opportunities, workplace campaigns and corporate donations so we’re 
all connected by a shared sense of responsibility to give back and help build stronger communities. 

The Canada Life Assurance Company is a subsidiary of Great-West Lifeco Inc. and a member of the Power Corporation group 
of Companies. 

1 This metric is a non-GAAP financial measure. Refer to the “Non-GAAP Financial Measures and Ratios” section of this report for additional details. 

2 Largest Group and Life benefits provider in Canada by premiums. 
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Directors’ Report to Shareholders 

Jeffrey Orr 
Chair of the Board 

Paul Mahon 
President and Chief Executive Officer 

A year of strategic growth and community impact 
As we reflect on 2024, we are proud of our accomplishments and how we have delivered for our customers and advisors, our communities 
and for you, our shareholders and policyholders. This year has been marked by significant progress against our strategies that position The 
Canada Life Assurance Company for continued success. 

We seek to support our customers throughout all of life’s moments – and we’re guided by our purpose, to build stronger, more inclusive and 
financially secure futures. We’re here for life. 

Over the past year, we’ve gained momentum across our portfolio of businesses by executing on plans that support sustainable and profitable 
growth. We’ve accomplished this through disciplined execution against opportunities that help scale our businesses, extend the range of services 
we provide to our customers, enhance our digital capabilities and strengthen our operations. 

We’ve also continued to build on commitments to the communities we serve. We’ve been a consistent partner to charitable organizations that 
are making a meaningful difference in the communities where we operate and championed a more inclusive and welcoming society. 

Taken together, we’re creating sustainable value, while at the same time becoming stronger and more resilient. 

Extending market leadership through strategic investments and growth 
In 2024, we continued to prioritize strategic investments that support long-term organic growth to create lasting value for our stakeholders. 

Across our portfolio, we’re executing strategies in focused areas in each of our segments to further strengthen our leadership positions. 
These are underpinned by market leading brands, customer reach and scale. 

Growth in Wealth & Asset Management remains a priority across multiple segments of our business. In Canada, we’ve advanced the 
integration of Investment Planning Counsel and Value Partners, which are helping to grow and expand our Canadian wealth management 
offerings for customers and advisors. In Ireland, Irish Life Investment Managers, together with Aon, launched a €500 million climate 
transition fund, expanding the range of offerings available to customers. 

We provide millions of individuals and their families with health, wellness and retirement benefits through our Workplace Solutions 
businesses. In Canada, we expanded our business in 2024 with the addition of the plan that administers dental benefits for federal public 
service employees, retired public servants and their dependents. In Ireland, where Irish Life is one of the country’s leading providers of 
workplace benefits, we’ve created a connected employee experience through the MyIrishLife portal for employees. This service also helps 
employers manage and maximize the benefits of their plan with a connected employee benefits dashboard. 
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Directors’ Report to Shareholders 

Our Insurance & Risk Solutions businesses remain a point of strength, stability and diversification. Our Reinsurance business supports 
this through disciplined underwriting and risk selection across a wide range of markets by leveraging specialized skills to help clients 
manage risks. In the UK, we remain a leader in helping clients manage longevity risk, including growth in pension risk transfer solutions 
for clients in 2024. And in Canada, we’ve continued to strengthen our distribution and product suite by launching a new universal life 
product with competitive features and rates, and through improved pricing for disability and critical illness insurance products. 

Through these actions, we continue to advance our focused strategies to deliver for our customers and advisors, while also driving 
sustainable growth and lasting value. 

Community, citizenship and impact 
We believe our products and services, backed by quality advice, can make a lasting, positive difference in the lives of our customers. We also 
believe that we can make a lasting, positive impact in the communities where we operate. That belief in action has resulted in $13 million 
in donations in 2024 to local charitable initiatives. This is furthered through the actions of our employees and associates who volunteer 
their time and talent to help make a positive difference in the world around them. This year, we contributed to greater financial security for 
underserved populations, made investments in arts and education and were there to help those impacted by natural disasters. 

Across our company, we’ve built a culture where our colleagues can bring the best version of themselves every day. We continue to believe 
that recruitment and talent development that supports a sense of belonging helps us attract and retain the best performing people. When we 
invest in helping individuals harness their fullest potential, they in turn empower our customers to realize theirs. 

We bring a focus on long-term value creation and we’re making disciplined choices that include considering climate and other factors and 
the impact that they may have on the value of investments. 

Thank you 
Early last year, we announced the retirement of Jeff Macoun as President and COO, Canada, Canada Life and welcomed Fabrice Morin as his 
successor.  We celebrated Jeff for his over 40 years of dedicated service and smoothly transitioned Fabrice into his new role where he focused 
on driving growth and unlocking value for our customers. 

On behalf of Canada Life, its Board of Directors and our dedicated employees and advisors, we extend our sincere thanks to you for your 
trust and support. We look forward to continuing our impactful work together, delivering reliable, responsive advice and solutions that 
individuals, families and businesses can depend on today, tomorrow and for life. 

Jeffrey Orr Paul Mahon 
Chair of the Board President and Chief Executive Officer 
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Cautionary Notes 

Businesses of Canada Life 

Canada Life is a diversified international financial services company offering protection and wealth management products to individuals and 
groups, principally in Canada, the United Kingdom (U.K.), the Isle of Man, the United States (U.S.), Ireland and Germany. The Company also 
provides reinsurance products, primarily in the U.S., Barbados, Bermuda and Ireland. 

The Company’s reportable operating segments are the participating and shareholder operations of the Company. The business units within these 
segments are Canada, Europe, Capital and Risk Solutions and Corporate. Business activities and transactions that are not associated with the 
specific business units are attributed to Corporate. 

Basis of Presentation and Summary of Material Accounting Policies 

The consolidated financial statements of Canada Life, which are the basis for data presented in this report, have been prepared in accordance with 
International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS) as issued by the International Accounting Standards Board (IASB) unless otherwise noted and 
are presented in millions of Canadian dollars unless otherwise indicated. This report should be read in conjunction with the Company’s annual 
consolidated financial statements for the period ended December 31, 2024. 

Cautionary Note Regarding Forward-Looking Information 

This report contains forward-looking information. Forward-looking information includes statements that are predictive in nature, depend upon or 
refer to future events or conditions, or include words such as “will”, “may”, “expects”, “anticipates”, “intends”, “plans”, “believes”, “estimates”, “objective”, 
“target”, “potential” and other similar expressions or negative versions thereof. Forward-looking information includes, without limitation, 
statements about the Corporation and its operations, business (including business mix), financial condition, expected financial performance 
(including revenues, earnings or growth rates), strategies and prospects, expected costs and benefits of acquisitions and divestitures (including 
timing of integration activities and timing and extent of revenue and expense synergies), expected expenditures or investments (including but 
not limited to investment in technology infrastructure and digital capabilities and solutions and investments in strategic partnerships), value 
creation and realization and growth opportunities, product and service innovation, expected dividend levels, expected cost reductions and 
savings, expected capital management activities and use of capital, market position, estimates of risk sensitivities affecting capital adequacy ratios, 
anticipated global economic conditions, potential impacts of catastrophe events, potential impacts of geopolitical events and conflicts and the 
impact of regulatory developments on the Company’s business strategy, growth objectives and capital. 

Forward-looking statements are based on expectations, forecasts, estimates, predictions, projections and conclusions about future events that were 
current at the time of the statements and are inherently subject to, among other things, risks, uncertainties and assumptions about the Company, 
economic factors and the financial services industry generally, including the insurance, mutual fund and retirement solutions industries. They are 
not guarantees of future performance, and the reader is cautioned that actual events and results could differ materially from those expressed or 
implied by forward-looking statements. Many of these assumptions are based on factors and events that are not within the control of the Company 
and there is no assurance that they will prove to be correct. In arriving at our assessment of the Company’s potential exposure to Global Minimum 
Tax and our expectation regarding the impact on our effective income tax rate and earnings, management has relied on its interpretation of the 
relevant legislation. It has also assumed a starting point of its current mix of business and earnings growth consistent with management’s earnings 
objectives disclosed in this report. In all cases, whether or not actual results differ from forward-looking information may depend on numerous 
factors, developments and assumptions, including, without limitation, the ability to integrate and leverage acquisitions and achieve anticipated 
benefits and synergies, the Company’s ability to execute strategic plans and adapt or recalibrate these plans as needed, the Company’s reputation, 
business competition, assumptions around sales, pricing, fee rates, customer behaviour (including contributions, redemptions, withdrawals and 
lapse rates), mortality and morbidity experience, expense levels, reinsurance arrangements, global equity and capital markets (including continued 
access to equity and debt markets and credit instruments on economically feasible terms), geopolitical tensions and related economic impacts, 
interest and foreign exchange rates, inflation levels, liquidity requirements, investment values and asset breakdowns, hedging activities, financial 
condition of industry sectors and individual issuers that comprise part of the Company’s investment portfolio, credit ratings, taxes, impairments 
of goodwill and other intangible assets, technological changes, breaches or failure of information systems and security (including cyber attacks), 
assumptions around third-party suppliers, changes in local and international laws and regulations, changes in accounting policies and the effect 
of applying future accounting policy changes, changes in actuarial standards, unexpected judicial or regulatory proceedings, catastrophic events, 
continuity and availability of personnel and third party service providers, unplanned changes to the Company’s facilities, customer and employee 
relations, levels of administrative and operational efficiencies, and other general economic, political and market factors in North America 
and internationally. 

The reader is cautioned that the foregoing list of assumptions and factors is not exhaustive, and there may be other factors listed in other filings 
with securities regulators, including factors set out in the “Risk Management” and “Summary of Critical Accounting Estimates” sections of this 
report which, along with other filings, is available for review at www.sedarplus.com. The reader is also cautioned to consider these and other 
factors, uncertainties and potential events carefully and not to place undue reliance on forward-looking information. 

Other than as specifically required by applicable law, the Company does not intend to update any forward-looking information whether as a result 
of new information, future events or otherwise. 

Important Note Regarding Sustainability Disclosure 

Certain forward-looking statements in the Company’s filings relate to Great-West Lifeco Inc.’s climate-related and diversity-related 
ambitions, measures, objectives, goals, priorities, strategies and commitments or actions that will be taken to achieve them. The 
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Cautionary Notes 

climate-related statements include statements with respect to Great-West Lifeco’s ambition to move towards net-zero GHG emissions for its 
operating and financing activities by 2050, Great-West Lifeco’s initial interim net zero goals and ambitions for operations and investments, 
Great-West Lifeco’s plan to review and revise initial interim net zero goals and ambitions as appropriate, the causes and potential impacts of 
climate change globally, and Great-West Lifeco’s approach to identifying and managing climate-related risks and opportunities. The diversity-
related statements include statements with respect to growing representation of women and underrepresented groups in management. The 
forward-looking information in the Company’s filings is presented for the purpose of assisting our stakeholders in understanding how we 
currently intend to address climate-related and diversity-related governance, strategy, risks, opportunities, and objectives, and is not for the 
purpose of promoting any business or business interest or for other purposes. 

Any goals, objectives, ambitions, commitments or targets discussed in the Company’s filings, including but not limited to Great-West Lifeco’s 
net-zero related goals and ambitions (including interim net zero goals) and diversity-related measures, are aspirational. They may need 
to change or be recalibrated as data improve and as climate science, regulatory requirements and market practices regarding standards, 
methodologies, metrics and measurements evolve. Our climate risk analysis and net-zero ambitions remain under review. Great-West Lifeco 
does not currently have a comprehensive transition plan in place to achieve its net zero-related goals and ambitions and the timing for 
developing such a plan and its scope and achievability remain uncertain. Moreover, the data needed to define the Company’s plan to achieve 
those goals and ambitions is limited in quality and availability and is inconsistent across the sectors the Company chooses to focus on. We 
are also continuing to develop our diversity-related data. There is a strong possibility that our expectations, forecasts, estimates, predictions 
and conclusions may not prove to be accurate and our assumptions may prove to be incorrect, and there is a material risk we will not achieve 
our climate-related and diversity-related goals, objectives, ambitions, strategies and commitments. In addition, many of the assumptions, 
standards, metrics and measurements used in preparing these forward-looking statements are not audited or independently verified, have 
limited comparability and continue to evolve. 

Any goals, objectives, priorities, ambitions, commitments or targets discussed in the Company’s filings, may also need to change or be 
recalibrated to meet our other strategic objectives and the reasonable expectations of our stakeholders, including expectations around 
financial performance. As a financial services company, our primary purpose is to provide our clients and customers with solutions to meet 
their financial security needs and to deliver on the promises we make to them. Our ability to fulfil this corporate purpose depends in large 
part on effective and responsible capital allocation and the ability to create value within the boundaries of our stakeholders’ expectations, 
including expectations around financial performance. The path to achieving net zero and our climate-related ambitions will require significant 
investment, resources, systems and technologies by third parties we do not control. Faced with a wide range of stakeholder interests, we will 
need to effectively manage trade-offs and make choices about how to deploy financial and human capital. These choices could include 
prioritizing other strategic objectives over our climate-related goals in pursuit of fulfilling our primary purpose, delivering value to our 
stakeholders and meeting expectations around financial performance. As our business, our industry and climate science evolve over time, we 
may need to adjust our climate-related ambitions and goals and our approach to meeting them. We will also need to remain thoughtful about 
the regulatory and business environment of the jurisdictions in which we operate, as our ability to achieve our climate ambitions and goals is 
contingent on the success of our partners and communities. 

We caution readers not to place undue reliance on forward-looking statements because numerous factors (many of which are beyond the control 
of Great-West Lifeco and Canada Life) may cause actual results to differ and impact Great-West Lifeco’s ability to achieve its climate-related and 
diversity-related goals, objectives, priorities, ambitions, strategies and targets. These factors include, without limitation, the transition to a low-
carbon economy, the need for more and better climate data and standardization of climate-related measurement methodologies, our ability to 
gather and verify data, our ability to develop indicators to effectively monitor our advancements and assess and manage climate-related risks, 
the need for active and continued action by stakeholders (including governmental and non-governmental organizations, our counterparties 
and other businesses and individuals), trade-offs and choices we make that prioritize other strategic objectives and financial performance 
over our climate-related objectives, the ability of clients, regulators and suppliers to meet and report on their publicly stated emissions and 
commitments, the viability of third-party decarbonization scenarios, the availability of carbon offset and renewable energy instruments on 
economically feasible terms, compliance with our policies and procedures, our ability to recruit and retain key personnel in a competitive 
environment for talent, technological advancements, the evolution of consumer behaviour, varying decarbonization efforts across economies, 
the challenges of balancing emission reduction objectives with an orderly, just and inclusive transition and geopolitical factors that impact 
global energy needs, the legal and regulatory environment, and regulatory compliance considerations. In relation to our climate-related goals, 
objectives, priorities, ambitions, strategies and targets, there are limitations and uncertainties inherent in climate science, climate risk analysis 
and reporting. Great-West Lifeco has made good faith approximations and assumptions in establishing its interim Scope 1 and 2 reduction 
goals and initial reduction goals for Scope 3 financed emissions. However, there are many factors that are the subject of ongoing climate 
science and that we cannot foresee or accurately predict which will impact our ability to achieve those goals. 

Cautionary Note Regarding Non-GAAP Financial Measures and Ratios 

This report contains some non-Generally Accepted Accounting Principles (GAAP) financial measures and non-GAAP ratios as defined in 
National Instrument 52-112 “Non-GAAP and Other Financial Measures Disclosure”. Terms by which non-GAAP financial measures are 
identified include, but are not limited to “assets under management” and “assets under administration”. 

Non-GAAP financial measures and ratios are used to provide management and investors with additional measures of performance to help 
assess results where no comparable GAAP (IFRS) measure exists. However, non-GAAP financial measures and ratios do not have standard 
meanings prescribed by GAAP (IFRS) and are not directly comparable to similar measures used by other companies. Refer to the “Non-GAAP 
Financial Measures and Ratios” section in the MD&A for the appropriate reconciliations of these non-GAAP financial measures to measures 
prescribed by GAAP as well as additional details on each measure and ratio. 
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Financial Highlights (unaudited) 

(in Canadian $ millions except per share amounts) 

As at and for the years ended December 31 2024 2023 

Summary of net earnings attributable to: 
Participating account $ 107 $ 24 
Common shareholder 3,140 2,394 

Net earnings $ 3,247 $ 2,418 

Insurance service result $ 3,258 $ 3,002 
Net investment result 1,015 
Fee and other income 2,853 2,163 

Total assets $ 461,204 $ 410,616 
Total assets under management 1 576,201 499,941 
Total assets under administration 1 654,853 567,652 

Total contractual service margin (net of reinsurance held) $ 13,243 $ 12,458 

Participating account surplus $ 3,043 $ 2,844 
Non-controlling interests 10 16 
Shareholders’ equity 20,909 19,813 

Total equity $ 23,962 $ 22,673 

LICAT Ratio 2 130% 128% 

1 This metric is a non-GAAP financial measure, does not have standard meanings prescribed by GAAP and is not directly comparable to similar measures used by other 
companies. Additional information regarding this non-GAAP financial measure, including a reconciliation of such a non-GAAP financial measure to a measure prescribed by 
GAAP, is incorporated by reference herein and can be found in the Non-GAAP Financial Measures section of the Company’s 2024 Annual MD&A, available for review under 
the Company’s profile on SEDAR at www.sedar. com. 

2 The Life Insurance Capital Adequacy Test (LICAT) Ratio is calculated in accordance with the Office of Superintendent of Financial Institutions’ guideline - Life Insurance 
Capital Adequacy Test. Additional information regarding this financial measure has been incorporated by reference herein and can be found in the Capital Management 
Adequacy section of the Company’s 2024 Annual MD&A, available for review under the Company’s profile on SEDAR at www.sedar.com. 
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Financial Reporting Responsibility 

The consolidated financial statements of The Canada Life Assurance Company are the responsibility of management and are prepared in 
accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS), including the accounting requirements of the Office of the Superintendent 
of Financial Institutions Canada. The financial information contained elsewhere in the annual report is consistent with that in the consolidated 
financial statements. The consolidated financial statements necessarily include amounts that are based on management’s best estimates. 
These estimates are based on careful judgments and have been properly reflected in the consolidated financial statements. In the opinion of 
management, the accounting practices utilized are appropriate in the circumstances and the consolidated financial statements present fairly, in 
all material respects, the financial position of the Company and its segregated funds and the results of its operations and its cash flows and the 
changes in assets of its segregated funds in accordance with IFRS, including the requirements of the Office of the Superintendent of Financial 
Institutions Canada. 

In carrying out its responsibilities, management maintains appropriate internal control over financial reporting designed to provide reasonable 
assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements in accordance with IFRS, including the 
requirements of the Office of the Superintendent of Financial Institutions Canada. 

The consolidated financial statements were approved by the Board of Directors, which has oversight responsibilities with respect to financial 
reporting. The Board of Directors carries out this responsibility principally through the Audit Committee, which comprises of non-management 
directors. The Audit Committee is charged with, among other things, the responsibility to: 

• Review the interim and annual consolidated financial statements and report thereon to the Board of Directors. 

• Review internal control procedures. 

• Review the independence of the external auditors and the terms of their engagement and recommend the appointment and compensation of 
the external auditors to the Board of Directors. 

• Review other audit, accounting and financial reporting matters as required. 

In carrying out the above responsibilities, the Audit Committee meets regularly with management, and with both the Company’s external and 
internal auditors to review their respective audit plans and to review their audit findings. The Committee is readily accessible to external and 
internal auditors and to the Appointed Actuary. 

The Board of Directors of the Company, pursuant to the Insurance Companies Act (Canada), appoints an Actuary who is a Fellow of the Canadian 
Institute of Actuaries. The Actuary: 

• Ensures that the assumptions and methods used in the valuation of policy liabilities are in accordance with International Financial Reporting 
Standards, accepted actuarial practice, applicable legislation and associated regulations and directives, and the consolidated financial 
statements fairly present the result of the valuation. 

• Examination of supporting data for accuracy and completeness is an important elements of the work required to form this opinion. 

• Annually analyzes the financial condition of the Company and prepares a report for the Risk Committee of the Board of Directors. The analysis 
covers a five year period, and tests the projected capital adequacy of the Company, under adverse economic and business conditions. 

Deloitte LLP Chartered Professional Accountants, as Canada Life’s external auditors, have audited the consolidated financial statements. The 
Independent Auditor’s Report to the Policyholders and Shareholder is presented following the consolidated financial statements. Their opinion 
is based upon an examination conducted in accordance with Canadian generally accepted auditing standards, performing such tests and other 
procedures as they consider necessary in order to obtain reasonable assurance that the consolidated financial statements present fairly, in all 
material respects, the financial position of the Company and its financial performance and its cash flows in accordance with IFRS as issued by 
the International Accounting Standards Board (IASB). 

Paul Mahon Jon Nielsen 

President and Executive Vice-President and 
Chief Executive Officer Chief Financial Officer 

Toronto, Ontario 
February 5, 2025 
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Consolidated Statements of Earnings 

For the years 
ended December 1 

2024 2023 

in anadian  millions 

Insurance service result 

Insurance revenue (note 12) $ 21,007 $ 20,188 

Insurance service expenses (note 13) (16,165) (15,622) 

Net expense from reinsurance contracts 

Net investment result (note ) 

Net investment income 5,719 4,877 

Changes in fair value on fair value through profit or loss assets 1,280 4,267 

6,999 9,144 

Net finance income (expenses) from insurance contracts (5,851) (9,032) 

Net finance income (expenses) from reinsurance contracts 26 266 

Changes in investment contract liabilities 

Net investment result - insurance contracts on account of segregated fund policyholders 

Net investment income (loss) 6,828 4,808 

Net finance income (expenses) from insurance contracts 

(1,584) (1,564) 

3,258 3,002 

(159) (178) 

1,015 200 

(6,828) (4,808) 

— — 

%ther income and expenses 

Fee and other income 2,853 2,163 

Operating and administrative expenses (note 13) (3,088) (2,635) 

Amortization of finite life intangible assets (note 9) (185) (160) 

Financing costs (note 19) (105) (105) 

Restructuring expenses (note 4) 

Earnings before income taxes 

(49) (126) 

3,699 2,339 

Income taxes (note 29) 

Net earnings before non-controlling interests 

455 (80) 

3,244 2,419 

Attributable to non-controlling interests (note 22) 

Net earnings 

(3) 1 

3,247 2,418 

Net earnings - participating account (note 21) 

Net earnings - common shareholder 

107 24 

$ 3,140 $ 2,394 
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Consolidated Statements of Comprehensive Income 

in anadian  millions For the years 
ended December 1 

2024 2023 

(Restated)$ 3,247 $ 2,418 Net earnings 

%ther comprehensive income (loss) 

Items that may be reclassified subse>uently to Consolidated Statements of Earnings 

+nrealized foreign exchange gains (losses) on translation of foreign operations 718 111 

+nrealized gains (losses) on hedges of the net investment in foreign operations (128) 23 

Income tax (expense) benefit 36 (7) 

+nrealized gains (losses) on bonds and mortgages at fair value through other comprehensive income 79 212 

Income tax (expense) benefit (17) (81) 

Realized (gains) losses on bonds and mortgages at fair value through other comprehensive income 
(note 6) 45 243 

Income tax expense (benefit) 

Total items that may be reclassified 

Items that Dill not be reclassified to Consolidated Statements of Earnings 

Re-measurements on defined benefit pension and other post-employment benefit plans (note 26) 212 (149) 

Income tax (expense) benefit 

Total items that Dill not be reclassified 

Total other comprehensive income 

Comprehensive income 

(61) 41 

151 (108) 

874 375 

$ 4,121 $ 2,793 

(10) (18) 

723 483 

The Canada Life Assurance Company 2024 Annual Report 9 



Consolidated Balance Sheets 

in anadian  millions 

Assets 
Cash and cash e?uivalents (note 5) $ 4,522 $ 3,944 
onds (note 6) 100,863 91,904 
Mortgage loans (note 6) 25,477 24,449 
Stocks (note 6) 14,794 13,589 
Investment properties (note 6) 

Insurance contract assets (note 14) 858 902 
Reinsurance contract held assets (note 15) 6,544 6,546 
Goodwill (note 9) 6,827 7,072 
Intangible assets (note 9) 2,866 2,484 
erivative financial instruments (note 30) 1,458 1,486 
Owner occupied properties (note 10) 589 544 
Fixed assets (note 10) 277 252 
Accounts and interest receivable 3,704 3,117 
Other assets (note 11) 2,647 2,344 
Current income taxes 185 144 
eferred tax assets (note 29) 958 804 
Investments on account of segregated fund policyholders (note 17) 
Total assets 

"iabilities 
Insurance contract liabilities (note 14) $ 140,310 $ 129,689 
Investment contract liabilities (note 16) 4,687 4,953 
Reinsurance contract held liabilities (note 15) 628 475 
ebentures and other debt instruments (note 18) 807 748 
Preferred shares (note 23) 1,000 1,000 
erivative financial instruments (note 30) 2,074 1,208 
Accounts payable 2,028 1,672 
Other liabilities (note 20) 4,534 4,401 
Current income taxes 227 97 
eferred tax liabilities (note 29) 547 514 
Insurance contracts on account of segregated fund policyholders (note 17) 51,934 47,410 
Investment contracts on account of segregated fund policyholders (note 17) 
Total liabilities 

E>uity 
Participating account surplus (note 21) 3,043 2,844 
Non-controlling interests (note 22) 10 16 
Shareholders e?uity 

Share capital 
Common shares (note 23) 7,995 7,995 

Accumulated surplus 11,758 11,456 
Accumulated other comprehensive income (loss) (note 27) 711 (71) 
Contributed surplus 445 433 

Total e>uity 
Total liabilities and e>uity 

pproved bJ the oard of irectors        

December 1 ecember 31 
2024 2023 

8,235 7,849 
153,891 141,735 

280,400 243,186 
$ 461,204 $ 410,616 

228,466 195,776 
437,242 387,943 

23,962 22,673 
$ 461,204 $ 410,616 

"effreJ 'rr (aul %ahon 

hair of the oard (resident and hief Iecutive 'fficer 
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Consolidated Statements of Changes in Equity 

in anadian  millions December 1, 2024 

Accumulated 

Share Contributed Accumulated 
other 

comprehensive 
Total 

shareholders 
Non-

controlling 
Participating 

account Total 

alance, beginning of 
year $ 7,995 $ 433 $ 11,456 $ (71) $ 19,813 $ 16 $ 2,844 $ 22,673 

Net earnings (loss) — — 3,140 — 3,140 (3) 107 3,244 

Other comprehensive 
income 

ividends to common 
shareholder — — (2,838) — (2,838) — — (2,838) 

Share-based payments 
(note 25) — 12 — — 12 — — 12 

erecognition of non-
controlling interest in 

capital surplus surplus income (loss) e>uity interests surplus e>uity 

— — — 782 782 — 92 874 

7,995 433 14,596 711 23,735 13 3,043 26,791 

subsidiary — — — — — (3) — (3) 

alance, end of year $ 7,995 $ 445 $ 11,758 $ 711 $ 20,909 $ 10 $ 3,043 $ 23,962 

ecember 31, 2023 

Accumulated 
other Total Non- Participating 

Share Contributed Accumulated comprehensive shareholders controlling account Total 
capital surplus surplus income (loss) e?uity interests surplus e?uity 

alance, beginning of 
year $ 7,884 $ 425 $ 12,054 $ (359) $ 20,004 $ 51 $ 2,733 $ 22,788 

Impact of initial 
application of IFRS 9 — — (31) — (31) — — (31) 

Revised balance, 
beginning of year 7,884 425 12,023 (359) 19,973 51 2,733 22,757 

Net earnings — — 2,394 — 2,394 1 24 2,419 

Other comprehensive 
income — — — 288 288 — 87 375 

7,884 425 14,417 (71) 22,655 52 2,844 25,551 

ividends to common 
shareholder — — (2,934) — (2,934) — — (2,934) 

Share-based payments 
(note 25) — 8 — — 8 — — 8 

Issue of common shares 
to parent company 
(note 23) 111 — — — 111 — — 111 

Ac?uisition of non-
controlling interest in 
subsidiary — — (27) — (27) (36) — (63) 

alance, end of year $ 7,995 $ 433 $ 11,456 $ (71) $ 19,813 $ 16 $ 2,844 $ 22,673 
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Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows 

in anadian  millions 

%perations 

Earnings before income taxes $ 3,699 $ 2,339 
Income taxes paid, net of refunds received (602) (360) 
Adjustments 

Change in insurance contract liabilities 6,256 9,242 

Change in investment contract liabilities (326) 289 
Change in reinsurance contract held liabilities 133 206 
Change in reinsurance contract held assets 206 100 
Change in insurance contract assets 58 (439) 
Changes in fair value through profit or loss (1,280) (4,267) 
Sales, maturities and repayments of portfolio investments 31,916 24,224 
Purchases of portfolio investments (35,642) (27,299) 
Other 

Financing Activities 
ividends paid on common shares (2,838) (2,934) 

Investment Activities 

Investment in associates and joint ventures (103) (185) 
usiness ac?uisitions, net of cash and cash e?uivalents ac?uired 

Effect of changes in exchange rates on cash and cash e?uivalents 172 26 

Increase in cash and cash e>uivalents 578 183 

Cash and cash e>uivalents, beginning of year 

Cash and cash e>uivalents, end of year 

Supplementary cash floD information 

Interest income received $ 4,675 $ 4,210 
Interest paid 112 112 
ividend income received 417 400 

For the years 
ended December 1 

2024 2023 

(1,071) (199) 
3,347 3,836 

— (560) 
(103) (745) 

3,944 3,761 

$ 4,522 $ 3,944 
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements 

n anaan  mons exce#' #e% sa%e amo(n's an )e%e o'e%)se nca'e 

1. Corporate Information 

The anada $ife ssurance ompanJ anada $ife or the ompanJ is incorporated and domiciled in anada. The re8istered 
address of the ompanJ is 1 'sborne +treet &orth /innipe8 %anitoba anada * 1.. anada $ife is HhollJ	oHned bJ 
reat	/est $ifeco !nc. $ifeco. $ifeco is a member of the (oHer orporation of anada (oHer orporation 8roup of 
companies and is a subsidiarJ of (oHer orporation. 

anada $ife is a leadin8 anadian insurer Hith interests in the life insurance health insurance investment savin8s and 
retirement income and reinsurance businesses primarilJ in anada and urope throu8h its subsidiaries includin8 The anada 
$ife roup -.#. $imited anada $ife $imited !rish $ife roup $imited !rish $ife anada $ife apital orporation !nc. 
Toronto olle8e (ar< $td. )uadrus !nvestment +ervices $td. and /$ *ealtJ dvisors !nc. 

The consolidated financial statements financial statements of the ompanJ as at and for the Jear ended ecember 1  
Here approved bJ the oard of irectors on ebruarJL . 

2. asis of Presentation and Summary of aterial Accounting Policies 

The consolidated financial statements of the ompanJ have been prepared in compliance Hith !nternational inancial 
*eportin8 +tandards !*+ as issued bJ the !nternational ccountin8 +tandards oard !+. onsistent accountin8 policies 
Here applied in the preparation of the consolidated financial statements of the subsidiaries of the ompanJ. 

Changes in Accounting Policies 

The ompanJ adopted the amendments to !*+ for !+  'a'emen' o as o)s !*+  nanca Ins'%(men's scos(%es 
and !*+ 1 eases effective "anuarJ 1 . The adoption of these amendments did not have a material impact on the 
ompanJs financial statements. 

asis of Consolidation 

The consolidated financial statements of the ompanJ Here prepared as at and for the Jear ended ecember 1  Hith 
comparative information as at and for the Jear ended ecember 1 . +ubsidiaries are fullJ consolidated from the date of 
acBuisition bein8 the date on Hhich the ompanJ obtains control and continue to be consolidated until the date that such 
control ceases. The ompanJ has control Hhen it has the poHer to direct the relevant activities has si8nificant eIposure to 
variable returns from these activities and has the abilitJ to use its poHer to affect the variable returns. ll intercompanJ 
balances and transactions includin8 income and eIpenses profits or losses and dividends are eliminated on consolidation. 

*se of Significant  udgments, Estimates and Assumptions 

!n preparation of these consolidated financial statements mana8ement is reBuired to ma<e si8nificant ;ud8ments estimates 
and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets liabilities net earnin8s and related disclosures. #eJ sources of 
estimation uncertaintJ and areas Hhere si8nificant ;ud8ments have been made are listed beloH and discussed throu8hout the 
notes to these consolidated financial statements includin8 

Q %ana8ement applies ;ud8ment in determinin8 the fair value of assets acBuired and liabilities assumed in a business 
combination. 

Q %ana8ement uses independent Bualified appraisal services to determine the fair value of investment properties Hhich 
utiliKe ;ud8ments and estimates. These appraisals are ad;usted bJ applJin8 mana8ement ;ud8ments and estimates for 
material chan8es in propertJ cash floHs capital eIpenditures or 8eneral mar<et conditions note . 

Q %ana8ement uses internal valuation models Hhich utiliKe ;ud8ments and estimates to determine the fair value of eBuitJ 
release mort8a8es. These valuations are ad;usted bJ applJin8 mana8ement ;ud8ments and estimates for material chan8es 
in pro;ected asset cash floHs and discount rates note . 

Q !n the determination of the fair value of financial instruments mana8ement eIercises ;ud8ment in the determination of 
fair value inputs particularlJ those items cate8oriKed Hithin level  of the fair value hierarchJ note . 

Q ash 8eneratin8 units for intan8ible assets and cash 8eneratin8 unit 8roupin8s for 8oodHill have been determined bJ 
mana8ement as the loHest level that the assets are monitored for internal reportin8 purposes Hhich reBuires mana8ement 
;ud8ment in the determination of the loHest level of monitorin8 note . 

The Canada Life Assurance Company 2024 Annual Report 13 



(March 23, 2025 / 10:08:31)

D201134909_Canada_Life_2024_AR_ENG_Text_REV.pdf  .14

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements 

• Management evaluates the future benefit for initial recognition and measurement of goodwill and intangible assets as well 
as testing the recoverable amounts. The determination of the carrying value and recoverable amounts of the cash 
generating unit groupings for goodwill and cash generating units for intangible assets relies upon the determination of fair 
value or value-in-use using valuation methodologies (note 9). 

• Management applies judgment in determining whether deferred acquisition costs and deferred income reserves can be 
recognized on the Consolidated Balance Sheets. Deferred acquisition costs are recognized if management determines the 
costs meet the definition of an asset, are incremental and related to the issuance of the investment contract (notes 11 and 
20). 

• Management applies judgment when evaluating the classification of insurance and reinsurance contracts to determine 
whether these arrangements should be accounted for as insurance, investment or service contracts. 

• The actuarial assumptions, such as mortality, longevity, morbidity, expense and policyholder behaviour, used in the 
valuation of insurance and certain investment contract liabilities require judgment and estimation (notes 14 and 16). 

• Management applies judgment in determining the coverage units which are based on an estimate of the quantity of 
coverage provided by the contracts in a group, considering the quantity of benefits provided and the expected coverage 
duration. 

• The Company considers all terms of contracts it issues to determine whether there are amounts payable to the 
policyholder in all circumstances, regardless of contract cancellation, maturity, and the occurrence or non-occurrence of 
an insured event. Some amounts, once paid by the policyholder, are repayable to the policyholder in all circumstances. 
The Company considers such payments to meet the definition of an investment component, irrespective of whether the 
amount repayable varies over the term of the contract as the amount is repayable only after it has first been paid by the 
policyholder. 

• In determining discount rates to apply to most insurance contract liability cash flows, the Company generally uses the top-
down approach for cash flows of non-participating contracts that do not depend on underlying items. Applying this 
approach, the Company uses the yield curve implied in a reference portfolio of assets and adjusts it to exclude the effects of 
risks (e.g., credit risk) present in the cash flows from the financial instruments that are part of the reference portfolio, but 
not in the insurance cash flows. One of the key sources of estimation uncertainty is estimating the market risk premiums 
for credit risk of the underlying items that are only relevant to assets included in the reference portfolio, but not to the non-
participating contracts. For some products, discount rates are set using a bottom-up approach, based on risk-free rates, 
plus an illiquidity premium, which also requires judgment (note 14). 

• When determining the risk adjustment for non-financial risk, the Company applies judgment in reflecting diversification 
and calculating the confidence level. 

• The determination of whether a contract or a group of contracts is onerous is based on the expectations as at the date of 
initial recognition and subsequently, with fulfillment cash flow expectations determined on a probability-weighted basis. 
The Company determines the appropriate level at which reasonable and supportable information is available to make this 
assessment. The Company applies judgment in determining at what level of granularity the Company has sufficient 
information to conclude that all contracts within a set will be in the same group. 

• The Company used judgment in determining which insurance contracts to apply the fair value approach to upon 
transition to IFRS 17, Insurance Contracts (IFRS 17) and applied significant judgment in determining the critical 
assumptions and estimates in determining the fair value for these contracts. 

• The measurement of impairment losses under IFRS 9, Financial Instruments (IFRS 9) across relevant financial assets 
requires judgment, in particular for the estimation of the amount and timing of future cash flows when determining 
impairment losses and the assessment of a significant increase in credit risk. 

• The actuarial assumptions used in determining the expense and benefit obligations for the Company’s defined benefit 
pension plans and other post-employment benefits requires judgment and estimation. Management reviews previous 
experience of its plan members and market conditions including interest rates and inflation rates in evaluating the 
assumptions used in determining the expense for the current year (note 26). 

• The Company operates within various tax jurisdictions where management judgments and estimates are required when 
interpreting the relevant tax laws, regulations and legislation in the determination of the Company’s tax provisions and the 
carrying amounts of its tax assets and liabilities (note 29). 

• Management applies judgment in assessing the recoverability of the deferred income tax asset carrying values based on 
future years’ taxable income projections (note 29). 
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements 

• Legal and other provisions are recognized resulting from a past event which, in the judgment of management, has resulted 
in a probable outflow of economic resources which would be passed to a third-party to settle the obligation. Management 
applies judgment in evaluating the possible outcomes and risks in determining the best estimate of the provision at the 
balance sheet date (note 31). 

• The operating segments of the Company are the segments reviewed by the Company’s Chief Executive Officer to assess 
performance and allocate resources within the Company. Management applies judgment in the aggregation of the 
business units into the Company's operating segments (note 33). 

• The Company consolidates all subsidiaries and entities which management determines that the Company controls. 
Control is evaluated on the ability of the Company to direct the activities of the subsidiary or entity to derive variable 
returns and management applies judgment in determining whether control exists. Judgment is exercised in the evaluation 
of the variable returns and in determining the extent to which the Company has the ability to exercise its power to generate 
variable returns. 

• Management applies judgment when determining whether the Company retains the primary obligation with a client in 
sub-advisor arrangements. Where the Company retains the primary obligation to the client, revenue and expenses are 
recorded on a gross basis. 

• The results of the Company reflect management’s judgments regarding the impact of prevailing global credit, equity and 
foreign exchange market conditions. The Company’s practice is to use third-party independent credit ratings where 
available. Judgment is required when setting credit ratings for instruments that do not have a third-party rating. 

The material accounting policies are as follows: 

(a) Portfolio Investments 

Portfolio investments that meet the definition of a financial asset include bonds, mortgage loans and stocks. 

A financial asset is measured at fair value on initial recognition and is classified and subsequently measured as fair value 
through profit or loss (FVTPL), fair value through other comprehensive income (FVOCI), or amortized cost based upon the 
Company’s business model for managing its assets and the contractual cash flow characteristics of the asset. 

The Company’s business models are determined at the level that reflects how its groups of financial assets are managed 
together to achieve business objectives. 

A financial asset is classified as FVOCI if it meets the following criteria and is not designated as FVTPL: 

• It is held in a business model whose objective is to hold to collect contractual cash flows and sell financial assets, and 

• Its contractual terms give rise on specified dates to cash flows that are solely payments of principal and interest (SPPI) on 
the principal amount outstanding. 

A financial asset is classified as amortized cost if it meets the following criteria and is not designated as FVTPL: 

• It is held in a business model whose objective is to hold to collect contractual cash flows, and  

• Its contractual terms give rise on specified dates to cash flows that are SPPI on the principal amount outstanding. 

FVOCI investments are recognized at fair value on the Consolidated Balance Sheets with unrealized gains and losses recorded 
in the Consolidated Statements of Other Comprehensive Income. 

Any financial asset that does not qualify for measurement at amortized cost or FVOCI is classified as FVTPL. For financial 
instruments that meet the amortized cost or FVOCI criteria, the Company may exercise the option to designate, at initial 
recognition, such financial instruments as FVTPL if doing so eliminates or significantly reduces an accounting mismatch that 
would otherwise arise. Investments measured as FVTPL are recognized at fair value on the Consolidated Balance Sheets with 
realized and unrealized gains and losses recorded in the Consolidated Statements of Earnings. 

Investments in stocks, except for those where the Company exerts significant influence, are classified on initial recognition as 
FVTPL unless an irrevocable designation is made to classify an individual instrument as FVOCI. 

Interest income earned on bonds and mortgages is calculated using the effective interest method and is recorded within net 
investment result in the Consolidated Statements of Earnings. 

Investment properties are real estate held to earn rental income or for capital appreciation. Investment properties are initially 
measured at cost and subsequently carried at fair value on the Consolidated Balance Sheets. All changes in fair value are 
recorded within the net investment result in the Consolidated Statements of Earnings. Properties held to earn rental income or 
for capital appreciation that have an insignificant portion that is owner occupied or where there is no intent to occupy on a 
long-term basis are classified as investment properties. Properties that do not meet these criteria are classified as owner 
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements 

occupied properties. Property that is leased that would otherwise be classified as investment property if owned by the 
Company is also included within investment properties. 

Investments in Joint Arrangements and Associates 

The Company recognizes an investee as a joint venture when the Company or one of its subsidiaries requires unanimous 
consent with other investor(s) over decisions about the relevant activities of the investee. An associate is an entity which the 
Company exercises significant influence over the entity’s financial and operating policies without having control or joint 
control. 

The Company applies equity method accounting to its investments in joint ventures and associates. Under the equity method, 
an investment in a joint venture or an associate is recognized initially on the Consolidated Balance Sheets at cost and adjusted 
thereafter to recognize the Company’s share of the profit or loss and other comprehensive income. The Company’s 
investments in associates and joint ventures are presented as stocks on the Consolidated Balance Sheets. The Company’s 
proportionate share of the associate’s or joint venture’s earnings is recorded in net investment income in the Consolidated 
Statements of Earnings. 

Fair Value Measurement 
The following is a description of the methodologies used to value instruments carried at fair value: 

Bonds - FVTPL and FVOCI 

Fair values for bonds measured as FVTPL or FVOCI are determined with reference to quoted market bid prices primarily 
provided by third-party independent pricing sources. Where prices are not quoted in an active market, fair values are 
determined by valuation models. The Company maximizes the use of observable inputs when measuring fair value. The 
Company obtains quoted prices in active markets, when available, for identical assets at the balance sheet date to measure 
bonds at fair value in its FVTPL and FVOCI portfolios.  

The Company estimates the fair value of bonds not traded in active markets by referring to actively traded securities with 
similar attributes, dealer quotations, matrix pricing methodology, discounted cash flow analyses and/or internal valuation 
models. This methodology considers such factors as the issuer's industry, the security's rating, term, coupon rate and position 
in the capital structure of the issuer, as well as yield curves, credit curves, prepayment rates and other relevant factors. For 
bonds that are not traded in active markets, valuations are adjusted to reflect illiquidity, and such adjustments generally are 
based on available market evidence. In the absence of such evidence, management's best estimate is used. 

Mortgages - FVTPL and FVOCI 

There are no market observable prices for mortgages; therefore fair values for mortgages are determined by discounting 
expected future cash flows using current market rates for similar instruments. Valuation inputs typically include benchmark 
yields and risk-adjusted spreads based on current lending activities and market activity. 

Equity Release Mortgages - FVTPL 

There are no market observable prices for equity release mortgages; therefore an internal valuation model is used for 
discounting expected future cash flows and includes consideration of the embedded no negative equity guarantee. Inputs to 
the model include market observable inputs such as benchmark yields and risk-adjusted spreads. Non-market observable 
inputs include property growth and volatility rates, expected rates of voluntary redemptions, death, moving to long term care 
and interest cessation assumptions and the value of the no negative equity guarantee. 

Stocks - FVTPL 

Fair values for stocks traded on an active market are generally determined by the last bid price for the security from the 
exchange where it is principally traded. Fair values for stocks for which there is no active market are typically based upon 
alternative valuation techniques such as discounted cash flow analysis, review of price movement relative to the market and 
utilization of information provided by the underlying investment manager. The Company maximizes the use of observable 
inputs when measuring fair value. The Company obtains quoted prices in active markets, when available, for identical assets at 
the balance sheet date to measure stocks at fair value in its FVTPL portfolio. 

Investment Properties 

Fair values for investment properties are determined using independent qualified appraisal services and include management 
adjustments for material changes in property cash flows, capital expenditures or general market conditions in the interim 
period between appraisals. The determination of the fair value of investment property requires the use of estimates including 
future cash flows (such as future leasing assumptions, rental rates, capital and operating expenditures) and discount, 
reversionary and overall capitalization rates applicable to the asset based on current market conditions. Investment property 
under construction is valued at fair value if such values can be reliably determined; otherwise they are recorded at cost. 
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements 

Net Investment Income Recognition 

Interest income on bonds and mortgages is recognized and accrued using the effective interest method. 

Dividend income is recognized when the right to receive payment is established. This is the ex-dividend date for listed stocks, 
and usually the notification date or date when the shareholders have approved the dividend for private equity instruments. 

Investment property income includes rents earned from tenants under lease agreements and property tax and operating cost 
recoveries. Rental income leases with contractual rent increases and rent-free periods are recognized on a straight-line basis 
over the term of the lease. 

Derecognition 
The Company derecognizes a financial asset only when the contractual rights to the cash flows from the asset expire, or when it 
transfers the financial asset and substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership of the asset to another entity. On 
derecognition of a financial asset measured at amortized cost, the difference between the asset’s carrying amount and the sum 
of the consideration received and receivable is recognized in the Consolidated Statements of Earnings. In addition, on 
derecognition of an investment in a debt instrument classified as FVOCI, the cumulative gain or loss previously accumulated is 
reclassified to the Consolidated Statements of Earnings. 

Expected Credit Losses 

Expected credit loss (ECL) allowances are recognized on all financial assets, except for financial assets classified or designated 
as FVTPL and equity securities designated as FVOCI. 

The ECL allowance is based on a probability-weighted estimate of credit losses expected as a result of defaults over the relevant 
time period as prescribed under the ECL model, which is a three-stage impairment approach. 

Stage 1 

Performing financial assets that have not experienced a significant increase in credit risk since initial recognition or have low 
credit risk are categorized into stage 1. A 12-month ECL allowance is calculated for stage 1 financial assets. To assess if credit 
risk has increased significantly, the Company compares the risk of default at initial recognition to the risk as at the current 
reporting date. 

Stage 2 

Performing financial assets that have experienced a significant increase in credit risk since initial recognition are categorized 
into stage 2. A lifetime ECL allowance is calculated for stage 2 financial assets. Financial assets are assessed for a significant 
increase in credit risk on an individual basis, utilizing the Company’s internal credit risk rating system and the monitoring of 
timely payments on the assets. Financial assets that have contractual payments more than 30 days past due are generally 
presumed to have experienced a significant increase in credit risk and are included in stage 2. A financial asset in stage 2 can 
revert to stage 1 if the credit risk subsequently improves.  

Stage 3 

Impaired financial assets are categorized into stage 3 and require a lifetime ECL allowance. Financial assets are reviewed 
regularly on an individual basis to determine impairment status. The Company considers various factors in the impairment 
evaluation process, including, but not limited to, the financial condition of the issuer, specific adverse conditions affecting an 
industry or region, decline in fair value not related to interest rates, bankruptcy or defaults, and delinquency in payments of 
interest or principal. Financial assets are deemed to be impaired when there is objective evidence that timely collection of 
future cash flows can no longer be reliably estimated. The fair value of a financial asset is not a definitive indicator of 
impairment, as it may be significantly influenced by other factors including the remaining term to maturity and liquidity of the 
asset; however, market price is taken into consideration when evaluating impairment. 

The Company monitors all financial assets that are subject to impairment for significant increases in credit risk. In making this 
assessment, the Company considers both quantitative and qualitative information that is reasonable and supportable, 
including historical experience and forward-looking information that is available without undue cost or effort. 

Modified Financial Assets 

An existing financial asset whose terms have been modified may be derecognized and the renegotiated asset recognized as a 
new financial asset at fair value in accordance with the Company’s accounting policies. 

If modification does not result in derecognition, the financial asset continues to be subject to the assessment for significant 
increase in credit risk relative to initial recognition. Expected cash flows arising from the modified contractual terms are 
considered when calculating the ECL for the modified asset. For loans that were modified while having lifetime ECLs, such 
loans can revert to having 12-month ECLs if the borrower's financial condition improves. 
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Definition of Default 

The definition of default used in the measurement of ECL is consistent with the definition used for the Company’s internal 
credit risk management purposes. A financial asset is considered to be in default when the issuer is unlikely to meet its credit 
obligations in full or when it is 90 days past due. 

Securities Lending 

The Company engages in securities lending through its securities custodians as lending agents. Loaned securities are not 
derecognized, and continue to be reported within invested assets, as the Company retains substantial risks and rewards and 
economic benefits related to the loaned securities. 

(b) Transaction Costs 

Transaction costs are expensed as incurred for financial instruments classified as FVTPL. Transaction costs are capitalized for 
all other classifications of financial instruments at acquisition, and taken into net earnings using the effective interest method 
for fixed income instruments or when sold for equity instruments. 

(c) Cash and Cash Equivalents 

Cash and cash equivalents comprise cash, current operating accounts, overnight bank and term deposits with maturities of 
three months or less held for the purpose of meeting short-term cash requirements. Net payments in transit and overdraft bank 
balances are included in other liabilities. 

(d) Trading Account Assets 

Trading account assets include the portfolio investments of the Company's consolidated sponsored funds, open ended 
investment companies and sponsored unit-trusts, which are carried at fair value based on the net asset value of these funds. 
Investments in these assets are included in other assets on the Consolidated Balance Sheets with realized and unrealized gains 
and losses reported in the Consolidated Statements of Earnings. 

(e) Debentures and Other Debt Instruments and Capital Trust Securities 

Debentures and other debt instruments and capital trust securities are initially recorded on the Consolidated Balance Sheets at 
fair value and subsequently carried at amortized cost using the effective interest method with amortization expense recorded in 
financing costs in the Consolidated Statements of Earnings. These liabilities are derecognized when the obligation is cancelled 
or redeemed. 

(f) Other Assets and Other Liabilities 

Other assets includes prepaid expenses, deferred acquisition costs, finance leases receivable, right-of-use assets and other 
miscellaneous assets, which are measured at cost or amortized cost. Other assets also includes funds held under investment 
contracts, which comprises of cash and cash equivalents, bonds, mortgages and other miscellaneous assets, which are 
measured in accordance with the Company's corresponding accounting policies. 

Other liabilities includes deferred income reserves, bank overdraft, lease liabilities and other miscellaneous liabilities, which 
are measured at cost or amortized cost. 

Provisions are recognized within other liabilities when the Company has a present obligation, either legal or constructive, 
resulting from a past event, and in management's judgment, it is probable that an outflow of economic resources will be 
required to settle the obligation and a reliable estimate can be made of the amount. The amount recognized for provisions are 
management's best estimate at the balance sheet date. The Company recognizes a provision for restructuring when a detailed 
formal plan for the restructuring has been established and that the plan has raised a valid expectation in those affected that the 
restructuring will occur. 

Pension and other post-employment benefits also included within other assets and other liabilities are measured in 
accordance with note 2(s). 

(g) Disposal Group Classified As Held For Sale and Discontinued Operations 

Disposal groups are classified as held for sale when the carrying amount will be recovered through a sale transaction rather 
than continuing use. The fair value of a disposal group is measured at the lower of its carrying amount and fair value less costs 
to sell. Individual assets and liabilities in a disposal group not subject to these measurement requirements include financial 
assets, investment properties and insurance contract liabilities. These assets and liabilities are measured in accordance with 
the relevant accounting policies described for those assets and liabilities included in this note before the disposal group as a 
whole is measured to the lower of its carrying amount and fair value less cost to sell. Any impairment loss for the disposal group 
is recognized as a reduction to the carrying amount for the portion of the disposal group under the measurement requirements 
for IFRS 5, Non-Current Assets Held for Sale and Discontinued Operations. 
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Disposal group assets and liabilities classified as held for sale are presented separately on the Company’s Consolidated Balance 
Sheets. Gains and losses from disposal groups held for sale are presented separately in the Company’s Consolidated 
Statements of Earnings. 

A disposal group qualifies as a discontinued operation if it is a component of an entity for which operations and cash flows can 
be clearly distinguished from the rest of the Company, that either has been disposed of, or is classified as held for sale, and: 

• Represents a separate major line of business or geographical area of operations; 

• Is part of a single coordinated plan to dispose of a separate major line of business or geographical area of operations; or 

• Is a subsidiary acquired exclusively with a view to resale. 

Classification as a discontinued operation occurs at the earlier of disposal and when the operation meets the criteria to be 
classified as held for sale. 

Discontinued operations are excluded from the results of continuing operations and are presented as a single amount in net 
earnings (loss) from discontinued operations in the Consolidated Statements of Earnings. 

When an operation is classified as a discontinued operation, the comparative Consolidated Statements of Earnings is re-
presented as if the operation had been discontinued from the beginning of the comparative year. 

(h) Derivative Financial Instruments and Hedging 

The Company uses derivative products as risk management instruments to hedge or manage asset, liability and capital 
positions, including fee and investment income. The Company’s policy guidelines prohibit the use of derivative instruments for 
speculative trading purposes. 

The Company includes disclosure of the maximum credit risk, future credit exposure, credit risk equivalent and risk weighted 
equivalent in note 30 as prescribed by the Office of the Superintendent of Financial Institutions (OSFI) in Canada. 

All derivatives including those that are embedded in financial and non-financial contracts that are not closely related to the 
host contracts are recorded at fair value on the Consolidated Balance Sheets. The method of recognizing unrealized and 
realized fair value gains and losses depends on whether the derivatives are designated as hedging instruments. For derivatives 
that are not designated as hedging instruments, unrealized and realized gains and losses are recorded within the net 
investment result in the Consolidated Statements of Earnings. For derivatives designated as hedging instruments, unrealized 
and realized gains and losses are recognized according to the nature of the hedged item. 

Derivatives are valued using market transactions and other market evidence whenever possible, including market based inputs 
to models, broker or dealer quotations or alternative pricing sources with reasonable levels of price transparency. When 
models are used, the selection of a particular model to value a derivative depends on the contractual terms of, and specific risks 
inherent in, the instrument, as well as the availability of pricing information in the market. The Company generally uses similar 
models to value similar instruments. Valuation models require a variety of inputs, including contractual terms, market prices 
and rates, yield curves, credit curves, measures of volatility, prepayment rates and correlations of such inputs. 

As permitted under IFRS 9, the Company has elected to continue to apply the hedge accounting principles under IAS 39, 
Financial Instruments, instead of those under IFRS 9. To qualify for hedge accounting, the relationship between the hedged 
item and the hedging instrument must meet several strict conditions on documentation, probability of occurrence, hedge 
effectiveness and reliability of measurement. If these conditions are not met, the relationship does not qualify for hedge 
accounting treatment and both the hedged item and the hedging instrument are reported independently as if there was no 
hedging relationship. 

Where a hedging relationship exists, the Company documents all relationships between hedging instruments and hedged 
items, as well as its risk management objectives and strategy for undertaking various hedge transactions. This process includes 
linking derivatives that are used in hedging transactions to specific assets and liabilities on the Consolidated Balance Sheets or 
to specific firm commitments or forecasted transactions. The Company also assesses, both at the hedge’s inception and on an 
ongoing basis, whether derivatives that are used in hedging transactions are effective in offsetting changes in fair values or cash 
flows of hedged items. Hedge effectiveness is reviewed quarterly through correlation testing. Hedge accounting is discontinued 
when the hedging no longer qualifies for hedge accounting. 

Derivatives Not Designated as Hedges for Accounting Purposes 

For derivative investments not designated as accounting hedges, changes in fair value are recorded in the net investment 
result. 

Fair Value Hedges 

For fair value hedges, changes in fair value of both the hedging instrument and the hedged risk are recorded in the net 
investment result and consequently any ineffective portion of the hedge is recorded immediately in the net investment result. 
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The Company currently uses foreign exchange forward contracts designated as fair value hedges. 

Cash Flow Hedges 

For cash flow hedges, the effective portion of the changes in fair value of the hedging instrument is recorded in the same 
manner as the hedged item while the ineffective portion is recognized immediately in the net investment result. Gains and 
losses that accumulate in other comprehensive income are recorded in the net investment result in the same period the 
hedged item affects net earnings. Gains and losses on cash flow hedges are immediately reclassified from other comprehensive 
income to the net investment result if and when it is probable that a forecasted transaction is no longer expected to occur. 

The Company currently has no instruments designated as cash flow hedges. 

Net Investment Hedges 

For net investment hedges, the effective portion of changes in the fair value of the hedging instrument are recorded in other 
comprehensive income while the ineffective portion is recognized immediately in the net investment result. The unrealized 
foreign exchange gains (losses) on the instruments are recorded within accumulated other comprehensive income and will be 
reclassified into net earnings when the Company disposes of the foreign operation. 

The Company currently uses foreign exchange forward contracts designated as net investment hedges. 

(i) Foreign Currency Translation 

The Company operates with multiple functional currencies. The Company’s consolidated financial statements are presented in 
Canadian dollars as this presentation is most meaningful to financial statement users. For those subsidiaries with different 
functional currencies, exchange rate differences arising from the translation of monetary items that form part of the net 
investment in the foreign operation are recorded in unrealized foreign exchange gains (losses) on translation of foreign 
operations in other comprehensive income. 

For the purpose of presenting consolidated financial statements, assets and liabilities are translated into Canadian dollars at 
the rate of exchange prevailing at the balance sheet dates and all income and expense items are translated at an average of daily 
rates. Unrealized foreign currency translation gains and losses on translation of the Company’s net investment in its foreign 
operations are presented separately as a component of other comprehensive income. Unrealized gains and losses will be 
recognized proportionately within the Consolidated Statements of Earnings when there has been a disposal of the investment 
in the foreign operations. 

Foreign currency translation gains and losses on foreign currency transactions of the Company are included in the net 
investment result. 

(j) Business Combinations, Goodwill and Intangible Assets 

Business combinations are accounted for using the acquisition method. The Company identifies and classifies, in accordance 
with the Company’s accounting policies, all assets acquired and liabilities assumed as at the acquisition date. Goodwill 
represents the excess of purchase consideration over the fair value of net assets of the acquired subsidiaries of the Company. 
Following initial recognition, goodwill is measured at cost less accumulated impairment losses. 

Intangible assets represent finite life and indefinite life intangible assets of acquired subsidiaries of the Company and software 
acquired or internally developed by the Company. Finite life intangible assets include the value of technology/software, certain 
customer contracts and distribution channels. These finite life intangible assets are amortized over their estimated useful lives, 
typically ranging between 3 and 30 years. 

Indefinite life intangible assets include brands and trademarks, certain customer contracts and the shareholders' portion of 
acquired future participating account profits. Amounts are classified as indefinite life intangible assets when, based on an 
analysis of all the relevant factors, there is no foreseeable limit to the period over which the asset is expected to generate net 
cash inflows for the Company. The identification of indefinite life intangible assets is made by reference to relevant factors such 
as product life cycles, potential obsolescence, industry stability and competitive position. Following initial recognition, 
indefinite life intangible assets are measured at cost less accumulated impairment losses. 

Impairment Testing 

Goodwill and indefinite life intangible assets, including those resulting from an acquisition during the year, are tested for 
impairment annually or more frequently if events indicate that impairment may have occurred. Intangible assets that were 
previously impaired are reviewed at each reporting date for evidence of reversal. In the event that certain conditions have been 
met, the Company would be required to reverse the impairment loss or a portion thereof. 
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Goodwill has been allocated to cash generating unit groupings, representing the lowest level that the assets are monitored for 
internal reporting purposes. Goodwill is tested for impairment by comparing the carrying value of each cash generating unit 
grouping to its recoverable amount. An impairment loss is recognized for the amount by which the asset's carrying amount 
exceeds its recoverable amount. 

Intangible assets have been allocated to cash generating units, representing the lowest level that the assets are monitored for 
internal reporting purposes. 

Intangible assets with an indefinite useful life are reviewed annually to determine if there are indicators of impairment. If 
indicators of impairment have been identified, a test for impairment is performed and recognized as necessary. Impairment is 
assessed by comparing the carrying values of the assets to their recoverable amounts. An impairment loss is recognized for the 
amount by which the asset's carrying amount exceeds its recoverable amount. 

The recoverable amount is the higher of the asset’s fair value less costs of disposal and value-in-use. 

Finite life intangible assets are reviewed annually to determine if there are indicators of impairment and assess whether the 
amortization periods and methods are appropriate. If indicators of impairment have been identified, a test for impairment is 
performed and then the amortization of these assets is adjusted or impairment is recognized as necessary. 

(k) Fee and Other Income Recognition 

Fee income includes fees earned from management of investment contracts on account of segregated fund policyholders, 
proprietary mutual fund assets, record-keeping, fees earned on administrative services only Group health contracts, 
commissions and fees earned from management services. Fee and other income is recognized on the transfer of services to 
customers for the amount that reflects the consideration expected to be received in exchange for those services promised. 

The Company has sub-advisor arrangements where the Company retains the primary obligation with the client; as a result, fee 
income earned is reported on a gross basis with the corresponding sub-advisor expense recorded in operating and 
administrative expenses. 

(l) Owner Occupied Properties and Fixed Assets 

Property held for own use and fixed assets are carried at cost less accumulated depreciation, disposals and impairments. 
Depreciation is expensed over the estimated useful lives of the assets, using the straight-line method, on the following bases: 

Owner occupied properties 15 - 20 years 

Furniture and fixtures 5 - 10 years 

Other fixed assets 3 - 10 years 

Depreciation methods, useful lives and residual values are reviewed at least annually and adjusted if necessary. 

(m) Deferred Acquisition Costs 

Included in other assets are deferred acquisition costs related to investment contracts and service contracts. These are 
recognized as assets if the costs are incremental and incurred due to the contract being issued and are primarily amortized on a 
straight-line basis over the term of the contract, not to exceed 20 years. 

(n) Segregated Funds 

Segregated fund assets and liabilities arise from contracts where all financial risks associated with the related assets are borne 
by policyholders and are presented separately on the Consolidated Balance Sheets. The assets and liabilities are set equal to the 
fair value of the underlying asset portfolio. Segregated fund contacts are classified as insurance contracts or investment 
contracts following the classification criteria described in the accounting policy for Insurance Contracts, Investment Contracts 
and Reinsurance Contracts Held. Investment income and changes in fair value of the segregated fund assets are offset by a 
corresponding change in the segregated fund liabilities. The Company accounts for guarantees on its segregated fund products 
within insurance contract liabilities on the Consolidated Balance Sheets. 

(o) Insurance Contracts, Investment Contracts and Reinsurance Contracts Held 

Contract Classification 

Insurance Contracts 

The Company identifies insurance contracts as arrangements where the Company accepts significant insurance risk from 
another party (the policyholder) by agreeing to compensate the policyholder or beneficiary of the contract for specified 
uncertain future events that adversely affect the policyholder and whose amount and timing is unknown. 
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The Company determines whether a contract contains significant insurance risk by assessing if an insured event could cause 
the Company to pay to the policyholder additional amounts that are significant in any single scenario with commercial 
substance even if the insured event is extremely unlikely or the expected present value of the contingent cash flows is a small 
proportion of the expected present value of the remaining cash flows from the insurance contract. In making this assessment, 
the Company considers all its substantive rights and obligations, whether they arise from contract, law or regulation. 

When the Company issues insurance contracts to compensate another entity for claims arising from one or more insurance 
contracts issued by that other entity, the associated contracts are reinsurance contracts issued which is part of insurance 
contracts issued. 

Investment Contracts 

In the absence of significant insurance risk, the Company classifies contracts as investment contracts or service contracts. 
Investment contracts with discretionary participating features are accounted for in accordance with IFRS 17 and investment 
contracts without discretionary participating features are accounted for in accordance with IFRS 9. The Company has not 
classified any contracts as investment contracts with discretionary participating features. 

Investment contracts may be reclassified as insurance contracts after inception if insurance risk becomes significant. A contract 
that is classified as an insurance contract at contract inception remains as such until all rights and obligations under the 
contract are extinguished or expire. Investment contracts are contracts that carry financial risk, which is the risk of a possible 
future change in one or more of the following: interest rate, commodity price, foreign exchange rate, or credit rating. Refer to 
note 7 for discussion of risk management. 

Investment contracts are measured at FVTPL in order to eliminate or significantly reduce an accounting mismatch that would 
otherwise arise from measuring the assets that back the contract on different bases. 

Reinsurance Contracts Held 

The Company enters into arrangements to transfer insurance risk, along with the respective premiums, to one or more 
reinsurers who will share the risks. To the extent that assuming reinsurers are unable to meet their obligations, the Company 
remains liable to its policyholders for the portion reinsured. Contracts of this nature are defined as reinsurance contracts held. 

Separating Components from Insurance and Reinsurance Contracts 

At inception, the Company separates the following components from an insurance or reinsurance contract held and accounts 
for them as if they were stand-alone financial instruments: 

• Derivatives embedded in the contract which have economic characteristics and risks that are not closely related to those of 
the host contract, and which have terms that would not meet the definition of an insurance or reinsurance contract held as 
a stand-alone instrument; and 

• Distinct investment components: investment components that are not highly inter-related with the insurance components 
and for which contracts with equivalent terms are sold, or could be sold, separately in the same market or the same 
jurisdiction. 

After separating any financial instrument components, the Company separates any promises to transfer distinct goods or non-
insurance services to policyholders and accounts for them as separate contracts with customers. A good or service is distinct if 
the policyholder can benefit from it either on its own or with other resources that are readily available to the policyholder. A 
good or service is not distinct and is accounted for together with the insurance component if the cash flows and risks associated 
with the good or service are highly inter-related with the cash flows and risks associated with the insurance component, and 
the Company provides a significant service of integrating the good or service with the insurance component. 

Level of Aggregation 

The Company determines its level of aggregation for the insurance contracts issued by dividing the business written into 
portfolios. Portfolios comprise groups of contracts with similar risks which are managed together. The Company has defined 
portfolios of insurance contracts issued based on its product lines. Portfolios are further disaggregated into groups of contracts 
that are issued within an annual period (typically a financial year) and are further divided into onerous contracts, contracts that 
have no significant possibility of becoming onerous subsequently, and all other profitable contracts. An insurance contract is 
onerous if, at the date of initial recognition, the estimated fulfillment cash flow expectations determined on a probability-
weighted basis is a net outflow. The Company’s evaluation of whether contracts are onerous is based on reasonable and 
supportable information. The Company has not identified any groups of insurance contracts that have no significant possibility 
of becoming onerous subsequently. 

In determining groups of contracts, the Company has elected to include in the same group contracts where its ability to set 
prices or levels of benefits for policyholders with different characteristics is constrained by regulation. Contracts are aggregated 
into groups once they have been initially recognized. 
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The Company has defined portfolios of reinsurance contracts held based on the portfolios of the underlying insurance 
contracts issued. Groups of reinsurance contracts held that are entered into within an annual period (typically a financial year) 
are divided based on whether they are in a net gain or net loss position at initial recognition. 

Some reinsurance contracts held provide cover for underlying contracts that are included in different groups. However, these 
contracts’ legal form of a single contract reflects the substance of the Company’s contractual rights and obligations, considering 
that the different remaining coverages lapse together and are not sold separately. As a result, the reinsurance contract held is 
not separated into multiple insurance components that relate to different underlying groups. 

Initial Recognition 

The Company recognizes a group of insurance contracts that it issues from the earliest of: 

• The beginning of the coverage period of the group of contracts; 

• The date when the first payment from a policyholder in the group becomes due or when the first payment is received if 
there is no due date; and 

• For a group of onerous contracts, when the group becomes onerous if facts and circumstances indicate there is such a 
group. 

A group of reinsurance contracts held is recognized on the following date: 

• Reinsurance contracts held initiated by the Company that provide proportionate coverage: the date on which any 
underlying insurance contract is initially recognized; 

• Other reinsurance contracts held initiated by the Company: the beginning of the coverage period of the group of 
reinsurance contracts. However, if the Company recognizes an onerous group of underlying insurance contracts on an 
earlier date and the related reinsurance contract held was entered into before that earlier date, then the group of 
reinsurance contracts held is recognized on that earlier date; and 

• Reinsurance contracts held that are acquired by the Company: the date of acquisition. 

Contract Boundaries 

The Company includes in the measurement of a group of insurance and reinsurance contracts held all the future cash flows 
within the boundary of each contract in the group. Cash flows are within the boundary of a contract if they arise from 
substantive rights and obligations that exist during the reporting period in which the Company can compel the policyholder to 
pay the premiums (or is compelled to pay amounts to a reinsurer), or in which the Company has a substantive obligation to 
provide the policyholder with services (or receive services from a reinsurer). A substantive obligation to provide services ends 
when: 

• The Company has the practical ability to reassess the risks of the particular policyholder and, as a result, can set a price or 
level of benefits that fully reflects those risks, or 

• Both the following criteria are satisfied: 

• The Company has the practical ability to reassess the risks of the portfolio of insurance contracts that contain the 
contract and, as a result, can set a price or level of benefits that fully reflects the risk of that portfolio; and 

• The pricing of the premiums for coverage up to the date when the risks are reassessed does not take into account the 
risks that relate to periods after the reassessment date. 

For reinsurance contracts held, a substantive obligation to receive services ends when the reinsurer has the practical ability to 
reassess the risk transferred to it and, as a result, can set a price or level of benefits that fully reflects those risks, or the reinsurer 
has the substantive right to terminate the coverage. 

For insurance contracts with renewal periods, the Company assesses whether premiums and related cash flows that arise from 
the renewed contract are within the contract boundary. The pricing of renewals is established by the Company after 
considering the risks and terms of coverage for the policyholder, with reference to the pricing of contracts with equivalent risks 
and terms on the renewal dates. The Company reassesses the contract boundary of each group at the end of each reporting 
period. 

Liabilities or assets relating to expected premiums or claims outside the boundary of the insurance contract are not recognized 
as these amounts relate to future insurance contracts. 

Measurement of Insurance Contracts 

There are three measurement models provided by IFRS 17 to measure insurance contracts: 

• The General Measurement Model (GMM); 
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• The Variable Fee Approach (VFA); and 

• The Premium Allocation Approach (PAA). 

The General Measurement Model 
The Company applies this model to its medium to long-term insurance products, such as individual protection, payout 
annuities, and longevity swaps. 

Initial Measurement 

On initial recognition, the Company measures a group of insurance contracts as the total of the fulfillment cash flows, and the 
contractual service margin (CSM). 

Fulfillment Cash Flows 

Fulfillment cash flows comprise probability-weighted estimates of future cash flows, discounted to reflect the time value of 
money and the associated financial risks, plus a risk adjustment for non-financial risk. 

The Company estimates future contractual cash flows within the contracts’ boundary by considering evidence from current 
and past conditions, as well as possible future conditions to reflect market and non-market variables impacting the valuation of 
cash flows. The estimates of these cash flows are based on probability-weighted expected values that reflect the average of a full 
range of possible outcomes and includes an explicit risk adjustment for non-financial risk. The risk adjustment is the 
compensation the Company receives in fulfilling an insurance contract that arises from uncertainties surrounding the amount 
and timing of cash flows for non-financial risks. The non-financial risk assumptions are mortality, longevity, morbidity, lapse, 
and expense. Estimates and assumptions are reviewed periodically for appropriateness in reflecting current, past, and future 
conditions. 

When estimating fulfillment cash flows, the Company includes all cash flows that are within the contract boundary including: 

• Premiums and related cashflows; 

• Claims and benefits, including reported claims not yet paid, incurred claims not yet reported and expected future claims; 

• Premium and other transaction-based taxes and cash flows from loans to policyholders; 

• Insurance acquisition cash flows which are allocated to groups of contracts on a systematic and rational basis; 

• Other fixed and variable expenses directly attributable to the fulfillment of insurance contracts; 

• Investment expenses incurred in investment activities related to underlying items such as universal life funds and 
segregated fund account balances; and 

• The impact of funds withheld for reinsurance contracts issued to manage credit risk. 

Contractual Service Margin 

The CSM of a group of insurance contracts represents the unearned profit that the Company expects to recognize in the future 
as it provides services under those contracts. 

On initial recognition of a group of insurance contracts, if the total of the fulfillment cash flows, any derecognized assets for 
insurance acquisition cash flows, and any cash flows arising at that date is a net inflow, the group of contracts is non-onerous. 
In this case, the CSM is measured as the equal and opposite amount of the net inflow, which results in no net income or 
expenses arising on initial recognition. 

Discount Rates 

The Company measures time value of money using discount rates that are consistent with observable market prices and reflect 
the liquidity characteristics of the insurance contracts. They exclude the effect of factors that influence such observable market 
prices but do not affect the future cash flows of the insurance contracts (e.g., credit risk). 

The Company applies the top-down approach for insurance contract liabilities with backing assets. Under this approach, 
discount rates are estimated by starting from the yield curve implied in a reference portfolio of assets that closely reflects the 
duration, currency, and liquidity characteristics of the insurance cash flows, and then excluding the effects of risks (e.g., credit 
risk) present in the cash flows from the financial instruments that are part of the reference portfolio, but not in the insurance 
contracts cash flows. The allowance for credit risk in the discount rate varies depending on the credit rating, sector and term of 
the assets reflected in the discount rate. The allowance is estimated based on historic credit experience and prevailing market 
conditions. For example, if there is a significant widening of market credit spreads, an additional allowance for credit risk to 
reduce the discount rate may be required to reflect prevailing market conditions. The Company uses the fixed-income assets 
supporting the insurance contract liabilities as the reference portfolio to determine the discount rates, in the observable period, 
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while the discount rates in the unobservable period are based on an ultimate investment rate. In situations where the fixed-
income assets supporting the insurance contract liabilities do not appropriately reflect the illiquidity characteristics of the 
liability, an additional adjustment is made to the discount rate. 

In cases where there are no backing assets, the Company applies the bottom-up approach to set the discount rate. This 
approach uses a risk-free rate, plus a spread to reflect the liquidity characteristics of the liability. Risk-free rates are determined 
by reference to highly liquid government securities in the currency of the insurance contract liability, and the spread is derived 
from an external benchmark. 

Risk Adjustment 

The risk adjustment for non-financial risk represents the compensation that the Company requires for bearing uncertainty in 
the amount and timing of insurance contract cash flows due to non-financial risk. Non-financial risks are insurance risks such 
as life mortality, annuity mortality and morbidity, and other risks such as expense and lapse. The risk adjustment is calculated 
by applying a margin to non-financial assumptions and discounting the resulting margin cash flows at the same discount rates 
as the best estimate cash flows. The margins applied reflect diversification benefits across all non-financial risks. The risk 
adjustment for insurance contracts issued by the Company reflects the degree of diversification available across the Lifeco 
operations. Lifeco’s target range for the confidence level of the risk adjustment is between the 85th and 90th percentile, and the 
risk adjustment is currently within the target range. The confidence level is determined on a net-of-reinsurance basis. 

Insurance Acquisition Cash Flows 

Insurance acquisition cash flows arise from selling and underwriting activities required to initiate a group of contracts. 

Any assets or liabilities for insurance acquisition cash flows recognized before the corresponding insurance contracts are 
recognized and included in the carrying amount of the related groups of insurance contracts issued. Judgments are applied by 
management to determine which costs are directly attributable to the issuance of a group of contracts and the portion of those 
costs that are allocated to groups of contracts arising from expected renewals. 

The asset for insurance acquisition cash flows is tested for impairment annually or more frequently if facts and circumstances 
indicate that impairment may have occurred. In testing for impairment, the carrying value of the asset is compared to the 
expected net cash inflow for the related group of insurance contracts. 

Additionally, if a portion of the asset for insurance acquisition cash flows has been allocated to future renewals of the related 
group of contracts, the carrying value of the asset is compared to the expected net cash inflow for those expected renewals. If 
the carrying value exceeds the expected net cash inflows described above, a loss is recognized in the insurance service result. In 
the event that facts and circumstances indicate the asset for insurance acquisition cash flows is no longer impaired, the 
impairment loss, or a portion thereof, is reversed. 

Subsequent Measurement 

The carrying amount of a group of insurance contracts at each reporting date is the sum of the liability for remaining coverage 
and the liability for incurred claims. 

• The liability for remaining coverage comprises the fulfillment cash flows that relate to services that will be provided under 
the contracts in future periods and any remaining CSM at that date. 

• The liability for incurred claims comprises the fulfillment cash flows for incurred claims and expenses that have not yet 
been paid, including claims that have been incurred but not yet reported. 

The fulfillment cash flows for groups of insurance contracts are measured at the reporting date using current estimates of 
future cash flows, current discount rates, and current estimates of risk adjustment for non-financial risk. 

For a group of insurance contracts, the carrying amount of the CSM of the group at the end of the reporting period equals the 
carrying amount at the start of the reporting period, adjusted for: 

• The CSM of any new contracts that are added to the group in the period; 

• Interest accreted on the carrying amount of the CSM during the period, measured at the discount rates on nominal cash 
flows that do not vary based on the returns on any underlying items determined on initial recognition; 

• The changes in fulfillment cash flows that relate to future services (measured using initial recognition discount rates), 
except to the extent that: 

• Any increases in the fulfillment cash flows that exceed the carrying amount of the CSM, in which case the excess is 
recognized as a loss in the Consolidated Statements of Earnings and creates a loss component; or 

• Any decreases in the fulfillment cash flows are allocated to the loss component, reversing losses previously recognized 
in the Consolidated Statements of Earnings. 
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• The effect of any currency exchange differences on the CSM; and 

• The amount recognized as insurance revenue because of the services provided in the period.  

The changes in fulfillment cash flows that relate to future services that adjust the CSM comprise of: 

• Experience adjustments arising from premium and premium related cash flows received in the period that relate to future 
services; 

• Changes in both estimates of the present value of future cash flows and risk adjustment in the liability for remaining 
coverage, measured at the discount rates determined on initial recognition, except for those that relate to the effects of the 
time value of money and financial risk changes; and 

• Differences between any investment components not separated from the contract expected to become payable in the 
period (after allowing for financial experience variance) and the actual investment component that becomes payable in 
the period, measured at the discount rates determined on initial recognition. 

Changes in expected future discretionary cash flows are regarded as an assumption relating to future services and accordingly 
adjust the CSM. 

Changes in fulfillment cash flows that relate to current or past service are recognized in the Consolidated Statements of 
Earnings as part of the insurance service result. Changes that relate to the effects of the time value of money and financial risk 
are recognized in insurance finance income or expenses. 

The Variable Fee Approach 

The Company applies this model to contracts with direct participating features such as participating insurance and segregated 
fund business with insurance guarantees, where an investment return is provided to the policyholder based on a defined pool 
of items (e.g., a portfolio of assets). 

Recognition 

The Company will recognize an insurance contract under the VFA if it meets all of the following conditions at initial 
recognition: 

• The policyholder participates in a share of a clearly identified pool of underlying items; 

• The Company expects to pay the policyholder an amount equal to a substantial share of the returns from the underlying 
items; and 

• The substantial proportion of the cash flows the Company expects to pay to the policyholder is expected to vary with cash 
flows from the underlying items. 

The Company performs the test for VFA qualification at initial recognition. 

Initial Measurement 

Similar to the GMM, the VFA initially measures the insurance contract liabilities as the fulfillment cash flows plus CSM. 

Subsequent Measurement 

For a group of insurance contracts applying the VFA, the carrying amount of the CSM of the group at the end of the reporting 
period equals the carrying amount at the beginning of the reporting period adjusted for the following: 

• The effect of any new contracts added to the group; 

• The Company’s share of the change in the fair value of the underlying items, except to the extent that: 

• The Company has a previously documented risk-management objective and strategy for using derivatives to mitigate 
financial risk arising from the insurance contracts, as it does for the insured assets contracts; 

• The Company’s share of a decrease in the fair value of the underlying items exceeds the carrying amount of the 
contractual service margin, giving rise to a loss; or 

• The Company’s share of an increase in the fair value of the underlying items reverses the amount previously 
recognized as a loss. 

• The changes in fulfillment cash flows, relating to future service, except to the extent that: 

• The Company has a previously documented risk-management objective and strategy for using derivatives to mitigate 
financial risk arising from the insurance contracts, as it does for insured assets contracts; 
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• Such increases in the fulfillment cash flows exceed the carrying amount of the contractual service margin, giving rise 
to a loss; or 

• Such decreases in the fulfillment cash flows are allocated to the loss component of the liability for remaining coverage. 

• The effect of any currency exchange differences on the CSM; and 

• The amount recognized as insurance revenue because of the services provided in the period. 

Risk Mitigation 

The Company mitigates the financial risks created by guarantees embedded in some of their insurance contracts with direct 
participation features through the use of derivatives and reinsurance contracts held. The derivatives are in the scope of IFRS 9 
with changes in their fair value reflected in the Consolidated Statements of Earnings. In applying risk mitigation, the financial 
impact on the guarantees embedded in these direct participating contracts do not adjust the CSM and are also reflected in the 
Consolidated Statements of Earnings. 

Premium Allocation Approach 

The Company applies this model to its short-term insurance products, such as group life and health. 

Recognition 

Contracts with Coverage Periods of One Year or Less 

The Company applies the PAA to measure the liability for remaining coverage of insurance contracts with coverage periods of 
one year or less. 

Contracts with Coverage Periods of More than One Year 

The Company applies the PAA to contracts with coverage periods longer than one year that are relatively stable and have low 
variability in fulfillment cash flows. The low variability in fulfillment cash flows indicates there is no material difference in the 
liability for remaining coverage measured under the PAA as compared to the GMM. Generally, this applies to products with 
rate guarantees between 2 and 5 years. 

New groups of insurance contracts are assessed to determine whether they can be measured using the PAA at initial 
recognition. 

The eligibility test for the PAA model will not be subsequently performed after initial recognition unless there are substantial 
changes to the terms of the groups of insurance contracts. 

Measurement 

Initial Measurement of the Liability for Remaining Coverage 

On initial recognition, the liability for remaining coverage is initially measured as the premiums received in the period minus 
any insurance acquisition cash flows not expensed, plus or minus any amount caused by the derecognition of an acquisition 
cash flow asset or liability which represents any acquisition costs that were paid before the contracts were recognized. 

Insurance acquisition costs are included as fulfillment cash flows of the liability and are allocated over the contract boundary 
on a straight-line basis. For contracts with expected future renewals, a portion of the acquisition costs are capitalized as an 
asset and deferred until the future contract renewals are recognized. 

The fulfillment cash flows of contracts with coverage periods of more than one year are discounted to reflect the impact of 
financial risk on the contract. The discount rates used reflect the characteristics of the contract cash flows. For contracts where 
premiums are received within one year of the coverage period, the Company has elected not to adjust the liability for the time 
value of money. 

Subsequent Measurement 

At the end of each reporting period, the Company measures the liability for remaining coverage for contracts under the PAA as 
the carrying amount of the liability for remaining coverage at the beginning of the period, adjusted for the following: 

• Add the premiums received in the period; 

• Less any insurance acquisition cash flows during the period not directly expensed; 

• Add the amortization of acquisition cash flows, plus any adjustments to a financing component; 

• Less the amount recognized as insurance revenue for the coverage provided in the period; and 

• Less any investment components paid or transferred to the liability for incurred claims. 
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If circumstances indicate that a contract under the PAA model has become onerous, a loss is immediately recognized in the 
Consolidated Statements of Earnings, and a separate component of the liability for remaining coverage is created to record this 
loss component. The loss is measured as the difference between the fulfillment cash flows that relate to the remaining coverage 
of the group and the current carrying amount of the liability for remaining coverage using the measurement described above. 

The liability for incurred claims is measured under the same approach as the GMM, which is the fulfillment cash flows related 
to incurred claims. When claims are expected to be settled less than one year after being incurred, the Company has elected not 
to discount the liability for incurred claims. 

Measurement of Reinsurance Contracts Held 
The General Measurement Model 

The accounting policies used to measure a group of insurance contracts under the GMM apply to the measurement of a group 
of reinsurance contracts held, with the following modifications: 

• The carrying amount of a group of reinsurance contracts held at each reporting date is the sum of the remaining coverage 
component and the incurred claims component. The remaining coverage component comprises: 

• The fulfillment cash flows that relate to services that will be received under the contracts in future periods; and 

• Any remaining CSM at that date. 

The Company measures the estimates of the present value of future cash flows using assumptions that are consistent with 
those used to measure the estimates of the present value of future cash flows for the underlying insurance contracts, with an 
adjustment for any risk of non-performance by the reinsurer. The effect of the non-performance risk of the reinsurer is assessed 
at each reporting date and the effect of changes in the non-performance risk is recognized in the Consolidated Statements of 
Earnings. 

The risk adjustment for non-financial risk is the amount of the risk transferred by the Company to the reinsurer. 

On initial recognition, the CSM of a group of reinsurance contracts held represents a net cost or net gain on purchasing 
reinsurance. It is measured as the equal and opposite amount of the total of the fulfillment cash flows, any derecognized assets 
for cash flows occurring before the recognition of the group, any cash flows arising at that date and any income recognized in 
the Consolidated Statements of Earnings because of onerous underlying contracts recognized at that date. However, if any net 
cost on purchasing reinsurance coverage relates to insured events that occurred before the purchase of the group, then the 
Company recognizes the cost immediately in the Consolidated Statements of Earnings as an expense. 

The Company adjusts the carrying amount of the CSM of a group of reinsurance contracts held at the end of a reporting period 
to reflect changes in the fulfillment cash flows applying the same approach as for insurance contracts issued, except when the 
underlying contract is onerous and the change in the fulfillment cash flows for underlying insurance contracts is recognized in 
profit or loss by adjusting the loss component. The respective changes in reinsurance contracts held is also recognized in profit 
and loss (adjusting the loss recovery component). 

Funds withheld under reinsurance contracts held to manage credit risk are included in the carrying amount of the reinsurance 
contracts held asset. 

The Premium Allocation Approach 

The Company holds reinsurance contracts with the direct insurance contracts it issues. The reinsurance contracts held that are 
eligible for the PAA and have underlying direct contracts measured under the PAA are also classified and measured under the 
PAA. 

Onerous Underlying Insurance Contracts 

The Company adjusts the CSM of the group to which a reinsurance contract held belongs and as a result recognizes income 
when it recognizes a loss on initial recognition of onerous underlying contracts, if the reinsurance contract held is entered into 
before or at the same time as the onerous underlying contracts are recognized. The adjustment to the CSM is determined by 
multiplying: 

• The amount of the loss that relates to the underlying contracts; and 

• The percentage of claims on the underlying contracts that the Company expects to recover from the reinsurance contracts 
held. 

For reinsurance contracts held that are acquired by the Company in a transfer of contracts or a business combination covering 
onerous underlying contracts, the adjustment to the CSM is determined by multiplying: 

• The amount of the loss component that relates to the underlying contracts at the date of acquisition; and 
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• The percentage of claims on the underlying contracts that the Company expects at the date of acquisition to recover from 
the reinsurance contracts held. 

A loss recovery component is created or adjusted for the group of reinsurance contracts held to depict the adjustment to the 
CSM, which determines the amounts that are subsequently presented in the Consolidated Statements of Earnings as reversals 
of recoveries of losses from the reinsurance contracts held and are excluded from the allocation of reinsurance premiums paid 
in the net expense from reinsurance contracts held. 

Measurement of Investment Contracts 

Investment contracts are recognized when the Company becomes a party to the contractual provisions of the contract. At 
recognition, the Company measures an investment contract at its fair value. Transaction costs that are incremental and directly 
attributable to the acquisition or issue of the investment contract are expensed as incurred. 

When the fair value of the investment contract differs from the transaction price on initial recognition, the Company recognizes 
the difference as follows: 

• When the fair value is evidenced by a quoted price in an active market for an identical asset or liability (i.e., a Level 1 input) 
or based on a valuation technique that uses only data from observable markets, the difference is recognized as a gain or 
loss. 

• In all other cases, the difference is deferred, and the timing of recognition of deferred day one profit or loss is determined 
individually. It is either amortized over the life of the instrument, deferred until the instrument’s fair value can be 
determined using market observable inputs or realized through settlement. 

Investment contracts are subsequently measured at FVTPL where the fair value is set to the higher of the market value of the 
assets supporting the liability balance and the result of discounting risk-adjusted cash flows using rates derived from a 
reference portfolio or stochastic modeling. The Company’s main valuation techniques incorporate all factors that market 
participants would consider and make maximum use of observable market data. 

Coverage Units 

Amortization of the Contractual Service Margin 

The CSM is a component of the group of insurance contracts that represents the unearned profit the Company will recognize as 
it provides services in the future. An amount of the CSM for a group of insurance contracts is recognized in the Consolidated 
Statements of Earnings as insurance revenue in each period to reflect the services provided under the group of insurance 
contracts in that period. The amount that is recognized in the Consolidated Statements of Earnings for the current period is 
determined by identifying the coverage units in the group, allocating the CSM at the end of the period to each coverage unit 
provided in the current period and expected to be provided in the future periods. 

The number of coverage units in a group is the quantity of coverage provided by the contracts in the group, which is 
determined by considering the quantity of the benefits provided and the expected coverage duration. 

For reinsurance contracts issued, the number of coverage units in a group reflects the expected pattern of underwriting of the 
underlying contracts because the level of service provided depends on the number of underlying contracts in-force. 

For reinsurance contracts held, the CSM amortization is similar to the reinsurance contracts issued and reflects the expected 
pattern of underwriting of the underlying contracts because the level of service provided depends on the number of underlying 
contracts in-force. 

Insurance Revenue 

The Company’s insurance revenue depicts the provision of services arising from a group of insurance contracts at an amount 
that reflects the consideration to which the Company expects to be entitled in exchange for those services. Insurance revenue 
from a group of insurance contracts is therefore the relevant portion for the period of the total consideration for the contracts, 
(i.e., the amount of premiums paid to the Company adjusted for financing effect (the time value of money) and excluding any 
investment components). 

Insurance Finance Income or Expenses 

Insurance finance income or expenses comprise the change in the carrying amount of the group of insurance contracts arising 
from: 

• The effect of the time value of money and changes in the time value of money; and 

• The effect of financial risk and changes in financial risk. 

The Company has elected to recognize insurance finance income or expenses in the Consolidated Statements of Earnings. 
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Net Income or Expense from Reinsurance Contracts Held 

The Company presents separately in the Consolidated Statements of Earnings the amounts expected to be recovered from 
reinsurers, and an allocation of the reinsurance premiums paid. The Company treats reinsurance cash flows that are 
contingent on claims on the underlying contracts as part of the claims that are expected to be reimbursed under the 
reinsurance contract held, and excludes investment components and commissions from an allocation of reinsurance 
premiums presented in the Consolidated Statements of Earnings. Amounts relating to the recovery of losses relating to 
reinsurance of onerous direct contracts are included as amounts recoverable from the reinsurer. 

Contract Modifications and Derecognition 

Contract Modifications 

When the terms of insurance contracts are modified, the Company assesses whether the modification is substantial enough to 
lead to the derecognition of the original contract and recognition of a new modified contract as if it was entered for the first 
time. If the contract modification does not lead to a re-recognition of the contract, then the effect of the modification is treated 
as a change in the estimates of fulfillment cash flows which is recorded as an experience adjustment to the existing contract. 

Derecognition of Contracts 

The Company derecognizes a contract when it is extinguished, which is when the specified obligations in the contract expire or 
are discharged or cancelled. 

When an insurance contract not accounted for under the PAA is derecognized from within a group of insurance contracts: 

• The fulfillment cash flows allocated to the group are adjusted to eliminate those that relate to the rights and obligations 
derecognized; 

• The CSM of the group is adjusted for the change in the fulfillment cash flows, except where such changes are allocated to a 
loss component; and 

• The number of coverage units for the expected remaining coverage is adjusted to reflect the coverage units derecognized 
from the group. 

If a contract is derecognized because it is transferred to a third party, then the CSM is also adjusted for the premium charged by 
the third party, unless the group is onerous. 

When an insurance contract accounted for under the PAA is derecognized, adjustments to the fulfillment cash flows to remove 
related rights and obligations and account for the effect of the derecognition result in the following amounts being charged 
immediately to the Consolidated Statements of Earnings: 

• If the contract is extinguished, any net difference between the derecognized part of the liability for remaining coverage of 
the original contract and any other cash flows arising from extinguishment; and 

• If the contract is transferred to the third party, any difference between the derecognized part of the liability for remaining 
coverage of the original contract and the premium charged by the third party. 

(p) Deferred Income Reserves 

Included in other liabilities are deferred income reserves relating to investment contracts. These are amortized on a straight-
line basis to recognize the initial policy fees over the policy term, not to exceed 20 years. 

(q) Participating Account 

The shareholder portion of participating earnings represents, as restricted by law, a portion of net earnings before policyholder 
dividends of the participating account. The actual payment of the shareholder portion of participating earnings is legally 
determined as a percentage of policyholder dividends paid. The participating operations and the participating balance sheets 
are presented as combined or consolidated in the operations in the Company’s financial statements. 

The Canada Life participating account is comprised of two main subdivisions. The liabilities for participating policies issued or 
assumed by Canada Life prior to demutualization are held in closed block sub-accounts. These liabilities for guaranteed and 
other non-guaranteed benefits are determined using best estimate assumptions. If at any time the value of the assets allocated 
to these policies were, in the opinion of the Appointed Actuary, less than the assets required in the long term to support the 
liabilities of these policies and the future reasonable expectations of the policyholders, assets having a sufficient value to rectify 
the situation would be transferred first from the additional ancillary sub-accounts maintained in the participating account for 
this purpose and then, if the deficiency is expected to be permanent, from the shareholder account. Any such transfers from the 
shareholder account would be recorded as an expense to shareholder net earnings. 
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The second main subdivision comprises the open block sub-accounts containing all liabilities in respect of new participating 
policies issued on or after demutualization. On demutualization, $50 of seed capital was transferred from shareholder surplus 
to the participating account. The seed capital amount, together with a reasonable rate of return, may be transferred to the 
shareholder account if the seed capital is no longer required to support the new participating policies. Transfers of seed capital 
to the shareholder account would be returns of capital and would be recorded as adjustments to shareholder surplus. A 
reasonable rate of return on seed capital will be recognized as income in the shareholder account and as an expense in the 
participating account when paid. To date all seed capital has been repaid except for $22 (U.S. $15). 

(r) Income Taxes 

The income tax expense for the period represents the sum of current income tax and deferred income tax. Income tax is 
recognized as an expense or income in profit or loss except to the extent that it relates to items that are recognized outside 
profit or loss (whether in other comprehensive income or directly in equity), in which case the income tax is also recognized 
outside profit or loss. 

Current Income Tax 

Current income tax is based on taxable income for the year. Current income tax liabilities (assets) for the current and prior 
periods are measured at the amount expected to be paid to (recovered from) the taxation authorities using the tax rates that 
have been enacted or substantively enacted at the balance sheet date in each respective jurisdiction. Current income tax assets 
and current income tax liabilities are offset if a legally enforceable right exists to offset the recognized amounts and the entity 
intends either to settle on a net basis, or to realize the assets and settle the liabilities simultaneously. 

A provision for tax treatment uncertainties which meet the probable threshold for recognition is measured using either the 
most likely amount or the expected value, depending upon which method provides the better prediction of the resolution of the 
uncertainty. The provision for tax uncertainties will be classified as current or deferred based on how a disallowance of the 
underlying uncertain tax treatment would impact the tax provision accrual as of the balance sheet date. 

Deferred Income Tax 

Deferred income tax is the tax expected to be payable or recoverable on differences arising between the carrying amounts of 
assets and liabilities in the consolidated financial statements and the corresponding tax bases used in the computation of 
taxable income and is accounted for using the balance sheet liability method. Deferred income tax liabilities are generally 
recognized for all taxable temporary differences and deferred income tax assets are recognized to the extent that it is probable 
that taxable profits will be available against which deductible temporary differences, unused tax losses and carryforwards can 
be utilized. 

Recognition is based on the fact that it is probable that the entity will have taxable profits and/or tax planning opportunities 
available to allow the deferred income tax asset to be utilized. Changes in circumstances in future periods may adversely 
impact the assessment of the recoverability. The uncertainty of the recoverability is taken into account in establishing the 
deferred income tax assets. The Company's annual financial planning process provides a significant basis for the measurement 
of deferred income tax assets. 

Deferred income tax assets and liabilities are measured at the tax rates expected to apply in the year when the asset is realized 
or the liability is settled, based on tax rates (and tax laws) that have been enacted or substantively enacted at the balance sheet 
date. Deferred income tax assets and deferred income tax liabilities are offset if a legally enforceable right exists to net current 
income tax assets against current income tax liabilities and the deferred income taxes relate to the same taxable entity and the 
same taxation authority. 

The carrying amount of deferred income tax assets is reviewed at each balance sheet date and reduced to the extent that it is no 
longer probable that sufficient taxable profit will be available to allow all or part of the deferred income tax asset to be utilized. 
Unrecognized deferred income tax assets are reassessed at each balance sheet date and are recognized to the extent that it has 
become probable that future taxable profit will allow the deferred income tax asset to be recovered. 

Deferred income tax liabilities are recognized for taxable temporary differences arising on investments in subsidiaries and 
associates, except where the group controls the timing of the reversal of the temporary difference and it is probable that the 
temporary differences will not reverse in the foreseeable future. 

(s) Pension Plans and Other Post-Employment Benefits 

The Company and its subsidiaries maintain contributory and non-contributory defined benefit pension plans for eligible 
employees and advisors. The Company and its subsidiaries also provide post-employment health, dental and life insurance 
benefits to eligible employees, advisors and their dependents. 

The present value of the defined benefit obligations and the related current service cost is determined using the projected unit 
credit method (note 26). Pension plan assets are recorded at fair value. 
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For the Company and its subsidiaries, defined benefit plans, service costs and net interest costs are recognized in the 
Consolidated Statements of Earnings. Service costs include current service cost, administration expenses, past service costs 
and the impact of curtailments and settlements. To determine the net interest costs (income) recognized in the Consolidated 
Statements of Earnings, the Company applies a discount rate to the net benefit liability (asset), where the discount rate is 
determined by reference to market yields at the beginning of the year on high quality corporate bonds. 

For the Company and its subsidiaries defined benefit plans, re-measurements of the net defined benefit liability (asset) due to 
asset returns less (greater) than interest income, actuarial losses (gains) and changes in the asset ceiling are recognized in the 
Consolidated Statements of Comprehensive Income. 

The Company and its subsidiaries also maintain defined contribution pension plans for eligible employees and advisors. For 
the Company and its subsidiaries defined contribution plans, the current service costs are recognized in the Consolidated 
Statements of Earnings. 

(t) Equity 

Financial instruments issued by the Company are classified as share capital if they represent a residual interest in the assets of 
the Company. Preferred share capital is classified as equity if it is non-redeemable, or retractable only at the Company’s option 
and any dividends are discretionary. Incremental costs that are directly attributable to the issue of share capital are recognized 
as a deduction from equity, net of income tax. 

Contributed surplus represents the vesting expense on unexercised equity instruments under share-based payment plans.  

Accumulated other comprehensive income (loss) represents the total of the unrealized foreign exchange gains (losses) on 
translation of foreign operations, the unrealized gains (losses) on available-for-sale assets, the re-measurements on defined 
benefit pension and other post-employment benefit plans net of tax and the revaluation surplus on transfer to investment 
properties, where applicable. 

Non-controlling interests in subsidiaries represents the proportion of equity that is attributable to minority shareholders. 

Participating account surplus represents the proportion of equity attributable to the participating account of the Company and 
its subsidiaries. 

(u) Share-Based Payments 

Lifeco has a stock option plan that provides for the granting of options on common shares of Lifeco to certain officers and 
employees of Lifeco and its affiliates. 

The Company follows the fair value based method of accounting for the valuation of compensation expense for shares and 
share options granted to employees under its stock option plans (note 25). This share-based payment expense is recognized in 
operating and administrative expenses in the Consolidated Statements of Earnings and as an increase to contributed surplus 
over the vesting period of the granted options. 

The Company and certain of its affiliates have Deferred Share Unit Plans (DSU Plans) in which the Directors and certain 
employees of the Company participate. Units issued to Directors under the DSU Plans vest when granted. Units issued to 
certain employees under the DSU Plans primarily vest over a three year period. The Company recognizes an increase in 
operating and administrative expenses for the units granted under the DSU Plans. The Company recognizes a liability for units 
granted under the DSU Plans which is remeasured at each reporting period based on the market value of Lifeco’s common 
shares. 

Certain employees of the Company are entitled to participate in the Performance Share Unit Plan (PSU Plan). Units issued 
under the PSU Plan vest over a three year period. The Company uses the fair value method to recognize compensation expense 
for the units granted under the plan over the vesting period with a corresponding increase in the liability based on the market 
value of Lifeco's common shares. 

The Company has an Employee Share Ownership Program (ESOP) where, subject to certain conditions being met, the 
Company will match contributions up to a maximum amount to purchase Lifeco common shares. The Company’s 
contributions are expensed within operating and administrative expenses as incurred. 

(v) Leases 

Where the Company is the lessee, a right-of-use asset and a lease liability are recognized on the Consolidated Balance Sheets as 
at the lease commencement date. 

Right-of-use assets are initially measured based on the initial amount of lease liability adjusted for any lease payments made at 
or before the commencement date, initial direct costs incurred and any lease incentive received. Right-of-use assets are 
included within other assets with the exception of right-of-use assets which meet the definition of investment property which 

32 The Canada Life Assurance Company 2024 Annual Report 



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements 

are presented Hithin investment properties and sub;ect to the ompanJs associated accountin8 policJ. *i8ht	of	use assets 
presented Hithin other assets are depreciated to the earlier of the useful life of the ri8ht	of	use asset or the lease term usin8 the 
strai8ht	line method. epreciation eIpense on ri8ht	of	use assets is included Hithin operatin8 and administrative eIpenses. 

The lease liabilitJ is measured at amortiKed cost usin8 the effective interest method and is included Hithin other liabilities. 
!nterest eIpense on lease liabilities is included Hithin operatin8 and administrative eIpenses. 

The ompanJ has elected to applJ a practical eIpedient not to reco8niKe ri8ht	of	use assets and lease liabilities for short	term 
leases that have a lease term of 1 months or less and leases of loH	value assets. 

/here the ompanJ is the lessor under an operatin8 lease for its investment propertJ the assets sub;ect to the lease 
arran8ement are presented Hithin the onsolidated alance +heets. !ncome from these leases is reco8niKed in the 
onsolidated +tatements of arnin8s on a strai8ht	line basis over the lease term. 

!nvestments in a lease that transfers substantiallJ all the ris<s and reHards of oHnership to the lessee are classified as a finance 
lease. The ompanJ is the lessor under a finance lease and the investment is reco8niKed as a receivable at an amount eBual to 
the net investment in the lease Hhich is represented as the present value of the minimum lease paJments due from the lessee 
and is presented Hithin the onsolidated alance +heets. (aJments received from the lessee are apportioned betHeen the 
reco8nition of finance lease income and the reduction of the finance lease receivable. !ncome from the finance leases is 
reco8niKed in the onsolidated +tatements of arnin8s at a constant periodic rate of return on the ompanJNs net investment 
in the finance lease. 

(D) %perating Segments 

'peratin8 se8ments have been identified based on internal reports that are re8ularlJ revieHed bJ the ompanJNs hief 
Iecutive 'fficer to allocate resources and assess performance of se8ments and for Hhich discrete financial information is 
available. The ompanJNs operatin8 se8ments are the participatin8 and shareholder operations of the ompanJ. The business 
units Hithin these se8ments are anada urope apital and *is< +olutions and orporate. The anada business unit 
comprises the !ndividual ustomer and roup ustomer units. The urope business unit comprises -nited #in8dom !reland 
and ermanJ. *einsurance is reported in the apital and *is< +olutions business unit. The orporate business unit represents 
activities and transactions that are not directlJ attributable to the measurement of the operatin8 business units of the 
ompanJ. 

(x) Future Accounting Policies 

The ompanJ activelJ monitors chan8es in !*+ both proposed and released bJ the !+ for potential impact on the 
ompanJ. The folloHin8 sets out standards released and updates to the ompanJNs analJsis since the Jear ended ecember 1 
 

NeD Standard Summary of Future Changes 

IFRS 18 I resentation and isclosre in 
	inancial tatements 

In April 2024, the IAS published IFRS 18, resentation and isclosre in 	inancial tatements 
(IFRS 18)
 The standard aims to improve how companies communicate information in their 
financial statements, with a focus on information about financial performance in the statement of 
earnings
 

IFRS 18 will re?uire companies to 

K Provide defined subtotals in the statement of earnings 
K isclose information for any management-defined performance measures related to the 

statement of earnings and 
K Implement principles for the grouping of information in the financial statements, and 

whether to provide it in the primary financial statements or notes
 

The standard is effective for annual reporting periods beginning on or after !anuary 1, 2027, with 
earlier application permitted The Company is evaluating the impact of the adoption of this 
standard 

IFRS 9 I 	inancial 
nstrments and IFRS 7 I 
	inancial 
nstrments isclosres 

In May 2024, the IAS published amendments to IFRS 9, 	inancial 
nstrments and IFRS 7, 
	inancial 
nstrments isclosres The amendments clarify the classification of financial assets 
with environmental, social and corporate governance and similar features, the settlement of 
liabilities through electronic payment systems, and introduce additional disclosure re?uirements to 
enhance transparency for investors
 

These amendments are effective for annual reporting periods beginning on or after !anuary 1, 
2026, with earlier application permitted The Company is evaluating the impact of the adoption of 
these amendments
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3. usiness Ac/uisitions 

(a) Ac>uisition of Investment Planning Counsel 

'n &ovember   the ompanJ completed the acBuisition of 1 of the eBuitJ of !nvestment (lannin8 ounsel !nc. an 
independent Health mana8ement firm from !% inancial !nc. !% for total purchase consideration of . The 
acBuisition eItends the ompanJNs Health mana8ement reach and capabilities. !% is an affiliated companJ and a member of 
the (oHer orporation 8roup of companies. Therefore the transaction Has revieHed and approved bJ the onduct *evieH 
ommittee of each of the ompanJ and $ifeco. 

urin8 the third Buarter of  the ompanJ completed its comprehensive valuation of the fair value of the net assets 
acBuired and the purchase price allocation. 

!nitial 8oodHill presented in the ompanJNs ecember 1  consolidated annual audited financial statements of  Has 
ad;usted upon completion of the purchase price allocation. d;ustments Here made to the provisional amounts disclosed in 
the ompanJNs ecember 1  consolidated annual audited financial statements mainlJ due to the reco8nition and 
measurement of intan8ible assets. !ntan8ible assets reco8niKed include customer contracts of  Hhich have accumulated 
amortiKation of  as at ecember 1 . 

omparative information in the ompanJNs consolidated financial statements has not been restated. 

The ompanJ determined the fair value of the intan8ible assets usin8 the valuation techniBues that incorporate pro;ections of 
discounted cash floHs bJ applJin8 ;ud8ments and estimates for customer retention forecasted revenues earnin8s and 
discount rates. 

The amounts assi8ned to the assets acBuired 8oodHill and liabilities assumed on &ovember   reported as at ecember 
1  are as folloHs 

Assets ac>uired and goodDill 

Cash $ 31 

Goodwill 371 

Intangible assets 230 

Fixed assets 3 

Accounts receivable 33 

Other assets 279 

Current income taxes 

$ 948 

1 

Total assets ac>uired and goodDill 

"iabilities assumed 

Accounts payable $ 38 

Other liabilities 294 

Current income taxes 1 

eferred tax liabilities 

$ 363 

30 

Total liabilities assumed 

The folloHin8 provides the chan8e in the carrJin8 value from ecember 1  to ecember 1  of the 8oodHill on 
acBuisition 

GoodDill previously reported at December 1, 202 $ 583 

Recognition and measurement of intangible assets (230) 

Recognition of deferred tax liabilities on intangible assets and other measurement period adjustments 

GoodDill reported at December 1, 2024 

18 

$ 371 

(b) Ac>uisition of +alue Partners 

'n +eptember   the ompanJ completed the acBuisition of 1 of the eBuitJ of .alue (artners roup !nc. a /innipe8 
based investment firm that serves clients Hith compleI and sophisticated Health needs. 

urin8 the third Buarter of  the comprehensive valuation of the fair value of the net assets acBuired includin8 intan8ible 
assets and the final purchase price allocation Has completed. s a result initial 8oodHill presented in the ecember 1  
consolidated annual audited financial statements of 11 reco8niKed upon the acBuisition Has ad;usted to  mainlJ due to 
the reco8nition and measurement of intan8ible assets. omparative information in the ompanJNs consolidated financial 
statements has not been restated. 
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(c) Sale of *	!	 %nshore ond usiness 

'n ecember   anada $ife -.#. announced the si8nin8 of an a8reement to transfer its onshore bond business to 
ountrJHide ssured plc ountrJHide a subsidiarJ of hesnara plc. oncurrentlJ the tHo parties entered into a reinsurance 
a8reement such that the ris<s and reHards of the underlJin8 business are transferred to ountrJHide. The transaction resulted 
in a net 8ain of 1 pre	taI mainlJ driven bJ reco8nition of assets associated Hith the reinsurance a8reement. The underlJin8 
assets and the related liabilities on account of se8re8ated fund policJholders Hith a carrJin8 value of  as at ecember 1 
 are to be transferred to ountrJHide pendin8 court approval Hhich is eIpected to occur Hithin 1 months. 

. estructuring 

(a) Canada Restructuring 

The ompanJ recorded a restructurin8 provision of  in anada for the Jear ended ecember 1   in the 
shareholder account and  in the participatin8 account. The restructurin8 is related to the transitionin8 of some of the 
information technolo8J operations functions to a mana8ed service arran8ement Hith an eIternal provider. s at ecember 1 
 the ompanJ has a provision of  remainin8 in other liabilities related to this restructurin8. The ompanJ eIpects to 
utiliKe a si8nificant portion of these amounts durin8 . 

(b) Europe Restructuring 

The ompanJ recorded a restructurin8 provision of  in urope for the Jear ended ecember 1  1 for the Jear 
ended ecember 1. t ecember 1  the ompanJ has a restructurin8 provision of 1 remainin8 in other 
liabilities 1 at ecemberL1 . The restructurin8 is related to provisions for staff reductions as Hell as other business 
transformation initiatives as disclosed in the ompanJs ecember 1  consolidated annual audited financial statements. 

	. Cash and Cash /uivalents 

2024 2023 

Cash $ 3,242 $ 2,361 

Short-term deposits 

Total 

1,280 1,583 

$ 4,522 $ 3,944 

t ecember 1  cash and short	term deposits of 1 Here restricted for use bJ the ompanJ  at ecember 1 
 in respect of cash held in trust for reinsurance a8reements or Hith re8ulatorJ authorities cash held under certain 
indemnitJ arran8ements client monies held bJ bro<ers and cash held in escroH. 
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. Portfolio Investments 

(a) Carrying +alues and Estimated Fair +alues of Portfolio Investments are as FolloDs 

onds 

F,TP# - designated $ 89,794 $ 89,794 $ 81,572 $ 81,572 

F,TP# - mandatory 995 995 1,040 1,040 

F,OCI 9,980 9,980 9,206 9,206 

Amortized cost 

Mortgage loans 

F,TP# - designated 15,842 15,842 15,818 15,818 

F,TP# - mandatory 4,818 4,818 4,203 4,203 

F,OCI 7 7 6 6 

Amortized cost 

Stocks 

F,TP# - mandatory 13,955 13,955 12,893 12,893 

E?uity method 

Investment properties 8,235 8,235 7,849 7,849 

Total $ 149,369 $ 148,766 $ 137,791 $ 137,226 

(b) Carrying +alue of onds and Mortgages by Term to Maturity are as FolloDs 

94 94 86 86 

100,863 100,863 91,904 91,904 

4,810 4,193 4,422 3,923 

25,477 24,860 24,449 23,950 

2024 2023 

Carrying value Fair value Carrying value Fair value 

839 853 696 630 

14,794 14,808 13,589 13,523 

2024 2023 

Term to maturity Term to maturity 

1 year or 
less 

%ver 1 year 
to  years 

%ver 
 years Total 

1 year or 
less 

Over 1 year 
to 5 years 

Over 
5 years Total 

onds $ 14,208 $ 20,394 $ 66,261 $ 100,863 $ 9,800 $ 21,064 $ 61,040 $ 91,904 

Mortgage loans 1 2,758 10,674 12,045 25,477 2,012 10,547 11,890 24,449 

Total $ 16,966 $ 31,068 $ 78,306 $ 126,340 $ 11,812 $ 31,611 $ 72,930 $ 116,353 

%ort8a8e loans include eBuitJ release mort8a8es Hhich do not have a fiIed redemption date. The maturitJ profile of the portfolio has been estimated based on previous 
redemption eIperience. 

(c) E>uity Method Investments 

 si8nificant amount of the ompanJs eBuitJ method investments relate to the ompanJNs investment in an affiliated 
companJ !% a member of the (oHer orporation 8roup of companies over Hhich it eIerts si8nificant influence but does not 
control. The ompanJs proportionate share of !%s earnin8s is recorded in net investment income in the onsolidated 
+tatements of arnin8s. The ompanJ oHns  shares of !% at ecember 1   at ecember 1  
representin8 a . oHnership interest . at ecember 1 . The ompanJ uses the eBuitJ method to account for its 
investment in !% as it eIercises si8nificant influence. +i8nificant influence arises from several factors includin8 but not 
limited to the folloHin8 common control of the ompanJ and !% bJ (oHer orporation shared representation on the 
oards of irectors of the ompanJ and !% interchan8e of mana8erial personnel certain shared strate8ic alliances 
si8nificant intercompanJ transactions and service a8reements that influence the financial and operatin8 policies of both 
companies. 

The ompanJ and !% both have a Jear	end date of ecember 1. The ompanJs Jear	end results are approved and reported 
before !% publiclJ reports its financial results therefore the ompanJ reports !%s financial information bJ estimatin8 the 
amount of earnin8s attributable to the ompanJ based on prior Buarter information as Hell as other mar<et eIpectations to 
complete eBuitJ method accountin8. The difference betHeen actual and estimated results is reflected in the subseBuent 
Buarter and is not material to the ompanJs consolidated financial statements. 

!%s financial information as at ecember 1  can be obtained in its publiclJ available information. 

36 The Canada Life Assurance Company 2024 Annual Report 



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements 

The ompanJ and its subsidiaries also hold eBuitJ investments in certain related parties Hhich the ompanJ accounts for 
usin8 eBuitJ method accountin8. 

2024 

IGM 
%ther Related 

Parties Total 

Fair value, end of year $ 421 $ 432 $ 853 

Carrying value, beginning of year $ 387 $ 309 $ 696 

Additions — 103 103 

E?uity method share of net earnings 41 15 56 

ividends received (21) (4) (25) 

Other 

$ 407 $ 432 $ 839 

9 9 — 

Carrying value, end of year 

2023 

IGM 
Other Related 

Parties Total 

Carrying value, beginning of year $ 375 $ 152 $ 527 

Additions — 185 185 

E?uity method share of net earnings 33 (26) 7 

ividends received (21) (5) (26) 

Other 

$ 387 $ 309 $ 696 

$ 321 $ 309 $ 630 

3 3 — 

Carrying value, end of year 

Fair value, end of year 

(d) Net Investment Income Comprises the FolloDing 

2024 

Mortgage Investment 

Net investment income 

Investment income earned $ 4,010 $ 949 $ 407 $ 504 $ 217 $ 6,087 

Net realized losses on derecognition of F,OCI assets (45) — — — — (45) 

Gains on derecognition of amortized cost assets — 2 — — — 2 

Net EC# recovery — 7 — — — 7 

Other income and expenses 

onds loans Stocks properties %ther Total 

— — — (192) (140) (332) 

3,965 958 407 312 77 5,719 

Changes in fair value on F,TP# assets 

F,TP# - designated (1,424) 479 — — 857 (88) 

F,TP# - mandatory 1 (39) 1,559 — — 1,521 

Recorded at fair value (153) (153) 

(1,423) 440 1,559 (153) 857 1,280 

$ 2,542 $ 1,398 $ 1,966 $ 159 $ 934 $ 6,999 

— — — — 

Total 
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2023 

Mortgage Investment 

Net investment income 

Investment income earned $ 3,518 $ 872 $ 376 $ 503 $ 137 $ 5,406 

Net realized losses on derecognition of F,OCI assets (243) — — — — (243) 

Gains on derecognition of amortized cost assets — 9 — — — 9 

Net EC# (charge) recovery (1) — — — — (1) 

Other income and expenses 

onds loans Stocks properties Other Total 

— — — (188) (106) (294) 

3,274 881 376 315 31 4,877 

Changes in fair value on F,TP# assets 

F,TP# - designated 2,822 277 — — 562 3,661 

F,TP# - mandatory 39 272 798 — — 1,109 

Recorded at fair value (503) (503) 

2,861 549 798 (503) 562 4,267 

$ 6,135 $ 1,430 $ 1,174 $ (188) $ 593 $ 9,144 

— — — — 

Total 

!nvestment income from bonds and mort8a8es includes interest income and premium and discount amortiKation. !nvestment 
income from stoc<s includes dividends and distributions from private eBuitJ funds. !nvestment properties income includes 
rental income earned on investment properties 8round rent income earned on leased and sub 	leased land fee recoveries 
lease cancellation income and interest and other investment income earned on investment properties. 'ther investment 
income includes forei8n eIchan8e 8ains and losses income earned from derivative financial instruments and eBuitJ income 
from the investments in !% and other related parties. 

(e) Net Investment Result 

Investment return 

2024 2023 

Net investment income $ 5,719 $ 4,877 

Changes in fair value on F,TP# assets 

Total investment return 

Net finance income (expenses) from insurance contracts 

Changes in fair value of underlying items of direct participating contracts (4,672) (3,731) 

Effects of risk mitigation option 45 (5) 

Interest accreted (3,767) (3,379) 

Effect of changes in discount rate and other financial assumptions 2,767 (1,921) 

Effect of measuring changes in estimates at current rates and adjusting the CSM at rates on initial 
recognition 

Total net finance income (expenses) from insurance contracts 

Net finance income (expenses) from reinsurance contracts 

Interest accreted 340 92 

Other 

Total net finance income (expenses) from reinsurance contracts 

Changes in investment contract liabilities 

$ 1,015 $ 200 

(178) (159) 

(f) Securities "ending 

The ompanJ en8a8es in securities lendin8 to 8enerate additional income. The ompanJNs securities custodians are used as 
lendin8 a8ents. ollateral Hhich eIceeds the fair value of the loaned securities is deposited bJ the borroHer Hith the 
ompanJs lendin8 a8ent and maintained bJ the lendin8 a8ent until the underlJin8 securitJ has been returned. The fair value 
of the loaned securities is monitored on a dailJ basis bJ the lendin8 a8ent Hho obtains or refunds additional collateral as the 
fair value of the loaned securities fluctuates. ollateral primarilJ consists of 8overnment bonds and investment 8rade corporate 
bonds. !n addition the securities lendin8 a8ent indemnifies the ompanJ a8ainst borroHer ris< meanin8 that the lendin8 
a8ent a8rees contractuallJ to replace securities not returned due to a borroHer default. s at ecember 1  the ompanJ 
had loaned securities Hhich are included in invested assets Hith a fair value of   at ecember 1 . 

1,280 4,267 

6,999 9,144 

(224) 4 

(5,851) (9,032) 

(314) 174 

26 266 
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. is) anagement 

The ompanJ has policies relatin8 to the identification measurement mana8ement monitorin8 and reportin8 of ris<s 
associated Hith financial instruments and insurance contracts. The <eJ ris<s related to financial instruments are credit ris< 
liBuiditJ ris< and mar<et ris< currencJ interest rate and eBuitJ. The *is< ommittee of the oard of irectors is responsible 
for the oversi8ht of the ompanJs <eJ ris<s. 

The folloHin8 sections describe hoH the ompanJ mana8es each of these ris<s. 

(a) Credit Risk 

redit ris< is the ris< of loss resultin8 from an obli8ors potential inabilitJ or unHillin8ness to fullJ meet its contractual 
obli8ations. 

The folloHin8 policies and procedures are in place to mana8e this ris< 

Q !nvestment and ris< policies aim to minimiKe undue concentration Hithin issuers connected companies industries or 
individual 8eo8raphies. 

Q !nvestment and ris< limits specifJ minimum and maIimum limits for each asset class. 

Q !dentification of credit ris< throu8h an internal credit ris< ratin8 sJstem Hhich includes a detailed assessment of an 
obli8ors creditHorthiness. !nternal credit ris< ratin8s cannot be hi8her than the hi8hest ratin8 provided bJ certain 
independent ratin8s companies. 

Q (ortfolios are monitored continuouslJ and revieHed re8ularlJ Hith the *is< ommittee and the !nvestment ommittee of 
the oard of irectors. 

Q redit ris< associated Hith derivative instruments is evaluated BuarterlJ based on conditions that eIisted at the balance 
sheet date usin8 practices that are at least as conservative as those recommended bJ re8ulators. The ompanJ mana8es 
derivative credit ris< bJ includin8 derivative eIposure to a88re8ate credit eIposures measured a8ainst ratin8 based obli8or 
limits and throu8h collateral arran8ements Hhere possible. 

Q ounterparties providin8 reinsurance to the ompanJ are revieHed for financial soundness as part of an on8oin8 
monitorin8 process. The minimum financial stren8th of reinsurers is outlined in the *einsurance *is< %ana8ement (olicJ. 
The ompanJ see<s to minimiKe reinsurance credit ris< bJ settin8 ratin8 based limits on net ceded eIposure bJ 
counterpartJ as Hell as see<in8 protection in the form of collateral or funds Hithheld arran8ements Hhere possible. 

Q !nvestment 8uidelines also specifJ collateral reBuirements. 
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& 5&*2* 5-,02/" 1, 
/"!&1 &0( 
The folloHin8 summariKes the ompanJNs maIimum eIposure to credit ris< related to financial instruments as Hell as 
insurance and reinsurance contracts. The maIimum credit eIposure is the carrJin8 value of the asset net of anJ alloHances for 
losses. 

Financial instruments 

2024 2023 

Cash and cash e?uivalents $ 4,522 $ 3,944 

onds 100,863 91,904 

Mortgage loans 25,477 24,449 

Interest due and accrued 1,127 1,019 

Accounts receivable 2,577 2,098 

Trading account assets 161 160 

Finance leases receivable 926 668 

Other assets 1 472 517 

erivative assets 1,458 1,486 

137,583 126,245 

Insurance and reinsurance contracts 

Reinsurance contract held assets 2 6,544 6,546 

Insurance contract assets 858 902 

Funds held by ceding insurers 3 3,365 3,678 

#oans to policyholders 3 

Total 

3,912 3,883 

14,679 15,009 

$ 152,262 $ 141,254 

1 !ncludes items such as current income taIes receivable and miscellaneous other assets of the ompanJ note 11. 
 !ncludes funds Hithheld on reinsurance contracts issued. 
 !ncluded in insurance contract liabilities note 1.  

redit ris< is also miti8ated bJ enterin8 into collateral a8reements. The amount and tJpe of collateral reBuired depends on an 
assessment of the credit ris< of the counterpartJ. uidelines are implemented re8ardin8 the acceptabilitJ of tJpes of collateral 
and the valuation parameters. ollateral primarilJ consists of 8overnment bonds and investment 8rade corporate bonds. 
%ana8ement monitors the value of the collateral reBuests additional collateral Hhen needed and performs an impairment 
valuation Hhen applicable. The ompanJ has  of collateral received from counterparties as at ecember 1  11 
at ecember 1  relatin8 to derivative assets. 

&& 
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oncentrations of credit ris< arise from eIposures to a sin8le obli8or a 8roup of related obli8ors or 8roups of obli8ors that have 
similar credit ris< characteristics and operate in the same 8eo8raphic re8ion or in similar industries. The characteristics are 
similar in that chan8es in economic or political environments maJ impact their abilitJ to meet obli8ations as theJ come due. 
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The folloHin8 provides details of the carrJin8 value of bonds bJ issuer industrJ sector and business unit 

2024 

Canada Europe 
Capital and Risk 

Solutions Corporate Total 

onds issued or guaranteed by 

Treasuries $ 1,554 $ 7,274 $ 4,220 $ 94 $ 13,142 

Government related 17,286 7,444 694 129 25,553 

Agency securitized 186 — 12 10 208 

Non-agency securitized 3,453 800 160 406 4,819 

Financials 4,698 5,651 1,163 220 11,732 

Communications 1,194 856 208 19 2,277 

Consumer products 5,086 2,084 1,059 244 8,473 

Energy 2,809 502 354 84 3,749 

Industrials 2,878 1,178 466 172 4,694 

Technology 1,329 409 317 14 2,069 

Transportation 4,426 853 198 33 5,510 

+tilities 12,559 4,660 1,087 331 18,637 

Total $ 57,458 $ 31,711 $ 9,938 $ 1,756 $ 100,863 

2023 

Canada Europe 
Capital and Risk 

Solutions Corporate Total 

onds issued or guaranteed by 

Treasuries $ 921 $ 8,522 $ 2,887 $ 92 $ 12,422 

Government related 16,618 6,760 406 137 23,921 

Agency securitized 178 — 13 13 204 

Non-agency securitized 2,924 803 134 381 4,242 

Financials 5,225 4,861 1,033 210 11,329 

Communications 1,089 748 150 20 2,007 

Consumer products 4,704 1,774 1,021 236 7,735 

Energy 2,619 447 321 87 3,474 

Industrials 2,560 1,156 439 153 4,308 

Technology 1,044 479 293 11 1,827 

Transportation 3,996 755 156 31 4,938 

+tilities 10,632 3,786 748 331 15,497 

Total $ 52,510 $ 30,091 $ 7,601 $ 1,702 $ 91,904 

The folloHin8 provides details of the carrJin8 value of mort8a8e loans bJ business unit 

2024 

Canada Europe 
Capital and Risk 

Solutions Corporate Total 

Single family residential $ 1,225 $ — $ — $ — $ 1,225 

Multi-family residential 4,523 946 34 150 5,653 

E?uity release 1,949 2,279 590 — 4,818 

Commercial 9,228 4,133 153 267 13,781 

Total $ 16,925 $ 7,358 $ 777 $ 417 $ 25,477 

The Canada Life Assurance Company 2024 Annual Report 41 



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements 

2023 

Canada Europe 
Capital and Risk 

Solutions Corporate Total 

Single family residential $ 1,511 $ — $ — $ — $ 1,511 

Multi-family residential 4,581 814 32 142 5,569 

E?uity release 1,697 2,043 463 — 4,203 

Commercial 8,955 3,850 147 214 13,166 

Total $ 16,744 $ 6,707 $ 642 $ 356 $ 24,449 

&&& 5-" 1"! 
/"!&1 ,00"0 
The folloHin8 table reconciles the alloHance for credit losses under the $ model in !*+  bJ asset classification and sta8e 

onds at F+%CI 

alance, beginning of year $ 1 $ — $ — $ 1 

Provision for credit losses 

Net re-measurement of loss allowance 

$ 2 $ — $ — $ 2 

1 1 — — 

alance, end of year 

Mortgages at amortiGed cost 

alance, beginning of year $ 1 $ 29 $ 4 $ 34 

Provision for credit losses 

Transfers to stage 1 3 (3) — — 

Net re-measurement of loss allowance (3) (7) 3 (7) 

Exchange rate and other 

alance, end of year 

Total alloDance for credit losses, end of year 

onds at F,OCI 

alance, beginning of year $ — $ — $ — $ — 

Provision for credit losses 

Originations 1 — — 1 

Maturities (1) — — (1) 

Net re-measurement of loss allowance 

$ 1 $ — $ — $ 1 

1 1 — — 

alance, end of year 

Mortgages at amortized cost 

alance, beginning of year $ 1 $ 32 $ — $ 33 

Provision for credit losses 

Transfers to stage 1 1 (1) — — 

Originations 1 — — 1 

Net re-measurement of loss allowance (2) (3) 4 (1) 

Exchange rate and other 1 1 

$ 1 $ 29 $ 4 $ 34 

$ 2 $ 29 $ 4 $ 35 

— — 

alance, end of year 

Total allowance for credit losses, end of year 

2024 

Performing Impaired 

Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage  Total

— 1 — 1 

$ 1 $ 20 $ 7 $ 28 

$ 3 $ 20 $ 7 $ 30 

2023 

Performing Impaired 

Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 Total
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The folloHin8 table presents the fair value of bonds and mort8a8es at .'! and carrJin8 amounts of mort8a8es at amortiKed 
cost. *is< ratin8s are based on internal ratin8s used in the measurement of $s as at the reportin8 date. 

onds at F+%CI 

Investment grade $ 9,968 $ — $ — $ 9,968 

Non-investment grade — 12 — 12 

Impaired 

$ 9,968 $ 12 $ — $ 9,980 

— — — — 

Total 

Mortgage loans at F+%CI 

Investment grade

$ 7 $ — $ — $ 7 

$ $ $7 $ 7 — — 

Total 

2024 

Performing Impaired 

Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage  Total 

Mortgages at amortiGed cost 

4,562 266 10 4,838 

Allowance for credit losses 

2023 

Investment grade $ 4,562 $ — $ — $ 4,562 

Non-investment grade — 266 — 266 

Impaired 10 10 

(1) (20) (7) (28) 

$ 4,561 $ 246 $ 3 $ 4,810 

Performing Impaired 

Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 Total

— — 

Total 

onds at F,OCI 

Investment grade $ 9,203 $ — $ — $ 9,203 

Non-investment grade — 3 — 3 

Impaired 

$ 9,203 $ 3 $ — $ 9,206 

— — — — 

Total 

Mortgage loans at F,OCI 

Investment grade $ 6 $ $ $ 6 

$ 6 $ — $ — $ 6 

— — 

Total 

Mortgages at amortized cost 

Investment grade $ 4,088 $ — $ — $ 4,088 

Non-investment grade — 357 — 357 

Impaired — — 11 11 

4,088 357 11 4,456 

Allowance for credit losses 

Total 

(1) (29) (4) (34) 

$ 4,087 $ 328 $ 7 $ 4,422 
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The carrJin8 value of the ompanJNs portfolio investments desi8nated as .T($ represents the maIimum eIposure to credit 
ris< for those assets. The chan8e in fair value attributable to the chan8e in credit ris< of these assets is 8enerallJ insi8nificant in 
the absence of si8nificant credit events occurrin8 on specific assets.  fair value loss of 1 in  nil in  is reflected in 
chan8es in fair value on fair value throu8h profit or loss assets in the onsolidated +tatements of arnin8s related to si8nificant 
credit events occurrin8 on assets desi8nated as .T($. 

3& 00"1 2)&16 

ond ort olio b3 Credit atin! 

ased on internal ratings 

AAA $ 12,681 $ 12,368 

AA 26,884 25,905 

A 36,862 31,680 

 23,711 21,429 

 and lower 

2024 2023 

Total 

	erivative ort olio b3 Credit atin! 

2024 2023 

ased on Rating Agency ratings 

AA- to AA $ 5,132 $ 5,164 

A- to A 1,409 1,353 

 and lower 8 9 

Not rated 

725 522 

$ 100,863 $ 91,904 

2023 2024 

Over-the-counter contracts (counterparty ratings) 

AA $ 763 $ 777 

A 694 708 

Exchange-traded 

$ 1,458 $ 1,486 

1 1 

Total 

einsurance Contract eld ssets b3 Credit atin! 

Total reinsurance contract held assets 

Total reinsurance contract held assets less collateral 

Total reinsurance contract held assets are net of funds held under reinsurance contracts. 

3&& 2+!0 ")! 6 
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t ecember 1  the ompanJ had amounts on deposit of   at ecember 1  for funds held bJ cedin8 
insurers. This amount has been included in insurance contract liabilities on the onsolidated alance +heets. !ncluded in 
these amounts are assets of  at ecember 1   at ecember 1  Hhere the ompanJ does not retain the 
credit ris<. !ncome and eIpenses arisin8 from the underlJin8 assets are included in net investment result in the onsolidated 
+tatements of arnin8s. 

(5) 20 

$ 6,544 $ 6,546 

$ 4,161 $ 4,275 
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The details of the funds on deposit for certain a8reements Hhere the ompanJ has credit ris< are as folloHs 

i Carr3in! alues and Estimated Fair alues 

2024 2023 

Carrying 
value 

Fair 
value 

Carrying 
value 

Fair 
value 

Cash and cash e?uivalents $ 166 $ 166 $ 158 $ 158 

onds 3,053 3,053 3,426 3,426 

Other assets 

$ 3,267 $ 3,267 $ 3,641 $ 3,641 

57 57 48 48 

Total 

Supporting 

Insurance contract liabilities $ 3,267 $ 3,267 $ 3,586 $ 3,586 

Surplus 

$ 3,267 $ 3,267 $ 3,641 $ 3,641 

55 55 — — 

Total 

ii "e Follo1in! rovides 	etails o  t"e Carr3in! alue o  onds Included in t"e Funds on 	eposit b3 Issuer and 
Industr3 Sector 

onds issued or guaranteed by 

Treasuries $ 216 $ 305 

Government related 700 736 

Non-agency securitized 342 381 

Financials 591 625 

Communications 74 76 

Consumer products 154 204 

Energy 141 155 

Industrials 131 185 

Technology 26 49 

Transportation 117 110 

+tilities 

$ 3,053 $ 3,426 

600 561 

Total 

iii sset ualit3 

ond ort olio b3 Credit atin! 

2024 2023 

2024 2023 

$ 304 $ 313 AAA 

AA 1,207 1,422 

A 1,264 1,335 

 246 308 

 and lower 

$ 3,053 $ 3,426 

48 32 

Total 

(b) "i>uidity Risk 

$iBuiditJ ris< is the ris< that the ompanJ Hill not be able to meet all cash outfloH obli8ations as theJ come due. The 
ompanJNs liBuiditJ ris< mana8ement frameHor< and associated limits are desi8ned to alloH the ompanJ to meet cash and 
collateral commitments as theJ fall due both on an eIpected basis and under a severe liBuiditJ stress. 

Q The ompanJ attempts to miti8ate liBuiditJ ris< throu8h product desi8n and maintainin8 a hi8h BualitJ diversified 
investment portfolio Hith a spread of asset maturities bJ Jear. pproIimatelJ  of our insurance and investment 
contract liabilities measured based on carrJin8 value and eIcludin8 liabilities held on account of se8re8ated fund holders 
are sub;ect to discretionarJ HithdraHal. 

Q %ana8ement closelJ monitors the solvencJ and capital positions of its principal subsidiaries opposite liBuiditJ 
reBuirements at the holdin8 companJ. dditional liBuiditJ is available throu8h established lines of credit or via capital 
mar<et transactions. 
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!n the normal course of business the ompanJ enters into contracts that 8ive rise to commitments of future minimum 
paJments that impact short	term and lon8	term liBuiditJ. The folloHin8 summariKes the principal repaJment schedule for 
certain of the ompanJNs financial liabilities. 

2024 

1 year or 
less 1-2 years 2- years -4 years 4- years 

%ver 
 years Total 

ebentures and other debt instruments $ — $ — $ — $ 100 $ 55 $ 498 $ 653 

Capital trust securities 1 — — — — — 150 150 

Purchase obligations 92 69 45 30 11 15 262 

Pension contributions 122 — — — — — 122 

Total $ 214 $ 69 $ 45 $ 130 $ 66 $ 663 $ 1,187 

(aJments due have not been reduced to reflect that the ompanJ held capital trust securities of  principal amount  carrJin8 value.  

(c) Market Risk 

%ar<et ris< is the ris< that the fair value or future cash floHs of a financial instrument and the value of insurance and 
investment contract liabilities Hill fluctuate as a result of chan8es in mar<et factors Hhich include three tJpes currencJ ris< 
interest rate includin8 related inflation ris< and eBuitJ ris<. 


21&,+ ")1"! 1, &0( "+0&1&3&1&"0 
These financial statements include estimates of sensitivities and ris< eIposure measures for certain ris<s such as the sensitivitJ 
due to specific chan8es in interest rate levels pro;ected and mar<et prices as at the valuation date. ctual results can differ 
si8nificantlJ from these estimates for a varietJ of reasons includin8 but not limited to chan8es in the ompanJNs asset or 
liabilitJ profile chan8es in business miI effective income taI rates other mar<et factors differences in the actual eIposure 
relative to broad mar<et indices variation in eIposures bJ 8eo8raphJ and 8eneral limitations of the ompanJNs internal 
models. 

or these reasons the sensitivities should onlJ be vieHed as directional estimates of the underlJin8 sensitivities for the 
respective factors. iven the nature of these calculations the ompanJ cannot provide assurance that the actual impact on 
shareholders net earnin8s Hill be as indicated. 

& 
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urrencJ ris< relates to the ompanJ operatin8 and holdin8 financial instruments in different currencies. or the assets 
bac<in8 insurance and investment contract liabilities that are not matched bJ currencJ chan8es in forei8n eIchan8e rates can 
eIpose the ompanJ to the ris< of forei8n eIchan8e losses not offset bJ liabilitJ decreases. 

Q  1 Hea<enin8 of the anadian dollar a8ainst forei8n currencies Hould be eIpected to increase non	participatin8 
insurance and investment contract liabilities and their supportin8 assets bJ approIimatelJ the same amount resultin8 in 
an immaterial immediate chan8e to net earnin8s.  1 stren8thenin8 of the anadian dollar a8ainst forei8n currencies 
Hould be eIpected to decrease non	participatin8 insurance and investment contract liabilities and their supportin8 assets 
bJ approIimatelJ the same amount resultin8 in an immaterial immediate chan8e in shareholders net earnin8s. 

The ompanJ has net investments in forei8n operations. The ompanJNs debt obli8ations are denominated in anadian 
dollars and euros. !n accordance Hith !*+ forei8n currencJ translation 8ains and losses from net investments in forei8n 
operations net of related hed8in8 activities and taI effects are recorded in accumulated other comprehensive income. 
+tren8thenin8 or Hea<enin8 of the anadian dollar spot rate compared to the -.+. dollar ritish pound and euro spot rates 
impacts the ompanJNs total eBuitJ. orrespondin8lJ the ompanJNs boo< value per share and capital ratios monitored bJ 
ratin8 a8encies are also impacted. 

&& +1"/"01 1" &0( 

!nterest rate ris< eIists if asset and liabilitJ cash floHs are not closelJ matched and interest rates chan8e causin8 a difference in 
the value of assets and the value of liabilities. The folloHin8 policies and procedures are in place to miti8ate the ompanJs 
eIposure to interest rate ris< 

Q !nterest rate ris< is mana8ed bJ investin8 in assets that are suitable for the products sold. 

Q The ompanJ utiliKes a formal process for mana8in8 the matchin8 of assets and liabilities. This involves 8roupin8 8eneral 
fund assets and liabilities into se8ments. ssets in each se8ment are mana8ed in relation to the liabilities in the se8ment. 

Q or products Hith fiIed and hi8hlJ predictable benefit paJments investments are 8enerallJ made in fiIed income assets or 
investment properties Hhose cash floHs closelJ match the liabilitJ product cash floHs. /here assets are not available to 
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match certain period cash floHs such as lon8	tail cash floHs a portion of these are invested in eBuities and other non	fiIed 
income assets Hhile the rest are duration matched. 

Q  ed8in8 instruments are emploJed Hhen there is a lac< of suitable permanent investments or to mana8e the level of loss 
eIposure to interest rate chan8es. 

Q To the eItent asset and liabilitJ cash floHs are matched protection a8ainst interest rate chan8e is achieved and anJ chan8e 
in the fair value of the assets Hill be offset bJ a similar chan8e in the fair value of the liabilities. 

Q or products Hith less predictable timin8 of benefit paJments investments are made in fiIed income assets Hith cash floHs 
of a shorter duration than the anticipated timin8 of benefit paJments or eBuities and other non	fiIed income assets. 

Q The ris< associated Hith the mismatch in portfolio duration and cash floH asset prepaJment eIposure and the pace of 
asset acBuisition are Buantified and revieHed re8ularlJ. 

The impact to shareholders net earnin8s from chan8es in the interest rates Hould be lar8elJ offset bJ chan8es in the value of 
financial assets supportin8 the liabilities.  oHever differences in the interest rate sensitivitJ in the value of assets and the value 
of insurance and investment contract liabilities leads to a sensitivitJ to interest rate movements in shareholders net earnin8s. 

The ompanJNs asset liabilitJ mana8ement strate8J uses eBuities and other non	fiIed income assets as a component of 8eneral 
fund assets supportin8 liabilities Hhich leads to interest rate eIposure in the net earnin8s. urther the classification of 
financial assets such as mort8a8e assets in the -nited #in8dom Hhich are carried at amortiKed cost and held in the 8eneral 
fund assets supportin8 liabilities also contributes to interest rate eIposure in shareholders net earnin8s. 

The impact to shareholders net earnin8s and eBuitJ from an immediate parallel  basis point increase or decrease in interest 
rates is illustrated in the table beloH rounded to the nearest  

C"an!e in ar%et ield Curves 

Increase 0 basis Decrease 0 basis Increase 50 basis ecrease 50 basis 
points interest points interest points interest points interest 

2024 2023 

Shareholders net earnings 150 $ (225) 

Shareholders e>uity 150 (225) 

rates rates rates rates 

$ 100 $ (125) $ 

75 (125) 

The sensitivities above reflect the immediate impacts on shareholders net earnin8s and shareholders eBuitJ from mar<et 
movements. 

ctual impacts of interest rate chan8es Hill varJ dependin8 upon the 8eo8raphJ Hhere the chan8es occur. &et earnin8s are 
positivelJ impacted bJ a parallel increase in interest rates in anada and the -nited #in8dom and are positivelJ impacted bJ a 
parallel decrease in interest rates in the -nited +tates and euroKone. ctual impacts of interest rate chan8es also varJ bJ the 
level of chan8e in interest rates bJ term. Therefore actual impacts from interest rate chan8es maJ differ from the estimated 
impact of parallel movements in all 8eo8raphies Hhich is presented above. 

The potential impact on shareholders net earnin8s of the ompanJ does not ta<e into account anJ future potential chan8es to 
the ompanJs ultimate investment rate -!* assumptions. s at both ecember 1  and ecember 1  the 
sensitivitJ of shareholders net earnin8s of the ompanJ to a 1 basis point increase or decrease in the -!* in all 8eo8raphies 
Hould be an increase of  or a decrease of  post	taI respectivelJ. 

The impact to shareholders net earnin8s and eBuitJ from an immediate parallel  basis point increase or decrease in credit 
spreads is illustrated in the table beloH rounded to the nearest  Hith no chan8e to the ultimate illiBuiditJ premium 

C"an!e in Credit Spreads 

Increase 0 basis Decrease 0 basis Increase 50 basis ecrease 50 basis 
points credit points credit points credit points credit 

2024 2023 

Shareholders net earnings 275 $ (350) 

Shareholders e>uity 350 (450) 

spreads spreads spreads spreads 

$ 225 $ (275) $ 

325 (400) 

The sensitivities above reflect the immediate impacts on shareholders net earnin8s and shareholders eBuitJ from mar<et 
movements. 
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ctual impacts of credit spread chan8es Hill varJ dependin8 on the 8eo8raphies Hhere the chan8es occur and the chan8es in 
credit spreads bJ term.  chan8e in credit spreads maJ also lead to a chan8e in the alloHance for credit ris< Hithin the discount 
rate dependin8 on prevailin8 mar<et and credit conditions at the time anJ potential earnin8s impacts that maJ arise from 
such a chan8e are not reflected in the sensitivities above. 

&&& .2&16 &0( 

BuitJ ris< is the uncertaintJ associated Hith the valuation of assets and liabilities arisin8 from chan8es in eBuitJ mar<ets and 
other pricin8 ris<. To miti8ate this ris< the ompanJ has investment policJ 8uidelines in place that provide for prudent 
investment in eBuitJ mar<ets Hithin clearlJ defined limits. The ris<s associated Hith se8re8ated fund 8uarantees on lifetime 
uaranteed %inimum /ithdraHal enefits have been miti8ated throu8h a hed8in8 pro8ram usin8 eBuitJ futures currencJ 
forHards and interest rate derivatives. 

+ome insurance and investment contract liabilities Hith lon8	tail cash floHs are supported bJ publiclJ traded common stoc<s 
and investments in other non	fiIed income assets primarilJ comprised of investment properties real estate funds private 
stoc<s and eBuitJ release mort8a8es. +hareholders net earnin8s Hill reflect chan8es in the values of non	fiIed income assets. 
 oHever in most cases the value of the liabilities Hill not fluctuate Hith chan8es in the value of the non 	fiIed income assets. 

The liabilities for se8re8ated fund products Hith 8uarantees Hill fluctuate Hith chan8es in the value of the non	fiIed income 
assets. -nder current mar<et conditions there are no earnin8s impacts to the ompanJ on se8re8ated fund business that it 
does not hed8e as chan8es in the cost of 8uarantees are fullJ offset Hithin the +%. or se8re8ated fund business that the 
ompanJ hed8es there is a limited earnin8s impact Hith respect to the chan8e in liabilitJ versus the chan8e in hed8e assets. 

The folloHin8 table provides information on the eIpected impacts of an immediate 1 or  increase or decrease in the 
value of publiclJ traded common stoc<s on the shareholders net earnin8s and eBuitJ rounded to the nearest  

C"an!e in ublicl3 raded Common Stoc% alues 

2024 

20 10 10 20 20 10 10 20 

2023 

Shareholders net 
earnings 150 $ 75 $ (75) $ (150) 

Shareholders 
e>uity 425 200 (200) (425) 

increase increase decrease decrease increase increase decrease decrease 

$ 100 $ 50 $ (50) $ (100) $ 

350 175 (175) (375) 

The sensitivities above reflect the immediate impacts on shareholders net earnin8s and shareholders eBuitJ from mar<et 
movements. 

The folloHin8 table provides information on the eIpected impacts of an immediate  or 1 increase or decrease in the value 
of other non	fiIed income assets on the shareholders net earnin8s and eBuitJ rounded to the nearest  

C"an!e in t"er Non-Fixed Income sset alues 

2024 

10 5 5 10 10   10 

2023 

Shareholders net 
earnings 400 $ 200 $ (200) $ (425) 

Shareholders 
e>uity 425 225 (225) (450) 

increase  increase decrease decrease increase increase decrease decrease 

$ 400 $ 200 $ (225) $ (450) $ 

450 225 (225) (475) 

The sensitivities above reflect the immediate impacts on shareholders net earnin8s and shareholders eBuitJ from mar<et 
movements. 

(d) Enforceable Master Netting Arrangements or Similar Agreements 

The ompanJ enters into !nternational +Haps and erivative ssociations !+s master a8reements for transactin8 over	 
the	counter derivatives. The ompanJ receives and pled8es collateral accordin8 to the related !+s redit +upport nneIes. 
The !+s master a8reements do not meet the criteria for offsettin8 on the onsolidated alance +heets because theJ create a 
ri8ht of set	off that is enforceable onlJ in the event of default insolvencJ or ban<ruptcJ. 

or eIchan8e	traded derivatives sub;ect to derivative clearin8 a8reements Hith the eIchan8es and clearin8houses there is no 
provision for set	off at default. !nitial mar8in is eIcluded from the table Hithin this disclosure as it Hould become part of a 
pooled settlement process. 
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The table sets out the potential effect on the ompanJNs onsolidated alance +heets on financial instruments that have been 
shoHn in a 8ross position Hhere ri8ht of set	off eIists under certain circumstances that do not BualifJ for nettin8 on the 
onsolidated alance +heets. 

financial 
instruments 

presented in the %ffsetting 

Financial instruments - assets 

erivative financial instruments 

Total financial instruments - assets 

Financial instruments - liabilities 

erivative financial instruments 

Total financial instruments - liabilities 

Gross amount of 
financial 

instruments 

Financial instruments - liabilities 

erivative financial instruments $ 1,208 $ 145 

Total financial instruments - liabilities 

erivative financial instruments $ 1,486 $ 2 

presented in the Offsetting 

position 1 received  pledged 2 exposure 

(869) $ (615) $ 

$ 1,486 $ (869) $ (615) $ 2 

(869) $ (194) $ 

$ 1,208 $ (869) $ (194) $ 145 

alance Sheets 
Consolidated counterparty Financial collateral Net 

Financial instruments - assets 

Total financial instruments - assets 

1 !ncludes counterpartJ amounts reco8niKed on the onsolidated alance +heets Hhere the ompanJ has a potential offsettin8 position as described above but does not 
meet the criteria for offsettin8 on the balance sheet eIcludin8 collateral. 

 inancial collateral presented above eIcludes overcollateraliKation and for eIchan8e	traded derivatives initial mar8in. t ecember 1  total financial collateral 
includin8 initial mar8in and overcollateraliKation received on derivative assets Has  11 at ecember 1  and pled8ed on derivative liabilities Has 1 
 at ecember 1 . 

2024 

Related amounts not set-off in the 
Consolidated alance Sheets 

Gross amount of 

Consolidated 
alance Sheets 

counterparty 
position 1 

Financial collateral 
received pledged 2 

Net 
exposure 

$ 1,458 $ (1,082) $ (371) $ 5 

$ 1,458 $ (1,082) $ (371) $ 5 

$ 2,074 $ (1,082) $ (801) $ 191 

$ 2,074 $ (1,082) $ (801) $ 191 

2023 

Related amounts not set-off in the 
Consolidated alance Sheets 
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. air alue easurement 

The ompanJNs assets and liabilities recorded at fair value have been cate8oriKed based upon the folloHin8 fair value hierarchJ 

$evel 1 air value measurements utiliKe observable Buoted prices unad;usted in active mar<ets for identical assets or 
liabilities that the ompanJ has the abilitJ to access. ssets and liabilities utiliKin8 $evel 1 inputs include activelJ eIchan8e	 
traded eBuitJ securities eIchan8e	traded futures and mutual and se8re8ated funds Hhich have available prices in an active 
mar<et Hith no redemption restrictions. 

$evel  air value measurements utiliKe inputs other than Buoted prices included in $evel 1 that are observable for the asset or 
liabilitJ either directlJ or indirectlJ. $evel  inputs include Buoted prices for similar assets and liabilities in active mar<ets and 
inputs other than Buoted prices that are observable for the asset or liabilitJ such as interest rates and Jield curves that are 
observable at commonlJ Buoted intervals. $evel  assets and liabilities include those priced usin8 a matriI Hhich is based on 
credit BualitJ and avera8e life 8overnment and a8encJ securities restricted stoc< some private bonds and investment funds 
most investment	8rade and hi8h	Jield corporate bonds most asset	bac<ed securities most over	the	counter derivatives and 
mort8a8e loans. !nvestment contracts that are measured at .T($ are mostlJ included in the $evel  cate8orJ. 

$evel  air value measurements utiliKe one or more si8nificant inputs that are not based on observable mar<et inputs and 
include situations Hhere there is little if anJ mar<et activitJ for the asset or liabilitJ. The values of the ma;oritJ of $evel  
securities Here obtained from sin8le bro<er Buotes internal pricin8 models or eIternal appraisers. ssets and liabilities 
utiliKin8 $evel  inputs 8enerallJ include certain bonds certain asset	bac<ed securities some private eBuities investments in 
mutual and se8re8ated funds Hhere there are redemption restrictions certain over	the	counter derivatives investment 
properties and eBuitJ release mort8a8es. 

The folloHin8 presents the ompanJNs assets and liabilities measured at fair value on a recurrin8 basis bJ hierarchJ level 

2024 2023 

Assets measured at fair value "evel 1 "evel 2 "evel  Total #evel 1 #evel 2 #evel 3 Total 

Cash and cash e?uivalents $ 4,522 $ — $ — $ 4,522 $ 3,944 $ — $ — $ 3,944 

Financial assets at F,TP# 

onds — 90,611 178 90,789 — 82,360 252 82,612 

Mortgage loans — 15,842 4,818 20,660 — 15,818 4,203 20,021 

Stocks 

Total financial assets at F,TP# 

10,669 — 3,286 13,955 10,487 — 2,406 12,893 

115,526 6,861 98,178 10,487 125,404 8,282 106,453 10,669 

Financial assets at F,OCI 

onds — 9,980 — 9,980 — 9,206 — 9,206 

Mortgage loans — 7 — 7 — 6 — 6 

Total financial assets at F,OCI — 9,987 — 9,987 — 9,212 — 9,212 

Investment properties — — 8,235 8,235 — — 7,849 7,849 

erivatives 1 1 1,457 — 1,458 1 1,485 — 1,486 

Other assets - trading account assets 161 — — 161 160 — — 160 

Total assets measured at fair value $ 15,353 $ 117,897 $ 16,517 $ 149,767 $ 14,592 $ 108,875 $ 14,710 $ 138,177 

"iabilities measured at fair value 

Mortgage on investment property $ — $ 54 $ — $ 54 $ — $ — $ — $ — 

erivatives 2 — 2,074 — 2,074 5 1,203 — 1,208 

Investment contract liabilities — 4,687 — 4,687 — 4,953 — 4,953 

Total liabilities measured at fair value $ — $ 6,815 $ — $ 6,815 $ 5 $ 6,156 $ — $ 6,161 

1 Icludes collateral received from counterparties of  at ecember 1   at ecember 1 . 
 Icludes collateral pled8ed to counterparties of  at ecember 1   at ecember 1 . 

There Here no transfers of the ompanJs assets and liabilities betHeen $evel 1 and $evel  durin8 the Jears ended ecember 
1  and ecember 1 . 
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The folloHin8 presents additional information about assets and liabilities measured at fair value on a recurrin8 basis and for 
Hhich the ompanJ has utiliKed $evel  inputs to determine fair value 

2024 

F+TP" Total 
F+TP" 
bonds 

mortgage 
loans 

F+TP" 
stocks  

Investment "evel  

alance, beginning of year $ 252 $ 4,203 $ 2,406 $ 7,849 $ 14,710 

Total gains (losses) 

Included in net earnings 

Included in other comprehensive income 1 

7 

— 

200 

153 

440 

— 

(153) 

264 

494 

417 

Purchases 29 — 626 618 1,273 

Issues — 481 — — 481 

Sales (27) — (186) (334) (547) 

Settlements — (219) — — (219) 

Transferred to owner occupied properties 

Transfers into #evel 3 2 

— 

— 

— 

— 

— 

— 

(9) 

— 

(9) 

— 

Transfers out of #evel 3 2 — — — 

alance, end of year 

Total gains (losses) for the year included in net 
investment income 

Change in unrealiGed gains (losses) for the year 
included in earnings for assets held at December 1, 
2024 

properties assets 

(83) (83) 

$ 178 $ 4,818 $ 3,286 $ 8,235 $ 16,517 

$ 7 $ 200 $ 440 $ (153) $ 494 

$ 7 $ 191 $ 440 $ (165) $ 473 

2023 

F,TP# Total 
F,TP# mortgage F,TP# Investment #evel 3 

properties assets stocks loans bonds 3 

alance, beginning of year $ 195 $ 3,371 $ 2,050 $ 8,315 $ 13,931 

Total gains (losses) 

Included in net earnings 6 345 105 (503) (47) 

Included in other comprehensive income 1 — 52 — 52 104 

Purchases 68 — 517 191 776 

Issues — 569 — — 569 

Sales (17) — (266) (206) (489) 

Settlements — (134) — — (134) 

Transfers into #evel 3 2 — — — — — 

Transfers out of #evel 3 2 

$ 252 $ 4,203 $ 2,406 $ 7,849 $ 14,710 

$ 6 $ 345 $ 105 $ (503) $ (47) 

$ 6 $ 334 $ 105 $ (499) $ (54) 

— — — — — 

alance, end of year 

Total gains (losses) for the year included in net       
investment result 

Change in unrealized gains (losses) for the year included in 
earnings for assets held at ecember 31, 2023 

1 mount of other comprehensive income for .T($ bonds mort8a8e loans and investment properties represents the unrealiKed 8ains losses on forei8n eIchan8e. 
 Transfers into $evel  are due primarilJ to decreased observabilitJ of inputs in valuation methodolo8ies or the placement of redemption restrictions on investments in 
mutual and se8re8ated funds. Transfers out of $evel  are due primarilJ to increased observabilitJ of inputs in valuation methodolo8ies as evidenced bJ corroboration of 
mar<et prices Hith multiple pricin8 vendors or the liftin8 of redemption restrictions on investments in mutual and se8re8ated funds. 

 !ncludes investments in mutual and se8re8ated funds Hhere there are redemption restrictions. The fair value is based on observable Buoted prices. 
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A decrease in the discount rate ,arious iscount rate Stocks 

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements 

The folloHin8 sets out information about si8nificant unobservable inputs used at Jear	end in measurin8 assets and liabilities 
cate8oriKed as $evel  in the fair value hierarchJ 

Type of asset +aluation approach 
Significant 
unobservable input Input value 

Inter-relationship betDeen 
key unobservable inputs 
and fair value measurement 

Investment Investment property valuations are 
generally determined using 
property valuation models based on 
expected capitalization rates and 
models that discount expected 
future net cash flows
 The 
determination of the fair value of 
investment property re?uires the 
use of estimates such as future cash 
flows (such as future leasing 
assumptions, rental rates, capital 
and operating expenditures) and 
discount, reversionary and overall 
capitalization rates applicable to the 
asset based on current market 
rates
 

iscount rate Range of 4 
2 - 12 
6 A decrease in the discount rate 

Reversionary rate Range of 4 
3 - 8 
0 

,acancy rate -eighted average of 5 
5 

Mortgage loans - The valuation approach for e?uity 
release mortgages is to use an 
internal valuation model to 
determine the projected asset cash 
flows, including the cost of the no 
negative e?uity guarantee for each 
individual loan, to aggregate these 
across all loans and to discount 
those cash flows back to the 
valuation date
 The projection is 
done monthly until expected 
redemption of the loan either 
voluntarily or on the death entering 
into long term care of the 
loanholders
 

The determination of the fair value 
of stocks re?uires the use of 
estimates such as future cash flows, 
discount rates, projected earnings 
multiples, or recent transactions
 

would result in an increase in 
fair value
 
An increase in the discount 
rate would result in a decrease 
in fair value
 

properties 

e?uity release 
mortgages (F,TP#) 

iscount rate Range of 4 
7 - 6 
5 A decrease in the discount rate 

would result in an increase in 
fair value
 An increase in the 
discount rate would result in a 
decrease in fair value
 

A decrease in the reversionary 
rate would result in an 
increase in fair value
 An 
increase in the reversionary 
rate would result in a decrease 
in fair value
 

A decrease in the expected 
vacancy rate would generally 
result in an increase in fair 
value
 An increase in the 
expected vacancy rate would 
generally result in a decrease 
in fair value
 

would result in an increase in 
fair value
 An increase in the 
discount rate would result in a 
decrease in fair value
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The folloHin8 presents the ompanJNs assets and liabilities disclosed at fair value on a recurrin8 basis bJ hierarchJ level 

2024 

%ther assets 
 
liabilities not 
held at fair 

Assets disclosed at fair value 

"evel 1 "evel 2 "evel  value Total 

Financial assets at amortized cost 

onds $ — $ — $ — $ 94 $ 94 

Mortgage loans 

Total financial assets at amortized cost 

Other stocks 1 

$ 421 $ 4,193 $ — $ 526 $ 5,140 

853 432 421 — — 

— 4,193 — — 4,193 

— 4,193 — 94 4,287 

Total assets disclosed at fair value 

"iabilities disclosed at fair value 

ebentures and other debt instruments 

Total liabilities disclosed at fair value 

$ — $ 289 $ — $ 498 $ 787 

$ — $ 289 $ — $ 498 $ 787 

2023 

Other assets  
liabilities not 
held at fair 

Assets disclosed at fair value 

#evel 1 #evel 2 #evel 3 value Total 

Financial assets at amortized cost 

onds $ — $ — $ — $ 86 $ 86 

Mortgage loans 

Total financial assets at amortized cost 

Other stocks 1 

$ 321 $ 3,923 $ — $ 395 $ 4,639 

630 309 321 — — 

Total assets disclosed at fair value 

— 3,923 — — 3,923 

— 3,923 — 86 4,009 

#iabilities disclosed at fair value 

ebentures and other debt instruments 

Total liabilities disclosed at fair value 

$ — $ 288 $ — $ 492 $ 780 

$ — $ 288 $ — $ 492 $ 780 

'ther stoc<s include the ompanJs investment in !% and other related parties. 

The Canada Life Assurance Company 2024 Annual Report 53 



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements 

9. ood5ill and Intangible Assets 

(a) GoodDill 

& %" 
//6&+$ )2" +! 
%+$"0 &+ 1%" 
//6&+$ )2" ,# ,,!4&)) /" 0 ,)),40 

10 

$ 7,107 

— 

36 

(4) 

(299) 

27 

$ 6,867 $ 7,107 

$ (35) $ 

2023 2024 

Cost 

$ 6,407 

usiness ac?uisitions 

alance, beginning of year 

702 

Purchase price allocation adjustments (1) 

isposals — 

Allocated to intangible assets (11) 

Changes in foreign exchange rates 

alance, end of year 

Accumulated impairment 

alance, beginning of year (35) 

isposals 2 — 

Impairment (7) 

$ (40) $ (35) 

$ 6,827 $ 7,072 

— 

alance, beginning and end of year 

Net carrying amount 

&& ,,!4&)) %0 	""+ 00&$+"! 1, 
0% "+"/1&+$ +&1 /,2-&+$0 0 ,)),40 

Canada 

2024 2023 

Group Customer $ 1,471 $ 1,471 

Individual Customer 2,964 3,236 

Europe 

Total 

2,392 2,365 

$ 6,827 $ 7,072 

(b) Intangible Assets 

!ntan8ible assets of   as at ecember 1  include indefinite life and finite life intan8ible assets. The carrJin8 
value and chan8es in the carrJin8 value of these intan8ible assets are as folloHs 

& +!"#&+&1" &#" +1+$&)" 00"10 

2024 2023 

Shareholders Shareholders 
portion of portion of 
ac>uired ac?uired 

Customer future Customer future 
rands and contract participating rands and contract participating 

alance, beginning of year $ 521 $ 410 $ 354 $ 1,285 $ 517 $ 384 $ 354 $ 1,255 

Additions  — 135 — 135 — 26 — 26 

Changes in foreign exchange 

trademarks related account profit Total trademarks related account profit Total 

Cost 

rates 9 — — 9 4 — — 4 

alance, end of year $ 530 $ 545 $ 354 $ 1,429 $ 521 $ 410 $ 354 $ 1,285 

Accumulated impairment 

alance, beginning of year $ (35) $ — $ — $ (35) $ (34) $ — $ — $ (34) 

Changes in foreign exchange 
rates — — — — — — 

alance, end of year 

Net carrying amount 

(1) (1) 

$ (35) $ — $ — $ (35) $ (35) $ — $ — $ (35) 

$ 495 $ 545 $ 354 $ 1,394 $ 486 $ 410 $ 354 $ 1,250 
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&& +!"#&+&1" &#" +1+$&)" 00"10 3" 	""+ 00&$+"! 1, 
0% "+"/1&+$ +&1 /,2-&+$0 0 ,)),40 

Canada 

Group Customer $ 529 $ 354 

Individual Customer 609 649 

2024 2023 

Europe 

Total 

256 247 

$ 1,394 $ 1,250 

&&& &+&1" &#" +1+$&)" 00"10 

Amortization period range 

Amortization method 

Cost 

alance, beginning of year 

Additions 

Changes in foreign exchange rates 

isposals 

alance, end of year 

Accumulated amortization and impairment 

alance, beginning of year 

Changes in foreign exchange rates 

isposals 

Impairment 

Amortization 

alance, end of year 

Net carrying amount 

Amortization period range 

Amortization method 

Cost 

alance, beginning of year 

Additions 

Changes in foreign exchange rates 

isposals 

alance, end of year 

Accumulated amortization and impairment 

alance, beginning of year 

Changes in foreign exchange rates 

Amortization 

alance, end of year 

Net carrying amount 

2024 

Customer contract Distribution Technology and 
related channels softDare Total 

7 - 30 years 30 years 3 - 10 years 

Straight-line Straight-line Straight-line 

$ 945 $ 107 $ 1,818 $ 2,870 

211 — 205 416 

9 4 17 30 

(5) (8) (13) 

$ 1,160 $ 111 $ 2,032 $ 3,303 

— 

$ (564) $ (73) $ (999) $ (1,636) 

(11) (3) (7) (21) 

5 — 8 13 

(2) — — (2) 

$ 543 $ 32 $ 897 $ 1,472 

(45) (3) (137) (185) 

$ (617) $ (79) $ (1,135) $ (1,831) 

2023 

Customer contract istribution Technology and 
related channels software Total 

7 - 30 years 30 years 3 - 10 years 

Straight-line Straight-line Straight-line 

$ 912 $ 105 $ 1,704 $ 2,721 

29 — 196 225 

4 2 7 13 

(89) (89) 

$ 945 $ 107 $ 1,818 $ 2,870 

— — 

$ (524) $ (68) $ (880) $ (1,472) 

(1) (1) (2) (4) 

$ (564) $ (73) $ (999) $ (1,636) 

$ 381 $ 34 $ 819 $ 1,234 

(39) (4) (117) (160) 

urin8  the ompanJ recorded an impairment loss of  on softHare assets in the -nited #in8dom Hhich is presented 
Hithin operatin8 and administrative eIpenses in the onsolidated +tatements of arnin8s. 
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The Hei8hted avera8e remainin8 amortiKation period of the customer contract related and distribution channels are 1 and  
Jears respectivelJ 1 and 1 Jears respectivelJ at ecember 1 . 

(c) Recoverable Amount 

or the purposes of annual impairment testin8 the ompanJ allocates intan8ible assets to cash 8eneratin8 units and 8oodHill 
to cash 8eneratin8 unit 8roupin8s. nJ potential impairment of indefinite life intan8ible assets is identified bJ comparin8 the 
recoverable amount of a cash 8eneratin8 unit to its carrJin8 value. nJ potential impairment of 8oodHill is identified bJ 
comparin8 the recoverable amount of a cash 8eneratin8 unit 8roupin8 to its carrJin8 value. 

air value is initiallJ assessed Hith reference to valuation multiples of comparable publiclJ	traded financial institutions and 
precedent business acBuisition transactions. The calculations utiliKe earnin8s and cash floH pro;ections based on financial 
bud8ets approved bJ mana8ement. These valuation multiples maJ include price	to	earnin8s or price	to	boo< measures for life 
insurers and asset mana8ers. This assessment maJ 8ive re8ard to a varietJ of relevant considerations includin8 eIpected 
8roHth ris< and capital mar<et conditions amon8 other factors. The valuation multiples used in assessin8 fair value represent 
$evel  inputs. 

!n the fourth Buarter of  the ompanJ conducted its annual impairment testin8 of intan8ible assets and 8oodHill based on 
+eptember   asset balances. !t Has determined that the recoverable amounts of cash 8eneratin8 units for intan8ible 
assets and cash 8eneratin8 unit 8roupin8s for 8oodHill Here in eIcess of their carrJin8 values and there Has no evidence of 
impairment. 

nJ reasonable chan8es in assumptions and estimates used in determinin8 recoverable amounts of cash 8eneratin8 units or 
cash 8eneratin8 unit 8roupin8s is unli<elJ to cause carrJin8 values to eIceed recoverable amounts. 

10. 5ner ccupied Properties and i6ed Assets 

The carrJin8 value of oHner occupied properties and the chan8es in the carrJin8 value of oHner occupied properties are as 
folloHs 

2024 2023 

Carrying value, beginning of year $ 709 $ 682 

#ess accumulated depreciation impairments 

Net carrying value, beginning of year 

(165) (150) 

544 532 

Additions 52 26 

Impairment (3) — 

Transferred from investment properties 9 — 

epreciation (16) (15) 

Foreign exchange 

Net carrying value, end of year 

3 1 

$ 589 $ 544 

The net carrJin8 value of fiIed assets is  at ecember 1   at ecember 1 . 

There are no restrictions on the title of the oHner occupied properties and fiIed assets nor are theJ pled8ed as securitJ for debt. 

11. ther Assets 

2024 2023 

eferred ac?uisition costs $ 476 $ 453 

Right-of-use assets 187 202 

Finance leases receivable 926 668 

efined benefit pension plan assets (note 26) 493 365 

Trading account assets 161 160 

Prepaid expenses 117 123 

Miscellaneous other assets 

$ 2,647 $ 2,344 

373 287 

Total 

Total other assets of   at ecember 1  are eIpected to be dereco8niKed Hithin 1 months from the reportin8 
date. This amount eIcludes deferred acBuisition costs the chan8es in Hhich are noted beloH. 
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Deferred Ac>uisition Costs 

2024 2023 

alance, beginning of year $ 453 $ 526 

Additions 85 66 

Amortization (48) (49) 

Changes in foreign exchange rates 12 5 

isposals 

alance, end of year 

(26) (95) 

$ 476 $ 453 

12. Insurance evenue 

2024 2023 

Contracts not measured under the premium allocation approach (PAA) 

Amounts relating to changes in liabilities for remaining coverage 

Experience adjustments $ (99) $ (117) 

CSM recognized for services provided 1,212 1,166 

Change in risk adjustment for non-financial risk for risk expired 616 602 

Expected incurred claims and other insurance service expenses 9,417 9,042 

Recovery of insurance ac?uisition cash flows 588 556 

11,734 11,249 

Contracts measured under the PAA 9,273 8,939 

Total insurance revenue $ 21,007 $ 20,188 

13. Insurance Service and ther perating 6penses 

Allocation of premium directly to recovery of insurance ac?uisition cash flows 748 702 

Adjustments to the liability for incurred claims (772) (625) 

#osses and reversal of losses on onerous insurance contracts 50 60 

Salaries and other employee benefits 1,977 1,890 

General and administrative 1,122 995 

Interest expense on leases 6 6 

epreciation of fixed assets 62 65 

epreciation of right-of-use assets 36 35 

Commissions 

Total expenses 

Represented by 

Insurance service expenses $ 16,165 $ 15,622 

Other operating and administrative expenses 

Total expenses 

1,579 1,301 

$ 19,253 $ 18,257 

3,088 2,635 

$ 19,253 $ 18,257 

2024 2023 

Claims and benefits incurred $ 14,445 $ 13,828 
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1. Insurance Contracts 

(a) Analysis by Remaining Coverage and Incurred Claims 

Insurance contracts 2024 

"iability for remaining 

Opening assets 

Opening liabilities 
Opening liabilities on account of segregated fund 

policyholders 

Net opening balance 
Changes in the Consolidated Statements of 

Earnings and Comprehensive Income 

Insurance revenue 

Insurance service expenses 

Incurred claims and other insurance service expenses 

Amortization of insurance ac?uisition cash flows 

#osses and reversal of losses on onerous contracts 

Adjustments to liabilities for incurred claims 

Investment components 

Total changes in insurance service result 
Net finance (income) expenses from insurance 

contracts 

Effect of movement in exchange rates 
Total changes in the Consolidated Statements of 

Earnings and Comprehensive Income 

Cash floDs 

Premiums received 
Incurred claims paid and other insurance service 

expenses paid 

Insurance ac?uisition cash flows 
Insurance ac?uisition cash flows transferred from 

the asset for insurance ac?uisition cash flows at 
initial recognition 

Other cash flows 1 

Total cash floDs 

Asset for ac>uisition cash floDs 

Insurance ac?uisition cash flows paid in the period 
Insurance ac?uisition cash flows allocated to groups 

of insurance contracts recognized in the period 

Total changes in asset for ac>uisition cash floDs 

Other movements 2 

Net closing balance  

Recorded in 

Closing assets 

Closing liabilities 
Closing liabilities on account of segregated fund 

policyholders 

Net closing balance  

coverage "iability for incurred claims 

Contracts under PAA 

Excluding 
loss 

component 
"oss 

component 

Contracts 
not under 

PAA 

Estimates 
of present 
value of 
future 

cash floDs 

Risk 
ad7ustment 
for non-
financial 

risk 

Asset for 
ac>uisition 
cash floDs Total 

$ (1,730) $ — $ 831 $ (3) $ — $ — $ (902) 

112,684 247 2,799 13,578 555 (174) 129,689 

47,410 — — — — — 47,410 

158,364 247 3,630 13,575 555 (174) 176,197 

(21,007) — — — — — (21,007)

— (20) 9,489 6,615 55 — 16,139 

748 — — — — — 748 

— 50 — — — — 50 

— — (16) (689) (67) — (772) 

748 30 9,473 5,926 (12) — 16,165 

(9,626) — 6,571 3,055 — — — 

(29,885) 30 16,044 8,981 (12) — (4,842) 

7,176 1 4,980 505 17 — 12,679 

2,619 4 76 188 9 — 2,896 

(20,090) 35 21,100 9,674 14 — 10,733 

35,103 — — — — — 35,103 

(51) — (21,046) (9,356) — — (30,453) 

(879) — — — — — (879) 

(34) — — — — — (34) 

807 — — — — — 807 

34,946 — (21,046) (9,356) — — 4,544 

— — — — — (41) (41) 

— — — — — 34 34 

— — — — — (7) (7) 

(81) — — — — — (81) 

$ 173,139 $ 282 $ 3,684 $ 13,893 $ 569 $ (181) $ 191,386 

$ (1,078) $ 3 $ 190 $ 27 $ — $ — $ (858) 

122,283 279 3,494 13,866 569 (181) 140,310 

51,934 — — — — — 51,934 

$ 173,139 $ 282 $ 3,684 $ 13,893 $ 569 $ (181) $ 191,386 

1 'ther cash floHs includes transfer tofrom se8re8ated funds premiums to be settled via fundin8 component balance  claims to be settled via  net settlements 
and other cash floHs from policJ loans. 

 'ther movements represent chan8es in the eIpected fulfillment cash floHs on certain reinsurance contracts held Hhere the ompanJ has no continuin8 involvement 
other than eIposure to the remote insolvencJ ris< of the reinsurer. This movement is offset bJ movement in associated reinsurance assets. 

 !ncluded in the insurance contract balances are loans to policJholders of 1 and funds Hithheld of . 
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Insurance contracts 

Opening assets 

Opening liabilities 
Opening liabilities on account of segregated fund 

policyholders 

Net opening balance 
Changes in the Consolidated Statements of Earnings 

and Comprehensive Income 

Insurance revenue 

Insurance service expenses 

Incurred claims and other insurance service expenses 

Amortization of insurance ac?uisition cash flows 

#osses and reversal of losses on onerous contracts 

Adjustments to liabilities for incurred claims 

Investment components 

Total changes in insurance service result 
Net finance (income) expenses from insurance 

contracts 

Effect of movement in exchange rates 
Total changes in the Consolidated Statements of 

Earnings and Comprehensive Income 

Cash flows 

Premiums received 
Incurred claims paid and other insurance service 

expenses paid 

Insurance ac?uisition cash flows 
Insurance ac?uisition cash flows transferred from 

the asset for insurance ac?uisition cash flows at 
initial recognition 

Other cash flows 1 

Total cash flows 

Asset for ac?uisition cash flows 

Insurance ac?uisition cash flows paid in the period 
Insurance ac?uisition cash flows allocated to groups 

of insurance contracts recognized in the period 

Total changes in asset for ac?uisition cash flows 

Other movements 2 

Net closing balance 3 

Recorded in 

Closing assets 

Closing liabilities 
Closing liabilities on account of segregated fund 

policyholders 

Net closing balance 3 

2023 
#iability for remaining 

coverage #iability for incurred claims 

Contracts under PAA 

Excluding 
loss 

component 
#oss 

component 

Contracts 
not under 

PAA 

Estimates 
of present 
value of 

future cash 
flows 

Risk 
adjustment 

for non-
financial 

risk 

Asset for 
ac?uisition 
cash flows Total 

$ (1,021) $ 2 $ 197 $ (64) $ — $ — $ (886) 

103,721 195 3,219 12,994 545 (171) 120,503 

45,409 — — — — — 45,409 

148,109 197 3,416 12,930 545 (171) 165,026 

(20,188) — — — — — (20,188)

— (21) 9,157 6,250 99 — 15,485 

702 — — — — — 702 

— 60 — — — — 60 

— — (47) (455) (123) — (625) 

702 39 9,110 5,795 (24) — 15,622 

(9,071) — 6,179 2,892 — — — 

(28,557) 39 15,289 8,687 (24) — (4,566) 

8,414 11 4,673 709 31 — 13,838 

524 — 7 72 3 — 606 

(19,619) 50 19,969 9,468 10 — 9,878 

30,553 — — — — — 30,553 

(53) — (19,755) (8,823) — — (28,631) 

(865) — — — — — (865) 

(32) — — — — — (32) 

568 — — — — — 568 

30,171 — (19,755) (8,823) — — 1,593 

— — — — — (35) (35) 

— — — — — 32 32 

— — — — — (3) (3) 

(297) — — — — — (297) 

$ 158,364 $ 247 $ 3,630 $ 13,575 $ 555 $ (174) $ 176,197 

$ (1,730) $ — $ 831 $ (3) $ — $ — $ (902) 

112,684 247 2,799 13,578 555 (174) 129,689 

47,410 — — — — — 47,410 

$ 158,364 $ 247 $ 3,630 $ 13,575 $ 555 $ (174) $ 176,197 

1 'ther cash floHs includes transfer tofrom se8re8ated funds premiums to be settled via  claims to be settled via  net settlements and other cash floHs from 
policJ loans. 

 'ther movements represent chan8es in the eIpected fulfillment cash floHs on certain reinsurance contracts held Hhere the ompanJ has no continuin8 involvement 
other than eIposure to the remote insolvencJ ris< of the reinsurer. This movement is offset bJ movement in associated reinsurance assets. 

 !ncluded in the insurance contract balances are loans to policJholders of  and funds Hithheld of . 

The Canada Life Assurance Company 2024 Annual Report 59 



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements 

(b) Analysis by Measurement Component for Insurance Contracts not Measured *nder PAA 

Estimates of Risk 
present value ad7ustment 
of future cash for non-

Insurance contracts 2024 

floDs financial risk CSM Total 

$ (5,996) $ 1,638 $ 3,539 $ (819) Opening assets 

Opening liabilities 101,350 5,256 9,809 116,415 

Opening liabilities on account of segregated fund policyholders 47,410 47,410 

142,764 6,894 13,348 163,006 

— — 

Net opening balance 
Changes in the Consolidated Statements of Earnings and 

Comprehensive Income 

Changes that relate to current service 

CSM recognized for services provided — — (1,212) (1,212) 

Change in risk adjustment for non-financial risk for risk expired — (619) — (619) 

Experience adjustments 151 1 — 152 

Changes that relate to future service 

Contracts initially recognized in the year (1,229) 330 913 14 

Changes in estimates that adjust the CSM (268) (277) 545 — 
Changes in estimates that result in losses and reversal of losses on onerous 

contacts 26 11 — 37 

Changes that relate to past service 

Adjustment to liabilities for incurred claims (16) (16) 

246 (554) (1,336) (1,644) 

— — 

Total changes in insurance service result 

Net finance (income) expenses from insurance contracts 11,908 73 179 12,160 

Effect of movement in exchange rates 2,194 2,699 

12,766 (286) 735 13,215 

195 310 
Total changes in the Consolidated Statements of Earnings and 

Comprehensive Income 

Cash floDs 

Total cash floDs 1,681 1,681 

Other movements 2 — — 

Premiums received 22,661 — — 22,661 

Incurred claims paid and other insurance service expenses paid (21,096) — — (21,096) 

Insurance ac?uisition cash flows (750) — — (750) 

Other cash flows 1 

— — 

(81) (81) 

$ 157,130 $ 6,608 $ 14,083 $ 177,821 

866 866 — — 

Net closing balance 

Recorded in 

Closing assets $ (3,800) $ 571 $ 2,423 $ (806) 

Closing liabilities 108,996 6,037 11,660 126,693 

Closing liabilities on account of segregated fund policyholders 51,934 51,934 

$ 157,130 $ 6,608 $ 14,083 $ 177,821 

— — 

Net closing balance 

1 'ther cash floHs includes transfer tofrom se8re8ated funds premiums to be settled via  claims to be settled via  net settlements and other cash floHs from 
policJ loans. 

 'ther movements represent chan8es in the eIpected fulfillment cash floHs on certain reinsurance contracts held Hhere the ompanJ has no continuin8 involvement 
other than eIposure to the remote insolvencJ ris< of the reinsurer. This movement is offset bJ movement in associated reinsurance assets. 
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Insurance contracts 2023 

Estimates of Risk 
present value of adjustment for 

future cash non-financial 
flows risk CSM Total 

$ (3,710) $ 498 $ 2,485 $ (727) Opening assets 

Opening liabilities 90,712 5,918 11,108 107,738 

Opening liabilities on account of segregated fund policyholders 45,409 45,409 

132,411 6,416 13,593 152,420 

— — 

Net opening balance 
Changes in the Consolidated Statements of Earnings and Comprehensive 

Income 

Changes that relate to current service 

CSM recognized for services provided — — (1,166) (1,166) 

Change in risk adjustment for non-financial risk for risk expired — (605) — (605) 

Experience adjustments 212 1 — 213 

Changes that relate to future service 

Contracts initially recognized in the year (1,037) 358 688 9 

Changes in estimates that adjust the CSM (88) 96 (8) — 
Changes in estimates that result in losses and reversal of losses on onerous 

contacts 53 15 — 68 

Changes that relate to past service 

Adjustment to liabilities for incurred claims (45) (2) (47) 

(137) (905) (1,528) (486) 

— 

Total changes in insurance service result 

Net finance (income) expenses from insurance contracts 12,363 583 153 13,099 

Effect of movement in exchange rates 
Total changes in the Consolidated Statements of Earnings and Comprehensive 

Income 11,863 478 (245) 12,096 

Cash flows 

Premiums received 18,790 — — 18,790 

Incurred claims paid and other insurance service expenses paid (19,806) — — (19,806) 

Insurance ac?uisition cash flows (755) — — (755) 

Other cash flows 1 558 558 

— — 

(297) (297) 

$ 142,764 $ 6,894 $ 13,348 $ 163,006 

(1,213) (1,213) 

— — 

Total cash flows 

Other movements 2 I — 

Net closing balance 

Recorded in 

Closing assets $ (5,996) $ 1,638 $ 3,539 $ (819) 

Closing liabilities 101,350 5,256 9,809 116,415 

Closing liabilities on account of segregated fund policyholders 47,410 47,410 

$ 142,764 $ 6,894 $ 13,348 $ 163,006 

— — 

Net closing balance 

1 'ther cash floHs includes transfer tofrom se8re8ated funds premiums to be settled via  claims to be settled via  net settlements and other cash floHs from 
policJ loans. 

 'ther movements represent chan8es in the eIpected fulfillment cash floHs on certain reinsurance contracts held Hhere the ompanJ has no continuin8 involvement 
other than eIposure to the remote insolvencJ ris< of the reinsurer. This movement is offset bJ movement in associated reinsurance assets. 

405 32 88 525 
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(c) CSM and Insurance Revenue by Transition Approach 

CSM movement by transition approach 

Insurance contracts under fair value approach 

CSM balance, beginning of year $ 9,175 $ 10,038 

Change related to current service provided 

2024 2023 

CSM recognized for services provided (824) (866) 

Changes that relate to future service 

Changes in estimates that adjust the CSM 

Total changes in insurance service result 

Net finance expenses from insurance contracts 62 70 

Effect of movement in exchange rates 

(581) (863) 

$ 8,594 $ 9,175 

45 138 

43 (112) 

(781) (978) 

Total change 

CSM balance, end of year 

%ther insurance contracts 

CSM balance, beginning of year $ 4,173 $ 3,555 

Change related to current service provided 

CSM recognized for services provided (388) (300) 

Changes that relate to future service 

Contracts initially recognized in the year 913 688 

Changes in estimates that adjust the CSM 

Total changes in insurance service result 

Net finance expenses from insurance contracts 117 83 

Effect of movement in exchange rates 

502 104 

1,027 492 

Total change 

CSM balance, end of year 

Net CSM balance, end of year 

Insurance revenue 

2024 2023

Insurance revenue for contracts under fair value approach $ 8,360 $ 8,313 

Insurance revenue for contracts under other approaches 

Total insurance revenue 

12,647 11,875 

$ 21,007 $ 20,188 

-pon transition !*+ 1 reBuired an entitJ to applJ the standard retrospectivelJ unless impracticable. The ompanJ 
performed a cut	off date assessment bJ re8ion and product to determine the contracts to Hhich the full retrospective 
approach can be applied. The ompanJ applied the full retrospective approach to all identified insurance contracts unless it 
Has impracticable Hhere reasonable and supportable information necessarJ to complete the full retrospective approach Has 
not available. 

The ompanJ applied the fair value approach to contracts Hhere it Has impracticable to applJ the full retrospective approach. 
The fair value approach calculates the +% or loss component of the liabilitJ for remainin8 covera8e as the difference betHeen 
the fair value of a 8roup of insurance contracts at the date of transition and the fulfillment cash floHs measured at that date. 

The ompanJ used an embedded value approach to determine the fair value Hithin the fair value approach. -nder the 
embedded value approach the fair value is measured as the third partJNs present value of fulfillment cash floHs plus future 
costs of capital less anJ future profits. The cost of capital Has measured as the total reBuired capital multiplied bJ a hurdle 
rate and the future profits are driven bJ the release of ris< ad;ustment and investment income on reBuired capital. The 
development of the assumptions Here based on a combination of publiclJ available industrJ data historic economic data and 
the ompanJNs oHn vieH of assumptions Hhen the eIternal data sources Here not available. 

172 43 

1,316 618 

$ 5,489 $ 4,173 

$ 14,083 $ 13,348 
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(d) Composition of Insurance Contract "iabilities and Related Supporting Assets 

& %" 
,*-,0&1&,+ ,# 1%" +02/+ " +! "&+02/+ " 
,+1/ 1 00"10 +! &&)&1&"0 0 4")) 0 +3"01*"+1 

,+1/ 1 &&)&1&"0 &0 0 ,)),40 

Non-Participating 

Canada 434 1,216 31,309 3,698 283 

Europe 353 3,746 41,944 330 313 

Capital and Risk Solutions 71 119 6,808 659 32 

Corporate — — — 

2024 

$ 

1,463 1,519 

$ 858 $ 6,544 140,310 $ 4,687 $ 628 $ 

Insurance 
Reinsurance Reinsurance 

Insurance contract contract held  contract Investment contract held 

Participating 

Canada $ — $ — 55,941 $ — $ — 

Europe — — 122 — — 

Capital and Risk Solutions — — 678 — — 

Corporate — — 1,989 — — 

assets assets liabilities contract liabilities liabilities 

Total 

Non-Participating 

Canada 400 1,243 30,956 3,931 208 

Europe 331 3,713 39,266 341 250 

Capital and Risk Solutions 171 151 4,793 681 17 

Corporate — — — 

2023 

$ 

1,439 1,480 

$ 902 $ 6,546 129,689 $ 4,953 $ 475 $ 

Reinsurance Reinsurance 
Insurance contract contract held Insurance contract Investment contract contract held 

Participating 

Canada $ — $ — 50,499 $ — $ — 

Europe — — 124 — — 

Capital and Risk Solutions — — 671 — — 

Corporate — — 1,900 — — 

assets assets liabilities liabilities liabilities 

Total 
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&& %" 
,*-,0&1&,+ ,# 1%" 00"10 2--,/1&+$ +02/+ " +! +3"01*"+1 
,+1/ 1 &&)&1&"0 +! .2&16 &0 0 
,)),40 

2024 

Mortgage Investment 

Carrying value 

onds loans Stocks properties %ther Total 

Participating liabilities 

Canada $ 27,160 $ 11,939 $ 10,629 $ 4,642 $ 1,571 $ 55,941 

Europe 53 — 34 3 32 122 

Capital and Risk Solutions 604 — — — 74 678 

Corporate 1,502 410 — — 77 1,989 

Non-participating liabilities 

Canada 22,522 4,085 2,698 728 4,974 35,007 

Europe 27,228 7,359 396 1,909 5,382 42,274 

Capital and Risk Solutions 6,716 751 — — — 7,467 

Corporate 13 — — — 1,506 1,519 

Other 4,219 915 1,007 153 285,951 292,245 

Total e?uity 10,846 18 30 800 12,268 23,962 

Total carrying value $ 100,863 $ 25,477 $ 14,794 $ 8,235 $ 311,835 $ 461,204 

Fair value $ 100,863 $ 24,860 $ 14,808 $ 8,235 $ 311,835 $ 460,601 

2023 

Mortgage Investment 

Carrying value 

onds loans Stocks properties Other Total 

Participating liabilities 

Canada $ 22,726 $ 12,503 $ 9,853 $ 4,662 $ 755 $ 50,499 

Europe 56 — 41 3 24 124 

Capital and Risk Solutions 570 5 — — 96 671 

Corporate 1,455 350 — — 95 1,900 

Non-participating liabilities 

Canada 21,408 4,244 2,782 644 5,809 34,887 

Europe 25,738 6,707 467 2,113 4,582 39,607 

Capital and Risk Solutions 4,938 488 — — 48 5,474 

Corporate 13 — — — 1,467 1,480 

Other 5,183 — — — 248,118 253,301 

Total e?uity 9,817 152 446 427 11,831 22,673 

Total carrying value $ 91,904 $ 24,449 $ 13,589 $ 7,849 $ 272,825 $ 410,616 

Fair value $ 91,904 $ 23,950 $ 13,523 $ 7,849 $ 272,825 $ 410,051 

ash floHs of assets supportin8 insurance and investment contract liabilities are matched Hithin reasonable limits. han8es in 
the fair values of these assets are lar8elJ offset bJ chan8es in the fair value of insurance and investment contract liabilities. 

han8es in the fair values of assets bac<in8 capital and surplus less related income taIes Hould result in a correspondin8 
chan8e in surplus over time in accordance Hith investment accountin8 policies. 
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(e) Effect on Measurement Components of Contracts Initially RecogniGed in the -ear 

Insurance contracts 2024 

Profitable 
contracts issued 

%nerous 
contracts issued Total 

Insurance ac?uisition cash flows $ 582 $ 42 $ 624 

Claims and other insurance service expenses payable 

Estimates of present value of cash outflows 

9,241 79 9,320 

121 9,823 9,944 

Estimates of present value of cash inflows (11,050) (123) (11,173) 

Risk adjustment for non-financial risk 312 18 330 

CSM 

Total losses (gains) recognized on initial recognition 

Insurance contracts 

913 — 913 

$ (2) $ 16 $ 14 

2023 

Profitable 
contracts issued 

Onerous 
contracts issued Total 

Insurance ac?uisition cash flows $ 465 $ 46 $ 511 

Claims and other insurance service expenses payable 11,710 11,798 

134 

88 

12,175 12,309 Estimates of present value of cash outflows 

Estimates of present value of cash inflows (13,208) (138) (13,346) 

Risk adjustment for non-financial risk 338 20 358 

CSM (2) 

$ (5) $ 14 $ 9 

690 688 

Total losses (gains) recognized on initial recognition 

The ompanJ did not acBuire anJ insurance contracts throu8h transfer or business combination. 

(f) Maturity Analysis of Insurance and Reinsurance Contracts eld 

The folloHin8 table shoHs the undiscounted eIpected future cash outfloHs infloHs for insurance and reinsurance contracts 
held bJ eIpected timin8 based on best estimate actuarial assumptions and eIcludes amounts from insurance contract 
liabilities on account of se8re8ated fund holders. /hole life individual insurance products have eIpected cash floHs for several 
decades in the future. Iamples of cash outfloHs are paJment of claims and eIpenses and eIamples of cash infloHs are 
premiums. 

2024 

1 year or %ver 
less 1-2 years 2- years -4 years 4- years  years Total 

Insurance contracts 

Insurance contract liabilities $ 7,835 $ 4,142 $ 4,148 $ 4,421 $ 4,538 $ 446,267 $ 471,351 

Insurance contract assets (532) (512) (484) (427) (376) (2,948) (5,279) 

$ 7,303 $ 3,630 $ 3,664 $ 3,994 $ 4,162 $ 443,319 $ 466,072 

Reinsurance contracts held 

Reinsurance contract held liabilities $ 145 $ 80 $ 82 $ 70 $ 57 $ 250 $ 

Reinsurance contract held assets (661) (194) (172) (168) (169) (4,094) (5,458) 

$ (516) $ (114) $ (90) $ (98) $ (112) $ (3,844) $ (4,774) 
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2023 

1 year or Over 
less 1-2 years 2-3 years 3-4 years 4-5 years 5 years Total 

Insurance contracts 

Insurance contract liabilities $ 7,643 $ 4,050 $ 3,923 $ 3,993 $ 4,265 $ 426,118 $ 449,992 

Insurance contract assets (674) (675) (633) (577) (534) (7,892) (10,985) 

$ 6,969 $ 3,375 $ 3,290 $ 3,416 $ 3,731 $ 418,226 $ 439,007 

Reinsurance contracts held 

Reinsurance contract held liabilities $ (30) $ 67 $ 59 $ 51 $ 37 $ (91) $ 

Reinsurance contract held assets (404) (93) (68) (81) (75) (3,360) (4,081) 

$ (434) $ (26) $ (9) $ (30) $ (38) $ (3,451) $ (3,988) 

(g) Amount of Insurance Contract "iabilities Payable on Demand 

The amounts from insurance contract liabilities that are paJable on demand are set out beloH. The amounts paJable on 
demand include the cash surrender value andor the account value less applicable surrender char8es paJable. !nsurance 
contract liabilities held on account of se8re8ated fund holders are eIcluded from the amounts paJable on demand and carrJin8 
amounts. 

Amounts payable on demand 

Carrying amounts 98,236 90,083 

(h) Expected Remaining CSM Recognition 

2024 2023 

$ 60,969 $ 58,076 

Insurance contracts 

1 year or 
less 1-2 years 2- years -4 years 4- years -10 years 

%ver 
10 years Total 

2024 $ 1,158 $ 1,078 $ 990 $ 917 $ 844 $ 3,286 $ 5,810 $ 14,083 

2023 1,088 1,008 933 863 796 3,132 5,528 13,348 

(i) Expected Derecognition of the Asset for Insurance Ac>uisition Cash FloDs 

Insurance contracts 

1 year or 
less 1-2 years 2- years -4 years 4- years -10 years 

%ver 
10 years Total 

2024 $ 32 $ 30 $ 27 $ 24 $ 21 $ 47 $ — $ 181 

2023 30 28 26 24 20 46 — 174 

(7) Insurance Risk 

 12/&) 002*-1&,+0 
!n the computation of insurance contract liabilities valuation assumptions have been made re8ardin8 rates of mortalitJ 
morbiditJ investment returns levels of operatin8 eIpenses rates of policJ termination and rates of utiliKation of elective policJ 
options or provisions. The valuation assumptions use best estimates of future eIperience to8ether Hith a ris< ad;ustment for 
non	financial ris<. The ris< ad;ustment for non	financial ris< represents the compensation that the ompanJ reBuires for 
bearin8 uncertaintJ in the amount and timin8 of insurance contract cash floHs. *is< ad;ustments for non	financial ris< are 
revieHed periodicallJ for continued appropriateness. 

The ompanJ measures the estimates of the present value of future cash floHs for reinsurance held usin8 assumptions that are 
consistent Hith those used to measure the estimates of the present value of future cash floHs for the underlJin8 insurance 
contracts Hith an ad;ustment for anJ non	performance bJ the reinsurer. 

!nvestment contract liabilities are measured at fair value determined usin8 discount rates derived from a reference portfolio or 
stochastic modelin8 at end of the reportin8 period. The ompanJNs main valuation techniBues incorporate all factors that 
mar<et participants Hould consider and ma<e maIimum use of observable mar<et data. 
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The methods for arriving at these valuation assumptions are outlined below:  

Mortality 

A life insurance mortality study is carried out regularly for each major block of insurance business. The results of each study are 
used to update the Company’s experience valuation mortality tables for that business. Annuitant mortality is also studied 
regularly, and the results are used to modify established annuitant mortality tables. When there is insufficient data, the 
Company uses the latest industry experience to derive an appropriate valuation mortality assumption. Improvement scales for 
life insurance and annuitant mortality are updated periodically based on population and industry studies, product specific 
considerations, as well as professional guidance. In addition, appropriate provisions are made for future mortality 
deterioration on term insurance. 

Morbidity 

The Company uses industry developed experience tables modified to reflect emerging Company experience. Both claim 
incidence and termination are monitored regularly, and emerging experience is factored into the current valuation. 

Expenses 

Expenses for certain items, such as sales commissions and policy taxes and fees, are either contractual or specified by law, and 
so they are only reflected on a best estimate basis in the liability. Operating expenses, such as policy and claims administration 
as well as overhead, are more variable. The Company produces expense studies for operating expenses regularly to determine 
an appropriate estimate of future operating expenses for the liability type being valued. An inflation assumption is incorporated 
in the estimate of future operating expenses held within the liability. 

Policy Termination 

Studies to determine rates of policy termination are updated regularly to form the basis of this estimate. Industry data is also 
available and is useful where the Company has no experience with specific types of policies or its exposure is limited. The 
Company's most significant exposures are in respect of the T-100 and Level Cost of Insurance Universal Life products in 
Canada and policy renewal rates at the end of the term for renewable term policies in Canada and Capital and Risk Solutions. 
Industry experience has guided the Company's assumptions for these products as its own experience is very limited. 

Property and Casualty Reinsurance 

Insurance contract liabilities for property and casualty reinsurance written by Capital and Risk Solutions are determined using 
accepted actuarial practices for property and casualty insurers in Canada. The insurance contract liabilities are based on 
cession statements provided by ceding companies. In addition, insurance contract liabilities also include an amount for 
incurred but not reported losses, which may differ significantly from the ultimate loss development. The estimates and 
underlying methodology are continually reviewed and updated and adjustments to estimates are reflected in net earnings. 
Capital and Risk Solutions analyzes the emergence of claims experience against expected assumptions for each reinsurance 
contract separately and at the portfolio level. If necessary, a more in depth analysis is undertaken of the cedant experience. 

Utilization of Elective Policy Options 

There are a wide range of elective options embedded in the policies issued by the Company. Examples include term renewals, 
conversion to whole life insurance (term insurance), settlement annuity purchase at guaranteed rates (deposit annuities) and 
guarantee re-sets (segregated fund maturity guarantees). The assumed rates of utilization are based on Company or industry 
experience when it exists and otherwise based on judgment considering incentives to utilize the option. Generally, whenever it 
is clearly in the best interests of an informed policyholder to utilize an option, then it is assumed to be elected. 

Policyholder Dividends and Adjustable Policy Features 

Future policyholder dividends and other adjustable policy features are included in the determination of insurance contract 
liabilities with the assumption that policyholder dividends or adjustable benefits will change in the future in response to the 
relevant experience. The dividend and policy adjustments are determined consistent with policyholders’ reasonable 
expectations, such expectations being influenced by the participating policyholder dividend policies and/or policyholder 
communications, marketing material and past practice. It is the Company's expectation that changes will occur in policyholder 
dividend scales or adjustable benefits for participating or adjustable business respectively, corresponding to changes in the 
best estimate assumptions, resulting in an immaterial net change in insurance contract liabilities. Where underlying 
guarantees may limit the ability to pass all of this experience back to the policyholder, the impact of this non-adjustability 
impacting shareholder's net earnings is reflected in the impacts of changes in best estimate assumptions below. 

Investment Returns 

Interest rate risk is managed by investing in assets that are suitable for the products sold. The Company utilizes a formal 
process for managing the matching of assets and liabilities. This involves grouping general fund assets and liabilities into 
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se8ments. ssets in each se8ment are mana8ed in relation to the liabilities in the se8ment. The impact to net earnin8s from 
chan8es in the interest rates Hould be lar8elJ offset bJ chan8es in the value of financial assets supportin8 the liabilities. 
 oHever differences in the interest rate sensitivitJ in the value of assets and the value of insurance and investment contract 
liabilities leads to a sensitivitJ to interest rate movements in net earnin8s. 

Insurance and Investment Contract Liabilities 

!n determinin8 the ompanJNs insurance contract liabilities valuation assumptions are made re8ardin8 rates of mortalitJ 
morbiditJ investment returns levels of operatin8 eIpenses rates of policJ termination and rates of utiliKation of elective policJ 
options or provisions. /hen the assumptions are revised to reflect emer8in8 eIperience or chan8e in outloo< the result is a 
chan8e in the value of liabilities Hhich in turn affects the ompanJNs earnin8s. 

Non-Financial Exposures and Sensitivities 

!nsurance *is< 

2024 

CSM earnings 1 Net 

Net of efore Net of efore 
eld Reinsurance Reinsurance eld Reinsurance Reinsurance 

2 #ife mortality increase $ (100) $ (100) $ (350) $ (175) 

2 Annuity mortality decrease 200 175 (725) (625) 

5 Morbidity adverse change (150) (125) (200) (100) 

5 Expense increase — — (125) (150) 

10 Adverse change in policy termination and renewal (50) — (825) (850) 

2023 

CSM 1 Net earnings 

Net of efore Net of efore 
Reinsurance Reinsurance eld Reinsurance Reinsurance eld 

2 #ife mortality increase $ (100) $ (100) $ (375) $ (175) 

2 Annuity mortality decrease 175 150 (700) (600) 

5 Morbidity adverse change (150) (125) (225) (100) 

5 Expense increase — — (150) (150) 

10 Adverse change in policy termination and renewal 50 50 (1,000) (925) 

The impacts to the +% are pre	taI. 

These sensitivities reflect the impact on net earnin8s and +% of an immediate chan8e in assumptions on the value of 
insurance and reinsurance contracts held and investment contracts. The impact on eBuitJ is eBual to the net earnin8s impact. 

ssumption chan8es on insurance ris<s directlJ impact +% for contracts Hhich have +%. The impact of assumption 
chan8es on +% are measured at loc<ed	in discount rates for contracts measured under the eneral %easurement %odel. 
&et earnin8s impacts arise from anJ differences relative to the fair value impact of assumption chan8es impactin8 +% as Hell 
as assumption chan8es on contracts Hhich do not have +% includin8 short term insurance contracts. or assumption 
chan8es impactin8 +% there is a second	order impact to earnin8s Hhich captures the present value difference betHeen the 
impact of assumption chan8es measured at prevailin8 discount rates and loc<ed	in discount rates. !n 8eneral prevailin8 
discount rates are currentlJ hi8her than loc<ed	in rates for the ompanJNs insurance contracts as most loc<ed	in rates for the 
calculation of +% impacts Here struc< at "anuarJ 1  for the in	force portfolio. Therefore an unfavourable chan8e in 
assumptions on insurance ris<s leadin8 to a liabilitJ stren8thenin8 offset bJ +% reduction also results in a positive earnin8s 
impact in the period due to the fair value impact. 

oncentration ris< maJ arise from 8eo8raphic re8ions accumulation of ris<s and mar<et ris<. The concentration of insurance 
ris< before and after reinsurance bJ 8eo8raphic re8ion is described in the se8mented information note . 

*einsurance *is< 

%aIimum limits per insured life benefit amount Hhich varJ bJ line of business are established for life and health insurance 
and reinsurance is purchased for amounts in eIcess of those limits. 

*einsurance costs and recoveries as defined bJ the reinsurance a8reement are reflected in the valuation Hith these costs and 
recoveries bein8 appropriatelJ calibrated to the direct assumptions. 
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*einsurance contracts do not relieve the ompanJ from its obli8ations to policJholders. ailure of reinsurers to honour their 
obli8ations could result in losses to the ompanJ. The ompanJ evaluates the financial condition of its reinsurers to minimiKe 
its eIposure to si8nificant losses from reinsurer insolvencies. 

ertain of the reinsurance contracts are on a funds Hithheld basis Hhere the ompanJ retains the assets supportin8 the 
reinsured insurance contract liabilities thus minimiKin8 the eIposure to si8nificant losses from reinsurer insolvencJ on those 
contracts. 

(k) Discount Rates 

The folloHin8 table provides the loHer and upper end of the ran8e of the spot rates used bJ the ompanJ to discount liabilitJ 
cash floHs bJ ma;or currencJ 

2024 -ear 1 -ear  -ear 10 -ear 20 -ear 0 -ear 0 

CAD 
"oDer 4
2  4
2  4
5  4
6  4
6  4
9  

*pper 4
6  4
6  4
9  5
0  5
0  5
0  

*SD 
"oDer 5
1  5
4  5
7  6
1  5
8  5
3  

*pper 5
3  5
6  5
8  6
2  6
0  5
4  

E*R 
"oDer 2
5  2
5  2
8  3
0  3
2  4
3  

*pper 3
6  3
6  3
8  4
0  4
1  4
5  

GP 
"oDer 4
9  4
8  5
1  5
7  5
7  4
3  

*pper 5
7  5
5  5
9  6
5  6
5  5
1  

2023 .ear 1 .ear 5 .ear 10 .ear 20 .ear 30 .ear 50 

CA 
#ower 6
0  4
5  4
4  4
3  4
2  4
5  

+pper 6
4  4
9  4
9  4
9  4
8  4
9  

+S 
#ower 5
9  5
0  5
0  5
5  5
1  4
8  

+pper 6
1  5
2  5
3  5
8  5
4  5
0  

E+R 
#ower 3
2  2
1  2
2  2
5  2
9  4
3  

+pper 4
8  3
6  3
8  4
1  4
2  4
5  

GP 
#ower 4
9  3
8  4
0  4
7  4
6  3
7  

+pper 5
9  4
8  5
1  5
7  5
6  4
7  

The spot rates in the table above are calculated based on prevailin8 interest rates observed in their respective mar<ets. /hen 
interest rates are not observable the Jield curve to discount cash floHs transitions to an ultimate rate composed of a ris<	free 
rate and illiBuiditJ premium. These amounts are set based on historical data. 
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1	. einsurance Contracts eld 

(a) Analysis by Remaining Coverage and Incurred Claims 

Reinsurance contracts held 2024 

Asset for remaining 

Opening assets 

Opening liabilities 

Net opening balance 

Changes in the Consolidated Statements of Earnings 
and Comprehensive Income 

Net expenses from reinsurance contracts 

Investment components 

Net finance income from reinsurance contracts, excluding 
the effect of changes in non-performance risk of 
reinsurers 

Effect of movement in exchange rates 

Total changes in the Consolidated Statements of 
Earnings and Comprehensive Income 

Cash floDs 

Premiums paid 

Incurred claims received and other insurance service 
amounts received 

Other cash flows 1 

Total cash floDs 

Other movements 2 

Net closing balance  

Recorded in 

Closing assets 

Closing liabilities 

Net closing balance  

coverage Asset for incurred claims 

Contracts under PAA 

Excluding 
loss 

recovery 
component 

"oss 
recovery 

component 

Contracts 
not under 
the PAA 

Estimates 
of present 
value of 

future cash 
floDs 

Risk 
ad7ustment 
for non-
financial 

risk Total 

$ 5,166 $ 90 $ 1,031 $ 247 $ 12 $ 6,546 

(713) 20 219 (1) — (475) 

4,453 110 1,250 246 12 6,071 

(4,513) (10) 1,977 961 1 (1,584) 

(123) — 123 — — — 

(16) (1) 36 6 1 26 

155 1 21 5 — 182 

(4,497) (10) 2,157 972 2 (1,376) 

3,738 — — — — 3,738 

— — (1,999) (996) — (2,995) 

559 — — — — 559 

4,297 — (1,999) (996) — 1,302 

(81) — — — — (81) 

$ 4,172 $ 100 $ 1,408 $ 222 $ 14 $ 5,916 

$ 5,273 $ 72 $ 1,069 $ 124 $ 6 $ 6,544 

(1,101) 28 339 98 8 (628) 

$ 4,172 $ 100 $ 1,408 $ 222 $ 14 $ 5,916 

1 'ther cash floHs includes premiums to be settled via  claims to be settled via  and net settlements. 
 'ther movements represent chan8es in the eIpected fulfillment cash floHs on certain reinsurance contracts held Hhere the ompanJ has no continuin8 involvement 
other than eIposure to the remote insolvencJ ris< of the reinsurer. This movement is offset bJ movement in associated reinsurance assets. 

 !ncluded in the reinsurance contracts held amounts are funds Hithheld bJ the ompanJ under reinsurance contracts of . 
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Reinsurance contracts held 

Asset for remaining 

2023 

Opening assets 

Opening liabilities 

Net opening balance 

Changes in the Consolidated Statements of Earnings and 
Comprehensive Income 

Net expenses from reinsurance contracts 

Investment components 

Net finance income from reinsurance contracts, excluding 
the effect of changes in non-performance risk of 
reinsurers 

Effect of movement in exchange rates 

Total changes in the Consolidated Statements of Earnings 
and Comprehensive Income 

Cash flows 

Premiums paid 

Incurred claims received and other insurance service 
amounts received 

Other cash flows 1 

Total cash flows 

Other movements 2 

Net closing balance 3 

Recorded in 

Closing assets 

Closing liabilities 

Net closing balance 3 

coverage Asset for incurred claims 

Contracts under PAA 

Excluding 
loss recovery 
component 

#oss recovery 
component 

Contracts 
not under 
the PAA 

Estimates of 
present 
value of 

future cash 
flows 

Risk 
adjustment 

for non-
financial risk Total 

$ 5,349 $ 76 $ 953 $ 320 $ 11 $ 6,709 

(591) — 265 — — (326) 

4,758 76 1,218 320 11 6,383 

(3,813) 28 1,436 784 1 (1,564) 

(107) — 107 — — — 

226 6 34 — — 266 

(20) — 11 3 — (6) 

(3,714) 34 1,588 787 1 (1,304) 

6,965 — — — — 6,965 

— — (1,556) (861) — (2,417) 

(3,259) — — — — (3,259) 

3,706 — (1,556) (861) — 1,289 

(297) — — — — (297) 

$ 4,453 $ 110 $ 1,250 $ 246 $ 12 $ 6,071 

$ 5,166 $ 90 $ 1,031 $ 247 $ 12 $ 6,546 

(713) 20 219 (1) — (475) 

$ 4,453 $ 110 $ 1,250 $ 246 $ 12 $ 6,071 

1 'ther cash floHs includes premiums to be settled via  claims to be settled via  and net settlements. 
 'ther movements represent chan8es in the eIpected fulfillment cash floHs on certain reinsurance contracts held Hhere the ompanJ has no continuin8 involvement 
other than eIposure to the remote insolvencJ ris< of the reinsurer. This movement is offset bJ movement in associated reinsurance assets. 

 !ncluded in the reinsurance contracts held amounts are funds Hithheld bJ the ompanJ under reinsurance contracts of . 
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(b) Analysis by Measurement Component for Reinsurance Contracts eld not Measured *nder PAA 

Estimates of Risk 
present value ad7ustment 
of future cash for non-

Reinsurance contracts held 2024 

floDs financial risk CSM Total 

Opening assets $ 5,294 $ 919 $ 210 $ 6,423 

Opening liabilities 

Net opening balance 

Changes in the Consolidated Statements of Earnings and 
Comprehensive Income 

(1,970) 854 680 (436) 

3,324 1,773 890 5,987 

Changes that relate to current service 

CSM recognized for services received — — (100) (100) 

Change in risk adjustment for non-financial risk for risk expired — (183) — (183) 

Experience adjustments 30 (1) — 29 

Changes that relate to future service 

Contracts initially recognized in the year (115) 159 (34) 10 

Changes in estimates that adjust the CSM (10) (42) 52 — 

Changes in estimates that result in losses and reversal of losses on onerous 
contacts (17) 11 — (6) 

Changes that relate to past service 

Changes in amounts recoverable arising from changes in liability for 
incurred claims 21 21 

(56) (91) (229) (82) 

— — 

Net expenses from reinsurance contracts 

Net finance income from reinsurance contracts, excluding the effect of 
changes in non-performance risk of reinsurers (34) 34 21 21 

Effect of movement in exchange rates 

10 12 (50) (28) 

34 135 180 11 

Total changes in the Consolidated Statements of Earnings and 
Comprehensive Income 

Cash floDs 

Total cash floDs (31) — — (31) 

Other movements 2 — — 

Premiums paid 1,409 — — 1,409 

Incurred claims received and other insurance service amounts received (1,999) — — (1,999) 

Other cash flows 1 559 559 

(81) (81) 

$ 3,222 $ 1,785 $ 840 $ 5,847 

— — 

Net closing balance 

Recorded in 

Closing assets $ 5,304 $ 770 $ 347 $ 6,421 

Closing liabilities 

Net closing balance 

(2,082) 1,015 493 (574) 

$ 3,222 $ 1,785 $ 840 $ 5,847 

1 'ther cash floHs includes premiums to be settled via  claims to be settled via  and net settlements. 
 'ther movements represent chan8es in the eIpected fulfillment cash floHs on certain reinsurance contracts held Hhere the ompanJ has no continuin8 involvement 
other than eIposure to the remote insolvencJ ris< of the reinsurer. This movement is offset bJ movement in associated reinsurance assets. 
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Reinsurance contracts held 2023 

Estimates of Risk 
present value adjustment for 
of future cash non-financial 

flows risk CSM Total 

Opening assets $ 4,929 $ 1,062 $ 514 $ 6,505 

Opening liabilities 

Net opening balance 

Changes in the Consolidated Statements of Earnings and Comprehensive 

(1,397) 492 583 (322) 

3,532 1,554 1,097 6,183 

Income 

Changes that relate to current service 

CSM recognized for services received — — (116) (116) 

Change in risk adjustment for non-financial risk for risk expired — (167) — (167) 

Experience adjustments 43 (1) — 42 

Changes that relate to future service 

Contracts initially recognized in the year (84) 69 21 6 

Changes in estimates that adjust the CSM (4) 145 (141) — 

Changes in estimates that result in losses and reversal of losses on onerous 
contacts 20 10 — 30 

Changes that relate to past service 

Changes in amounts recoverable arising from changes in liability for 
incurred claims (6) (1) (7) 

55 (31) (212) (236) 

— 

Net expenses from reinsurance contracts 

Net finance income from reinsurance contracts, excluding the effect of 
changes in non-performance risk of reinsurers 81 157 27 265 

Effect of movement in exchange rates 

Total changes in the Consolidated Statements of Earnings and Comprehensive 
Income 33 219 (207) 45 

Total cash flows 56 — — 56 

Other movements 2 — — 

Net closing balance 

Recorded in 

Closing assets $ 5,294 $ 919 $ 210 $ 6,423 

Closing liabilities 

Net closing balance 

Cash flows 

Premiums paid 4,872 — — 4,872 

Incurred claims received and other insurance service amounts received (1,557) — — (1,557) 

Other cash flows 1 (3,259) (3,259) 

(297) (297) 

$ 3,324 $ 1,773 $ 890 $ 5,987 

— — 

(1,970) 854 680 (436) 

$ 3,324 $ 1,773 $ 890 $ 5,987 

1 'ther cash floHs includes premiums to be settled via  claims to be settled via  and net settlements. 
 'ther movements represent chan8es in the eIpected fulfillment cash floHs on certain reinsurance contracts held Hhere the ompanJ has no continuin8 involvement 
other than eIposure to the remote insolvencJ ris< of the reinsurer. This movement is offset bJ movement in associated reinsurance assets. 

(17) 7 2 (8) 
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(c) CSM by Transition Approach 

Reinsurance contracts held 

Reinsurance contracts held under fair value approach 

CSM balance, beginning of year $ 882 $ 976 

Change related to current service provided 

2024 2023 

CSM recognized for services provided (92) (102) 

Changes that relate to future service 

Contracts initially recognized in the year — — 

Changes in estimates that adjust the CSM 

Total changes in insurance service result 

Net finance expenses from reinsurance contracts 

(33) (16) 

(125) (118) 

Total change 

CSM balance, end of year 

32 24 

(93) (94) 

$ 789 $ 882 

%ther reinsurance contracts held 

CSM balance, beginning of year $ 8 $ 121 

Change related to current service provided 

CSM recognized for services provided (8) (14) 

Changes that relate to future service 

Contracts initially recognized in the year (34) 21 

Changes in estimates that adjust the CSM 

Total changes in insurance service result 

Net finance expenses from insurance contracts 5 

43 (113) 

$ 51 $ 8 

$ 840 $ 890 

— 

85 (125) 

43 (118) 

Total change 

CSM balance, end of year 

Net CSM balance, end of year 

(d) Effect on Measurement Components of Contracts Initially RecogniGed in the -ear 

Reinsurance contracts held 

Estimates of present value of cash outflows 

Estimates of present value of cash inflows (3,407) (798) 

Risk adjustment for non-financial risk (159) (69) 

Income recognized on initial recognition 

$ 34 $ (21) 

6 10 

CSM 

The ompanJ did not acBuire anJ reinsurance contracts held throu8h transfer or business combination. 

(e) Expected Remaining CSM Recognition 

Reinsurance contracts held 

1 year or %ver 
less 1-2 years 2- years -4 years 4- years -10 years 10 years Total 

2024 $ (92) $ (82) $ (74) $ (66) $ (59) $ (207) $ (260) $ (840) 

2023 (94) (82) (74) (67) (60) (213) (300) (890) 

2024 2023 

$ 3,522 $ 882 
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1
. Investment Contract Liabilities 

Change in Investment Contract "iabilities Measured at Fair +alue 

2024 2023 

alance, beginning of year $ 4,953 $ 4,672 

Normal change in force business (484) 121 

Investment experience 159 178 

Management action and changes in assumptions — (9) 

Impact of foreign exchange rate changes 

alance, end of year 

59 (9) 

$ 4,687 $ 4,953 

ll investment contract liabilities are measured at .T($. 

1. Segregated unds and ther Structured ntities 

The ompanJ offers se8re8ated fund products in anada and urope that are referred to as se8re8ated funds separate 
accounts and unit	lin<ed funds in the respective re8ion. These funds are contracts issued bJ insurers to se8re8ated fund 
policJholders Hhere the benefit is directlJ lin<ed to the performance of the investments the ris<s or reHards of the fair value 
movements and net investment income is realiKed bJ the se8re8ated fund policJholders. The se8re8ated fund policJholders are 
reBuired to select se8re8ated funds that hold a ran8e of underlJin8 investments. /hile the ompanJ has le8al title to the 
investments there is a contractual obli8ation to pass alon8 the investment results to the se8re8ated fund policJholder and the 
ompanJ se8re8ates these investments from those of the ompanJ. 

!n anada the se8re8ated fund assets are le8allJ separated from the 8eneral assets of the ompanJ under the terms of the 
policJholder a8reement and cannot be used to settle obli8ations of the ompanJ. !n urope the assets of the funds are 
functionallJ and constructivelJ se8re8ated from those of the ompanJ. s a result of the le8al and constructive arran8ements of 
these funds the assets of these funds are presented on the onsolidated alance +heets as investments on account of 
se8re8ated fund policJholders and the associated liabilities as investment contracts on account of se8re8ated fund 
policJholders and insurance contracts on account of se8re8ated fund policJholders. 

!n circumstances Hhere the se8re8ated funds are invested in structured entities and are deemed to control the entitJ the 
ompanJ has presented the non	controllin8 oHnership interest Hithin the se8re8ated funds for the ris< of policJholders as 
eBual and offsettin8 amounts in the assets and liabilities. The amounts presented Hithin are  at ecember 1  
 at ecember 1 . 

/ithin the onsolidated +tatements of arnin8s all se8re8ated fund policJholdersN income includin8 fair value chan8es and 
net investment income is credited to the se8re8ated fund policJholders and reflected in the assets and liabilities on account of 
se8re8ated fund policJholders Hithin the onsolidated alance +heets. These revenues and eIpenses are presented in the 
onsolidated +tatements of arnin8s Hhere the contracts Hith the se8re8ated fund policJholders are classified as insurance 
contracts. 

"$/"$1"! 2+!0 2/+1"" 5-,02/" 

The ompanJ offers retail se8re8ated fund products and unitiKed Hith profits -/( products that provide for certain 
8uarantees that are tied to the mar<et values of the investment funds. /hile these products are similar to mutual funds there is 
a <eJ difference from mutual funds as the se8re8ated funds have certain 8uarantee features that protect the se8re8ated fund 
policJholder from mar<et declines in the underlJin8 investments. These 8uarantees are the ompanJNs primarJ eIposure on 
these funds. The ompanJ accounts for these 8uarantees Hithin insurance and investment contract liabilities Hithin the 
consolidated financial statements. !n addition to the ompanJNs eIposure on the 8uarantees the fees earned bJ the ompanJ 
on these products are impacted bJ the mar<et value of these funds. 

!n anada the ompanJ offers retail se8re8ated fund products. These products provide 8uaranteed minimum death benefits 
% and 8uaranteed minimum accumulation on maturitJ benefits. 

!n urope the ompanJ offers -/( products in ermanJ and unit	lin<ed products Hith investment 8uarantees in !reland. 
These products are similar to se8re8ated fund products but include minimum credited interest rates and poolin8 of 
policJholders funds. 

The ompanJ also offers a 8uaranteed minimum HithdraHal benefits %/ product in ermanJ and previouslJ offered a 
%/ product in anada and !reland. ertain %/ products offered bJ the ompanJ offer levels of death and maturitJ 

The Canada Life Assurance Company 2024 Annual Report 75 



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements 

8uarantees. t ecember 1  the amount of %/ product in	force in anada !reland and ermanJ Has 1  
at ecember 1 . 

The folloHin8 presents further details of the investments determined in accordance Hith the relevant statutorJ reportin8 
reBuirements of each re8ion of the ompanJs operations on account of se8re8ated fund policJholders 

(a) Investments on Account of Segregated Fund Policyholders 

2024 2023 

Cash and cash e?uivalents $ 15,618 $ 13,867 

onds 36,663 34,174 

Mortgage loans 2,083 2,022 

Stocks and units in unit trusts 154,418 130,400 

Mutual funds 57,257 47,603 

Investment properties 11,317 12,071 

277,356 240,137 

Accrued income 582 528 

Other liabilities (3,620) (3,549) 

Non-controlling mutual funds interest 

Total 1 

6,082 6,070 

$ 280,400 $ 243,186 

1 t ecember 1   of investments on account of se8re8ated fund policJholders on the ompanJNs onsolidated alance +heets are eIpected to be transferred 
to ountrJHide Hithin 1 months note . !ncluded in this amount are 1 of cash and cash eBuivalents  of stoc<s and units in unit trusts and  of other 
liabilities. 

(b) Insurance and Investment Contracts on Account of Segregated Fund Policyholders 

2024 2023 

Insurance contracts on account of segregated fund policyholders $ 51,934 $ 47,410 

Investment contracts on account of segregated fund policyholders 228,466 195,776 

$ 280,400 $ 243,186 

(c) Insurance Contracts on Account of Segregated Fund Policyholders - Effect on Measurement 
Components of Contracts Initially RecogniGed in the -ear 

Segregated funds 2024 

Profitable 
contracts issued 

%nerous 
contracts issued Total 

Insurance ac?uisition cash flows $ — $ — $ — 

Claims and other insurance service expenses payable 3,938 3,938 

3,938 3,938 

— 

Estimates of present value of cash outflows — 

Estimates of present value of cash inflows (3,938) — (3,938) 

Risk adjustment for non-financial risk 

Total losses (gains) recogniGed on initial recognition 

Segregated funds 

— — — 

$ — $ — $ — 

2023 

Profitable 
contracts issued 

Onerous 
contracts issued Total 

Insurance ac?uisition cash flows $ — $ — $ — 

Claims and other insurance service expenses payable 3,367 3,367 

3,367 3,367 

— 

Estimates of present value of cash outflows — 

Estimates of present value of cash inflows (3,367) — (3,367) 

Risk adjustment for non-financial risk 

$ — $ — $ — 

— — — 

Total losses (gains) recognized on initial recognition 
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(d) Changes in Insurance and Investment Contracts on Account of Segregated Funds Policyholders 

2024 2023 

alance, beginning of year $ 243,186 $ 221,608 

Additions (deductions) 

Policyholder deposits 26,509 25,544 

Net investment income 3,570 2,627 

Net realized capital gains (losses) on investments 7,777 3,211 

Net unrealized capital gains (losses) on investments 18,312 14,353 

+nrealized gains (losses) due to changes in foreign exchange rates 4,993 1,768 

Policyholder withdrawals (23,977) (23,005) 

Portfolio transfer — (2,662) 

Change in general fund investment in segregated fund 1 14 

Net transfer from (to) general fund 17 46 

Non-controlling mutual funds interest 

Total 

alance, end of year 

(e) Investments on Account of Segregated Fund Policyholders by Fair +alue ierarchy "evel 

12 (318) 

37,214 21,578 

$ 280,400 $ 243,186 

2024 

"evel 1 "evel 2 "evel  Total 

Investments on account of segregated fund 
policyholders 1 

Icludes other liabilities net of other assets of . 

$ 191,447 $ 78,488 $ 13,298 $ 283,233 

2023 

#evel 1 #evel 2 #evel 3 Total 

Investments on account of segregated fund 
policyholders 1 $ 165,293 $ 67,347 $ 13,737 $ 246,377 

Icludes other liabilities net of other assets of 11. 

urin8  certain forei8n stoc< holdin8s valued at 1 have been transferred from $evel 1 to $evel   Here transferred 
from $evel 1 to $evel  at ecember 1  primarilJ based on the ompanJs chan8e in use of inputs in addition to Buoted 
prices in active mar<ets for certain forei8n stoc< holdin8s. $evel  assets include those assets Hhere fair value is not available 
from normal mar<et pricin8 sources Hhere inputs are utiliKed in addition to Buoted prices in active mar<ets and Hhere the 
ompanJ does not have access to the underlJin8 asset details Hithin an investment fund. 

s at ecember 1  1 1 at ecember 1  of the se8re8ated funds Here invested in funds mana8ed bJ 
related parties ! /ealth %ana8ement and %ac<enKie !nvestments members of the (oHer orporation 8roup of companies 
note . 

The folloHin8 presents additional information about the ompanJs investments on account of se8re8ated fund policJholders 
for Hhich the ompanJ has utiliKed $evel  inputs to determine fair value 

2024 2023 

$ 13,737 $ 14,112 alance, beginning of year 

Total gains (losses) included in segregated fund investment income (762) (1,059) 

Purchases 1,077 760 

Sales (850) (418) 

Transfers into #evel 3 96 342 

Transfers out of #evel 3 

$ 13,298 $ 13,737 

— — 

alance, end of year 

Transfers into $evel  are due primarilJ to decreased observabilitJ of inputs in valuation methodolo8ies. Transfers out of $evel 
 are due primarilJ to increased observabilitJ of inputs in valuation methodolo8ies as evidenced bJ corroboration of mar<et 
prices Hith multiple pricin8 vendors. 
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(f) %ther Structured Entities 

!n addition to the se8re8ated funds the ompanJ has interests in a number of structured unconsolidated entities includin8 
mutual funds open	ended investment companies and unit trusts. These entities are created as investment strate8ies for its 
unit	holders based on the directive of each individual fund. 

+ome of these funds are sub 	advised bJ related parties of the ompanJ Hho are paid sub 	advisorJ fees at normal mar<et rates 
for their services. 

The ompanJ earns mana8ement fees related to mana8in8 the se8re8ated fund products. %ana8ement fees can be variable 
due to performance of factors M such as mar<ets or industries in Hhich the fund invests. ee income derived in connection Hith 
the mana8ement of investment funds 8enerallJ increases or decreases in direct relationship Hith chan8es of assets under 
mana8ement Hhich is affected bJ prevailin8 mar<et conditions and the infloH and outfloH of client assets. 

actors that could cause assets under mana8ement and fees to decrease include declines in eBuitJ mar<ets chan8es in fiIed 
income mar<ets chan8es in interest rates and defaults redemptions and other HithdraHals political and other economic ris<s 
chan8in8 investment trends and relative investment performance. The ris< is that fees maJ varJ but eIpenses and recoverJ of 
initial eIpenses are relativelJ fiIed and mar<et conditions maJ cause a shift in asset miI potentiallJ resultin8 in a chan8e in 
revenue. 

urin8  fee and other income earned bJ the ompanJ resultin8 from the ompanJNs interests in se8re8ated funds and 
other structured entities Has  1 durin8 . 

!ncluded Hithin other assets note 11 at ecember 1  is 11 1 at ecember 1  of investments in stoc<s of 
consolidated sponsored unit trusts in urope. 

1. ebentures and ther ebt Instruments 

"ong-term 

%perating 

2024 2023 

Carrying 
value 

Fair 
value 

Carrying 
value 

Fair 
value 

Mortgage on investment property, due !anuary 1, 2029 (+
S
 $39) with interest of 
4
 51 $ 54 $ 54 $ — $ — 

Capital 

6 
74 ebentures due November 24, 2036, unsecured (note 28) 200 200 200 200 

6 
40 Subordinated debentures due ecember 11, 2028, unsecured 100 110 100 109 

L200 subordinated loan, matures ecember 7, 2031, bearing an interest rate of 
2 
53 until first par call date of ecember 7, 2026, and, thereafter, at a rate 
e?ual to the five-year euro semi-annual mid-swap rate plus 1 
85, unsecured 
(note 28) 298 298 292 292 

Canada "ife Capital Trust (C"CT) 

7 
529 due !une 30, 2052, unsecured, face value $150 

Total 

155 179 156 179 

$ 807 $ 841 $ 748 $ 780 

Capital Trust Securities 

$T a trust established bJ anada $ife had issued 1 of anada $ife apital +ecurities +eries  $i+ +eries  the 
proceeds of Hhich Here used bJ $T to purchase anada $ife senior debentures in the amount of 1. 

istributions and interest on the capital trust securities are classified as financin8 costs in the onsolidated +tatements of 
arnin8s note 1. The fair value for capital trust securities is determined bJ the bid	as< price. *efer to note  for ris< 
mana8ement. 

+ub;ect to re8ulatorJ approval $T maJ redeem the $i+ 	 +eries  in Hhole or in part at anJ time. 
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19. inancing Costs 

inancin8 costs consist of the folloHin8 

Financial charges 

Interest on long-term debentures and other debt instruments 

ividends on preferred shares classified as liabilities 

Interest on capital trust securities 

Other 

Total 

$ 

2024 

27 $ 

63 

11 

4 

2023 

27 

63 

11 

4 

20. ther Liabilities 

$ 105 $ 105 

2024 2023 

Pension and other post-employment benefits (note 26) $ 452 $ 493 

#ease liabilities 223 237 

ank overdraft 379 243 

eferred income reserves 264 256 

Other 

$ 4,534 $ 4,401 

3,172 3,216 

Total 

Total other liabilities of  1 at ecember 1  are eIpected to be dereco8niKed Hithin 1 months from the 
reportin8 date. This amount eIcludes deferred income reserves the chan8es in Hhich are noted beloH. 

Deferred Income Reserves 

2023 2024 

alance, beginning of year $ 256 $ 293 

Additions 63 54 

Amortization (53) (62) 

Changes in foreign exchange 12 6 

isposals 

alance, end of year 

(14) (35) 

$ 264 $ 256 

21. Participating Account 

The participatin8 operations and the participatin8 balance sheets are presented as combined or consolidated in the operations 
in the ompanJNs financial statements. 

The shareholder portion of participatin8 earnin8s represents as restricted bJ laH a portion of net earnin8s before policJholder 
dividends of the participatin8 account  in   in . The actual paJment of the shareholder portion of 
participatin8 net earnin8s is le8allJ determined as a percenta8e of policJholder dividends paid.  of shareholder surplus  
in  that has been reco8niKed but not paid is dependent on future paJment of dividends to participatin8 policJholders. The 
folloHin8 provides additional information related to the operations and financial position of each entitJ. 

(a) Net Earnings, Participating Account 

Net earnings - participating account 

The ompanJ paid 1 participatin8 policJholder dividends for the Jear ended ecember 1  11 for the Jear 
ended ecember 1 . 

2024 2023 

$ 107 $ 24 
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(b) Participating Account Surplus in Subsidiaries 

2024 2023 

Participating account accumulated surplus $ 3,039 $ 2,932 

Participating account accumulated other comprehensive income (loss) 

Total 

(88) 

$ 3,043 $ 2,844 

(c) Participating Account - %ther Comprehensive Income ("oss) 

The other comprehensive income loss attributable to the participatin8 account for the Jear ended ecember 1  Has  
 for the Jear ended ecember 1 . 

22. onControlling Interests 

&on	controllin8 interests in subsidiaries include non	controllin8 interests throu8h a subsidiarJs controllin8 interest in certain 
anadian advisor businesses. 

The net earnin8s attributable to non	controllin8 interests in the onsolidated +tatements of arnin8s for the Jear ended 
ecember 1  Has  1 for the Jear ended ecember 1 . &on	controllin8 interests on the onsolidated alance 
+heets for ecember 1  Has 1 1 at ecember 1 . 

23. Share Capital 

-nlimited ommon +hares 

-nlimited (referred +hares 

!ssued and outstandin8 

Classified as liabilities 

Preferred shares 

Class A, Series 6, 6 
25 Cumulative First Preferred Shares 

Classified as e>uity 

Preferred shares 

Class A, Series 1, Non-Cumulative 

Common shares 

alance, beginning of year 2,419,730 $ 7,995 2,407,384 $ 7,884 

Issued to parent company 12,346 

2,419,730 $ 7,995 2,419,730 $ 7,995 

111 — — 

alance, end of year 

2. Capital anagement 

(a) Policies and %b7ectives 

%ana8in8 capital is the continual process of establishin8 and maintainin8 the BuantitJ and BualitJ of capital appropriate for 
the ompanJ and ensurin8 capital is deploJed in a manner consistent Hith the eIpectations of the ompanJNs sta<eholders. 
or these purposes the oard considers the <eJ sta<eholders to be the ompanJNs shareholders policJholders and holders of 
subordinated liabilities in addition to the relevant re8ulators in the various ;urisdictions Hhere the ompanJ and its 
subsidiaries operate. 

The ompanJ mana8es its capital on both a consolidated basis as Hell as at the individual operatin8 subsidiarJ level. The 
primarJ ob;ectives of the ompanJNs capital mana8ement strate8J are 

Q To maintain the capitaliKation of its re8ulated operatin8 subsidiaries at a level that Hill eIceed the relevant minimum 
re8ulatorJ capital reBuirements in the ;urisdictions in Hhich theJ operate 

Q To maintain stron8 credit and financial stren8th ratin8s of the ompanJ ensurin8 stable access to capital mar<ets and 

uthoriKed 

2024 2023 

Number Carrying value Number Carrying value 

40,000,000 $ 1,000 40,000,000 $ 1,000 

18,000 $ — 18,000 $ — 
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Q To provide an efficient capital structure to maIimiKe shareholders value in the conteIt of the ompanJNs operational ris<s 
and strate8ic plans. 

The tar8et level of capitaliKation for the ompanJ and its subsidiaries is assessed bJ considerin8 various factors such as the 
probabilitJ of fallin8 beloH the minimum re8ulatorJ capital reBuirements in the relevant operatin8 ;urisdiction the vieHs 
eIpressed bJ various credit ratin8 a8encies that provide financial stren8th and other ratin8s to the ompanJ and the desire to 
hold sufficient capital to be able to honour all policJholder and other obli8ations of the ompanJ Hith a hi8h de8ree of 
confidence. 

The ompanJ has established policies and procedures desi8ned to identifJ measure and report all material ris<s. %ana8ement 
is responsible for establishin8 capital mana8ement procedures for implementin8 and monitorin8 the capital plan. 

The capital plannin8 process is the responsibilitJ of the ompanJNs hief inancial 'fficer. The capital plan is approved bJ the 
ompanJNs oard of irectors on an annual basis. The oard of irectors revieHs and approves all material capital 
transactions underta<en bJ mana8ement. 

(b) Regulatory Capital 

!n anada '+! has established a re8ulatorJ capital adeBuacJ measurement for life insurance companies incorporated under 
the !nsurance ompanies ct anada and their subsidiaries. 

The $ife !nsurance apital deBuacJ Test $!T *atio compares the re8ulatorJ capital resources of a companJ to its reBuired 
capital defined bJ '+! as the a88re8ate of all defined capital reBuirements. The total capital resources are provided bJ the 
sum of vailable apital +urplus lloHance and li8ible eposits.L 

The folloHin8 provides a summarJ of the $!T information and ratio for anada $ife 

2024 2023 

Tier 1 Capital 

Tier 2 Capital 

Total Available Capital 

Surplus AlloDance and Eligible Deposits 

Total Capital Resources 

$ 20,142 $ 18,285 

Re>uired Capital 

Total "ICAT Ratio (%SFI Supervisory Target  100) 1 

1 Total *atio   Total apital *esources  *eBuired apital 

or entities based in urope the local solvencJ capital re8ime is the +olvencJ !! basis. t ecember 1  and ecember 1 
 all uropean re8ulated entities met the capital and solvencJ reBuirements as prescribed under +olvencJ !!. 

'ther forei8n operations and forei8n subsidiaries of the ompanJ are reBuired to complJ Hith local capital or solvencJ 
reBuirements in their respective ;urisdictions. t ecember 1  and ecember 1  the ompanJ maintained capital 
levels above the minimum local re8ulatorJ reBuirements in each of its forei8n operations. 

2	. Shareased Payments 

(a) Stock %ption Plan 

$ifeco has a stoc< option plan the (lan pursuant to Hhich options to subscribe for common shares of $ifeco maJ be 8ranted to 
certain officers and emploJees of anada $ife and its affiliates. $ifecoNs  uman *esources ommittee the ommittee 
administers the (lan and sub;ect to the specific provisions of the (lan fiIes the terms and conditions upon Hhich options are 
8ranted. The eIercise price of each option 8ranted under the (lan is fiIed bJ the ommittee but cannot under anJ 
circumstances be less than the Hei8hted avera8e tradin8 price per $ifeco common share on the Toronto +toc< Ichan8e for the 
five tradin8 daJs precedin8 the date of the 8rant. 'ptions 8ranted prior to "anuarJ 1 1 vest over a period of five Jears. 
'ptions 8ranted on or after "anuarJ 1 1 vest  three Jears after the 8rant date and  four Jears after the 8rant date. 
'ptions have a maIimum eIercise period of ten Jears from the 8rant date. Termination of emploJment maJ in certain 
circumstances result in forfeiture of the options unless otherHise determined bJ the ommittee. !n  the maIimum 
number of $ifeco common shares issuable under the (lan Has  . 

urin8   common share options Here 8ranted  durin8 . The Hei8hted avera8e fair value of 
common share options 8ranted durin8  Has . per option .1 in . The fair value of each common share option 
Has estimated usin8 the lac<	+choles option	pricin8 model Hith the folloHin8 Hei8hted avera8e assumptions used for those 

5,253 5,223 

25,395 23,508 

5,130 5,406 

$ 30,525 $ 28,914 

$ 23,516 $ 22,525 

130  128  
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options 8ranted in  dividend Jield . . in  eIpected volatilitJ 1. 1. in  ris<	free interest rate 
. . in  and eIpected life of ei8ht Jears ei8ht in . 

The folloHin8 summariKes the chan8es in options outstandin8 and the Hei8hted avera8e eIercise price 

2024 2023 

,eighted average -eighted average 

%utstanding, beginning of year 

%ptions exercise price Options exercise price 

13,982,380 $ 34
 68 14,526,319 $ 33
 86 

Granted 2,673,400 42
 24 2,884,000 36
 82 

Exercised (2,055,080) 33
 90 (3,237,659) 32
 82 

Forfeited expired 

%utstanding, end of year 

%ptions exercisable at end of year 

(78,350) 36
 22 (190,280) 35
 62 

14,522,350 $ 36
 18 13,982,380 $ 34
 68 

5,918,400 $ 32
 81 5,873,980 $ 33
 42 

The Hei8hted avera8e share price at the date of eIercise of stoc< options for the Jear ended ecember 1  Has . 
. in .  

ompensation eIpense due to the (lan transactions accounted for as eBuitJ	settled share	based paJments of 1 after	taI in 
  after	taI in  has been reco8niKed in the onsolidated +tatements of arnin8s. 

The folloHin8 summariKes information on the ran8es of eIercise prices includin8 Hei8hted avera8e remainin8 contractual life 
at ecember 1  

%utstanding Exercisable 

,eighted 
average ,eighted ,eighted 

Exercise price remaining average average 
ranges %ptions contractual life exercise price %ptions exercise price Expiry 

$30
 28 - $36
 87 608,900 0
 81 $ 32
 94 539,950 $ 33
 05 2025 

$30
 28 - $36
 87 583,700 1
 18 $ 34
 66 583,700 $ 34
 66 2026 

$30
 28 - $36
 87 635,300 2
 21 $ 36
 12 635,300 $ 36
 12 2027 

$30
 28 - $34
 21 739,850 3
 24 $ 33
 60 739,850 $ 33
 60 2028 

$30
 28 - $32
 50 1,540,550 4
 22 $ 30
 94 1,540,550 $ 30
 94 2029 

$32
 10 - $32
 22 1,091,350 5
 16 $ 32
 22 1,085,950 $ 32
 22 2030 

$32
 10 - $38
 75 1,637,500 6
 16 $ 32
 33 788,350 $ 32
 33 2031 

$31
 59 - $38
 71 2,205,500 7
 16 $ 38
 68 4,750 $ 31
 59 2032 

$36
 69 - $38
 87 2,815,000 8
 16 $ 36
 82 — $ — 2033 

$42
 22 - $42
 87 2,664,700 9
 16 $ 42
 24 — $ — 2034 

(b) Deferred Share *nit Plans 

To promote 8reater ali8nment of interests betHeen the irectors and the policJholders of the ompanJ and shareholders of 
$ifeco the ompanJ and certain of its affiliates have mandatorJ +- (lans andor voluntarJ +- (lans the O%andatorJ +- 
(lansP and the O.oluntarJ +- (lansP respectivelJ in Hhich the irectors of the ompanJ participate. -nder the %andatorJ 
+- (lans each irector Hho is a resident of anada or the -nited +tates must receive  of their annual oard retainer in 
the form of $ifeco +-s. -nder the .oluntarJ +- (lans each irector maJ elect to receive the balance of their annual oard 
retainer and oard ommittee fees entirelJ in the form of +-s entirelJ in cash or eBuallJ in cash and +-s. !n both cases 
the number of +-s 8ranted is determined bJ dividin8 the amount of remuneration paJable to the irector bJ the Hei8hted 
avera8e tradin8 price per $ifeco common share on the Toronto +toc< Ichan8e T+0 for the last five tradin8 daJs of the 
precedin8 fiscal Buarter. irectors receive additional +-s for dividends paJable on the common shares of $ifeco based on the 
value of a +- at the dividend paJment date. +-s are redeemable Hhen an individual ceases to be a irector or as 
applicable an officer or emploJee of the ompanJ or anJ of its affiliates bJ a lump sum cash paJment based on the Hei8hted 
avera8e tradin8 price per $ifeco common share on the T+0 for the last five tradin8 daJs precedin8 the date of redemption. !n 
  in irectors fees Here used to acBuire +-s  in . t ecember 1  the carrJin8 value of the +- liabilitJ 
is 1  in  recorded Hithin other liabilities. 

ertain emploJees of the ompanJ are entitled to receive +-s. -nder these +- (lans certain emploJees maJ elect to 
receive +-s as settlement of their annual incentive plan or as settlement of (+-s issued under the ompanJNs (+- (lan. !n 
both cases these emploJees are 8ranted +-s eBuivalent to $ifecoNs common shares. mploJees receive additional +-s in 
respect of dividends paJable on the common shares based on the value of the +-s at the time. +-s are redeemable Hhen an 
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individual ceases to be an officer or emploJee of the ompanJ or anJ of its affiliates bJ a lump sum cash paJment representin8 
the value of the +-s at that date. The ompanJ uses the fair	value based method to account for the +-s 8ranted to 
emploJees under the plans. or the Jear ended ecember 1  the ompanJ reco8niKed compensation eIpense of 1 
 in  for the +- (lans recorded in operatin8 and administrative eIpenses in the onsolidated +tatements of arnin8s. 
t ecember 1  the carrJin8 value of the +- liabilitJ is  1 in  recorded Hithin other liabilities in the 
onsolidated alance +heets. 

(c) Performance Share *nit Plan 

ertain emploJees of the ompanJ are entitled to receive (+-s. -nder the (+- (lan these emploJees are 8ranted (+-s 
eBuivalent to $ifecoNs common shares vestin8 over a three	Jear period. mploJees receive additional (+-s in respect of 
dividends paJable on the common shares of $ifeco based on the value of a (+- at that time. t the maturitJ date emploJees 
receive cash representin8 the value of the (+- at this date. The ompanJ uses the fair	value based method to account for the 
(+-s 8ranted to emploJees under the plan. or the Jear ended ecember 1  the ompanJ reco8niKed compensation 
eIpense of   in  for the (+- (lan recorded in operatin8 and administrative eIpenses in the onsolidated 
+tatements of arnin8s. t ecember 1  the carrJin8 value of the (+- liabilitJ is 1  in  recorded Hithin other 
liabilities. 

(d) Employee Share %Dnership Plan 

The ompanJs mploJee +hare 'Hnership (lan +'( is a voluntarJ plan Hhere eli8ible emploJees can contribute up to  
of their previous JearNs eli8ible earnin8s to purchase common shares of $ifeco. The ompanJ matches  of the total 
emploJee contributions. The contributions from the ompanJ vest immediatelJ and are eIpensed. or the Jear ended 
ecember 1  the ompanJ reco8niKed compensation eIpense of 1 1 in  for the +'( recorded in operatin8 
and administrative eIpenses in the onsolidated +tatements of arnin8s. 

2
. Pension Plans and ther Postmployment enefits 


%/ 1"/&01& 0 2+!&+$ +! &0( 

The ompanJ and its subsidiaries maintain contributorJ and non	contributorJ defined benefit pension plans for eli8ible 
emploJees and advisors. The ompanJ and its subsidiaries also maintain defined contribution pension plans for eli8ible 
emploJees and advisors. 

The defined benefit pension plans provide pensions based on len8th of service and final avera8e paJ hoHever these plans are 
closed to neH entrants. %anJ of the defined benefit pension plans also no lon8er provide future defined benefit accruals. The 
ompanJs defined benefit plan eIposure is eIpected to reduce in future Jears. /here defined benefit pension accruals 
continue active plan participants share in the cost bJ ma<in8 contributions in respect of current service. ertain pension 
paJments are indeIed either on an ad hoc basis or a 8uaranteed basis. The determination of the defined benefit obli8ation 
reflects pension benefits in accordance Hith the terms of the plans. ssets supportin8 the funded pension plans are held in 
separate trusteed pension funds. 'bli8ations for the HhollJ unfunded plans are included in other liabilities and are supported 
bJ 8eneral assets. 

&eH hires and active plan participants in defined benefit plans closed to future defined benefit accruals are eli8ible for defined 
contribution pension benefits. The defined contribution pension plans provide pension benefits based on accumulated 
emploJee and emploJer contributions. mploJer contributions to these plans are a set percenta8e of emploJeesN annual 
income and maJ be sub;ect to certain vestin8 reBuirements. 

The ompanJ and its subsidiaries also provide post	emploJment health dental and life insurance benefits to eli8ible 
emploJees advisors and their dependents. *etirees share in the cost of benefits throu8h deductibles co	insurance and caps on 
benefits. These plans are closed to neH hires and Here previouslJ amended to limit Hhich emploJees could become eli8ible to 
receive benefits. The amount of some of the post	emploJment benefits other than pensions depends on future cost escalation. 
These post	emploJment benefits are not pre	funded and the amount of the obli8ation for these benefits is included in other 
liabilities and is supported bJ 8eneral assets. 

The ompanJ and its subsidiaries have pension and benefit committees or a trusteed arran8ement that provides oversi8ht for 
the benefit plans. The benefit plans are monitored on an on8oin8 basis to assess the benefit fundin8 and investment policies 
financial status and fundin8 reBuirements. +i8nificant chan8es to the ompanJs or a subsidiarJ companJNs benefit plans 
reBuire approval from that companJs oard of irectors. 

The fundin8 policies of the ompanJ and its subsidiaries for the funded pension plans reBuire annual contributions eBual to or 
8reater than those reBuired bJ the applicable re8ulations and plan provisions that 8overn the fundin8 of the plans. /here 
funded plans have a net defined benefit pension plan asset the ompanJ determines if an economic benefit eIists in the form 
of potential reductions in future contributions bJ the ompanJ from the paJment of eIpenses from the plan and in the form of 
surplus refunds Hhere permitted bJ applicable re8ulation and plan provisions. 

The Canada Life Assurance Company 2024 Annual Report 83 



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements 

J their desi8n the defined benefit plans eIpose the ompanJ to the tJpical ris<s faced bJ defined benefit plans such as 
investment performance chan8es to the discount rates used to value the obli8ations lon8evitJ of plan members and future 
inflation. (ension and benefit ris< is mana8ed bJ re8ular monitorin8 of the plans applicable re8ulations and other factors that 
could impact the eIpenses and cash floHs of the ompanJ. 

The folloHin8 reflects the financial position of the contributorJ and non	contributorJ defined benefit plans of the ompanJ 
and its subsidiaries 

(a) Plan Assets, enefit %bligation and Funded Status 

Defined benefit %ther post-
pension employment benefits plans 

Change in fair value of plan assets 

Fair value of plan assets, beginning of year 

Interest income 

Actual return over (less than) interest income 

Employer contributions 

Employee contributions 

enefits paid 

Settlements 

Administrative expenses 

Net transfer in 

Plan amendments 

Foreign exchange rate changes 

Fair value of plan assets, end of year 

Change in defined benefit obligation 

Defined benefit obligation, beginning of year 

Current service cost 

Interest cost 

Employee contributions 

enefits paid 

Settlements 

Actuarial loss (gain) on financial assumption changes 

Actuarial loss (gain) on demographic assumption changes 

Actuarial loss (gain) arising from member experience 

Net transfer in 

Plan amendments 

Foreign exchange rate changes 

Defined benefit obligation, end of year 

Asset (liability) recogniGed on the Consolidated 
alance Sheets 

Funded status of plans - surplus (deficit) 

+nrecognized amount due to asset ceiling 

Asset (liability) recogniGed on the Consolidated 
alance Sheets 

Recorded in 

Other assets (note 11) 

Other liabilities (note 20) 

Asset (liability) recogniGed on the Consolidated 
alance Sheets 

Analysis of defined benefit obligation 

-holly or partly funded plans 

-holly unfunded plans 

2024 2023 2024 2023 

$ 5,984 $ 5,759 $ — $ — 

253 278 — — 

78 134 — — 

(21) 27 20 17 

22 22 — — 

(267) (257) (20) (17) 

(8) (2) — — 

(4) (4) — — 

1 1 — — 

(40) — — — 

71 26 — — 

$ 6,069 $ 5,984 $ — $ — 

$ 5,670 $ 5,198 $ 240 $ 233 

44 41 — — 

242 250 11 12 

22 22 — — 

(267) (257) (20) (17) 

(8) (3) — — 

(129) 379 — 14 

1 (15) — — 

36 30 2 (2) 

1 1 — — 

(30) — — — 

64 24 1 — 

$ 5,646 $ 5,670 $ 234 $ 240 

$ 423 $ 314 $ (234) $ (240) 

(148) (202) — — 

$ 275 $ 112 $ (234) $ (240) 

$ 493 $ 365 $ — $ —

(218) (253) (234) (240) 

$ 275 $ 112 $ (234) $ (240) 

$ 5,435 $ 5,454 $ — $ — 

$ 211 $ 216 $ 234 $ 240 
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-nder !*! 1 Te m' on a ene 
ene' 	sse' nm(m (nn e$(%emen's an 'e% In'e%ac'on the ompanJ 
must assess Hhether each pension plans asset has economic benefit to the ompanJ throu8h future contribution reductions 
from the paJment of eIpenses from the plan or surplus refunds in the event the ompanJ is not entitled to a benefit a limit or 
asset ceilin8 is reBuired on the balance. The folloHin8 provides a brea<doHn of the chan8es in the asset ceilin8 

Defined benefit pension plans 

2024 2023 

Change in asset ceiling 

Asset ceiling, beginning of year $ 202 $ 310 

Interest on asset ceiling 8 14 

Change in asset ceiling (66) (123) 

Foreign exchange rate changes 

$ 148 $ 202 

1 4 

Asset ceiling, end of year 

(b) Pension and %ther Post-Employment enefits Expense 

The total pension and other post	emploJment benefit eIpense included in operatin8 eIpenses and other comprehensive 
income are as folloHs 

efined benefit current service cost 

efined contribution current service cost 

Employee contributions 

Employer current service cost 

Administrative expense 

Settlements 

Net interest cost 

Expense - profit or loss 

Actuarial (gain) loss recognized 

Return on assets (greater) less than assumed 

Change in the asset ceiling 

Re-measurements - other comprehensive (income) loss 

Total (income) expense including re-measurements 

All pension plans 
%ther post-

employment benefits 

2024 2023 2024 2023 

$ 66 $ 63 $ — $ — 

115 109 — — 

(22) (22) — — 

159 150 — — 

4 4 — — 

— (1) — — 

(3) (14) 11 12 

160 139 11 12 

(92) 394 2 12 

(78) (134) — — 

(66) (123) — — 

(236) 137 2 12 

$ (76) $ 276 $ 13 $ 24 

(c) Asset Allocation by Ma7or Category ,eighted by Plan Assets 

Defined benefit pension plans 

2024 2023 

E?uity securities  37   34  

ebt securities  54   56  

Real estate  6   8  

Cash and cash e?uivalents 

100  100  

 2   3  

Total 

&o plan assets are directlJ invested in the ompanJNs or related partiesN securities. (lan assets include investments in 
se8re8ated funds and other funds mana8ed bJ subsidiaries of the ompanJ of 1 at ecember 1  and  at 
ecember 1  of Hhich   at ecember 1  are included on the onsolidated alance +heets. (lan 
assets do not include anJ propertJ occupied or other assets used bJ the ompanJ. 
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(d) Details of Defined enefit %bligation 

& ,/1&,+ ,# "#&+"! 	"+"#&1 )&$1&,+ 2'" 1 1, 212/" )/6 + /"0"0 

Defined benefit 
pension plans 

%ther post-
employment benefits 

2024 2023 2024 2023 

enefit obligation without future salary increases $ 5,200 $ 5,210 $ 234 $ 240 

Effect of assumed future salary increases 446 460 

$ 5,646 $ 5,670 $ 234 $ 240 

— — 

Defined benefit obligation 

The other post	emploJment benefits are not sub;ect to future salarJ increases. 

&& ,/1&,+ ,# "#&+"! 	"+"#&1 )&$1&,+ &1%,21 212/" "+0&,+ + /"0"0 

Defined benefit 
pension plans 

%ther post-
employment benefits 

2024 2023 2024 2023 

enefit obligation without future pension increases $ 4,986 $ 4,941 $ 234 $ 240 

Effect of assumed future pension increases 

$ 5,646 $ 5,670 $ 234 $ 240 

729 660 — — 

Defined benefit obligation 

The other post	emploJment benefits are not sub;ect to future pension increases. 

&&& 12/&16 /,#&)" ,# )+ "*"/0%&-

Defined benefit 
pension plans 

%ther post-
employment benefits 

2024 2023 2024 2023 

38  39   7   7  Actives 

eferred vesteds 15  15  na na 

Retirees 

100  100  100  100  

15 
3 years 14 
8 years 9 
9 years 9 
6 years 

93  93  46  47  

Total 

-eighted average duration of defined benefit obligation 

(e) Cash FloD Information 

Expected employer contributions for 202 

Funded (wholly or partly) defined benefit plans $ (36) $ — $ (36) 

+nfunded plans 15 19 34 

efined contribution plans 124 124 

$ 103 $ 19 $ 122 

— 

Total 

Pension 
plans 

%ther post-
employment 

benefits Total 
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(f) 

& 

Actuarial Assumptions and Sensitivities 

 12/&) 002*-1&,+0 

To determine benefit cost 

iscount rate - past service liabilities 

iscount rate - future service liabilities 

Rate of compensation increase 

Future pension increases 1 

4
3 

4
6 

3
4 

2
1 

4
9  

5
3  

3
8  

2
3  

4
7 

4
7 

— 

— 

5
3  

5
3  

—  

—  

To determine defined benefit obligation 

iscount rate - past service liabilities 

Rate of compensation increase 

Future pension increases 1 

4
4 

3
4 

2
0 

4
3  

3
4  

2
1  

4
6 

— 

— 

4
7  

—  

—  

Medical cost trend rates 

Initial medical cost trend rate 

+ltimate medical cost trend rate 

.ear ultimate trend rate is reached 

4
6 

4
0 

2040

4
6  

4
0  

2040 

1 *epresents the Hei8hted avera8e of plans sub;ect to future pension increases. 

&& *-)" &#" 5-" 1+ &"0 	0"! ,+ ,/1)&16 002*-1&,+0 

Defined benefit 
pension plans 

%ther post-
employment benefits 

2024 2023 2024 2023 

Defined benefit 
pension plans 

%ther post-
employment benefits 

2024 2023 2024 2023 

Sample life expectancies based on mortality 
assumption 

Male 

Age 65 in fiscal year 23
 1 23
 0 22
 9 22
 8 

Age 65 for those age 35 in the fiscal year 24
 9 24
 8 24
 3 24
 3 

Female 

Age 65 in fiscal year 25
 2 25
 2 25
 2 25
 2 

Age 65 for those age 35 in the fiscal year 27
 0 26
 9 26
 6 26
 5 

The period of time over Hhich benefits are assumed to be paid is based on best estimates of future mortalitJ includin8 
alloHances for mortalitJ improvements. This estimate is sub;ect to considerable uncertaintJ and ;ud8ment is reBuired in 
establishin8 this assumption. s mortalitJ assumptions are si8nificant in measurin8 the defined benefit obli8ation the 
mortalitJ assumptions applied bJ the ompanJ ta<e into consideration such factors as a8e 8ender and 8eo8raphic location in 
addition to an estimation of future improvements in lon8evitJ. 

The mortalitJ tables are revieHed at least annuallJ and assumptions are in accordance Hith accepted actuarial practice. 
mer8in8 plan eIperience is revieHed and considered in establishin8 the best estimate for future mortalitJ. 

The calculation of the defined benefit obli8ation is sensitive to the mortalitJ assumptions. The effect of a one	Jear increase in 
life eIpectancJ Hould be an increase in the defined benefit obli8ation of 1 for the defined benefit pension plans and  for 
other post	emploJment benefits. 

The Canada Life Assurance Company 2024 Annual Report 87 



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements 

&&& *- 1 ,# 
%+$"0 1, 002*-1&,+0 ,+ "#&+"! 	"+"#&1 )&$1&,+ 

Defined benefit pension plans 

Impact of a change to the discount rate 

Impact of a change to the rate of compensation increase 

Impact of a change to the rate of inflation 

%ther post-employment benefits 

Impact of a change to assumed medical cost trend rates 

Impact of a change to the discount rate 

1 increase 1 decrease 

2024 2023 2024 2023 

$ (735) $ (716) $ 936 $ 908 

170 173 (154) (157) 

344 346 (304) (313) 

13 12 (12) (11) 

(20) (20) 24 24 

To measure the impact of a chan8e in an assumption all other assumptions Here held constant. !t is eIpected that there Hould 
be interaction betHeen at least some of the assumptions. 

2. Accumulated ther Comprehensive Income 

2024 

*nrealiGed Re-
*nrealiGed gains measurements 

foreign (losses) on *nrealiGed on defined 
exchange hedges of gains (losses) benefit Revaluation 
gains on the net on stocks, pension and surplus on 

translation investment bonds and other post- transfer to Non-
of foreign in foreign mortgages at employment investment controlling Participating 
operations operations F+%CI benefit plans properties Total interests account Shareholder 

alance, 
beginning of 
year $ 416 $ (62) $ (359) $ (163) $ 10 $ (158) $ 1 $ (88) $ (71) 

Other 
comprehensive 
income (loss) 718 (128) 124 212 — 926 — 128 798 

Income tax — 36 (27) (61) — (52) — (36) (16) 

718 (92) 97 151 — 874 — 92 782 

alance, end of 
year $ 1,134 $ (154) $ (262) $ (12) $ 10 $ 716 $ 1 $ 4 $ 711 

2023 

+nrealized Re-
+nrealized gains measurements 

foreign (losses) on on defined 
exchange hedges of +nrealized benefit Revaluation 
gains on the net gains (losses) pension and surplus on 

translation investment on bonds and other post- transfer to Non-
of foreign in foreign mortgages at employment investment controlling Participating 
operations operations F,OCI benefit plan properties Total interests account Shareholder 

alance, 
beginning of

 year $ 305 $ (78) $ (715) $ (55) $ 10 $ (533) $ 1 $ (175) $ (359) 

Other 
comprehensive 
income (loss) 111 23 455 (149) — 440 — 138 302 

Income tax — (7) (99) 41 — (65) — (51) (14) 

111 16 356 (108) — 375 — 87 288 

alance, end of 
year $ 416 $ (62) $ (359) $ (163) $ 10 $ (158) $ 1 $ (88) $ (71) 
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2. elated Party Transactions 

reat	/est $ifeco !nc. is the parent of the ompanJ. s such the ompanJ is related to reat	/est $ifeco !nc. and its other 
ma;or operatin8 subsidiaries includin8 mpoHer nnuitJ !nsurance ompanJ of merica mpoHer. !n addition reat	/est 
$ifeco !nc. is a member of the (oHer orporation 8roup of companies. Throu8h this relationship the ompanJ is also related 
to the (oHer orporation 8roup of companies Hhich includes !% a companJ in the financial services sector alon8 Hith its 
subsidiaries ! /ealth %ana8ement and %ac<enKie inancial and roupe ruIelles $ambert a holdin8 companJ based in 
urope Hith substantial holdin8s in 8lobal industrial and services companies. 

(a) Principal Subsidiaries 

The consolidated financial statements of the ompanJ include the operations of the folloHin8 subsidiaries and their 
subsidiaries 

G-# Realty Advisors Inc
 Canada Real estate investment management 100
 00 

Canada #ife #imited +nited "ingdom Insurance and wealth management 100
 00 

Irish #ife Assurance p 
l
c Ireland Insurance and wealth management 100
 00 

Company  eld Primary business operation Incorporated in 

(b) Transactions Dith Related Parties Included in the Consolidated Financial Statements 

"&+02/+ " /+0 1&,+0 
 subsidiarJ of the ompanJ has a8reements Hith mpoHer an affiliated companJ to assume certain life business. !n  for 
the onsolidated +tatements of arnin8s these transactions resulted in an increase in insurance service result of  1 in 
 and a decrease in net investment result of 11 increase of  in . The transactions Here at mar<et terms and 
conditions. 

urin8  reat	/est $ife  nnuitJ !nsurance ompanJ of +outh arolina /+ an affiliated companJ assumed on a 
coinsurance basis Hith funds Hithheld certain of anada $ifeNs -.+. term life reinsurance business. urin8  an additional 
amount of -.+ term life reinsurance business Has retroceded bJ anada $ife to /+. !n  for the onsolidated 
+tatements of arnin8s these transactions resulted in a reduction in insurance service result of   in  and an 
increase in net investment result of   in . These transactions Here at mar<et terms and conditions. 

1%"/ ")1"! /16 /+0 1&,+0 
!n the normal course of business the ompanJ provided insurance benefits and other services to other companies Hithin the 
(oHer orporation 8roup of companies. !n all cases transactions Here at mar<et terms and conditions. 

urin8 the Jear the ompanJ provided to and received from !% and its subsidiaries a member of the (oHer orporation 
8roup of companies certain administrative services. The ompanJ also provided life insurance annuitJ and disabilitJ 
insurance products under a distribution a8reement Hith !%. ll transactions Here provided at mar<et terms and conditions. 

The ompanJ oHns  shares representin8 a . oHnership interest in !%. The ompanJ uses the eBuitJ method to 
account for its investment in !% as it eIercises si8nificant influence. !n  the ompanJ reco8niKed 1 for the eBuitJ 
method share of !% net earnin8s and received dividends of 1 from its investment in !% note . 

urin8  the ompanJ redeemed the remainin8 1 of the  . debenture issued to $ifeco in 1. lso 
redeemed Here 1 of preferred shares of a HhollJ	oHned subsidiarJ of $ifeco. 

urin8  the ompanJ issued  of .1 debentures to $ifeco. The ompanJ made a correspondin8 investment of 
 in preferred shares of a HhollJ	oHned subsidiarJ of $ifeco. The ompanJ also issued 1 of . debentures to 
$ifeco in . The ompanJ made a correspondin8 investment of 1 in preferred shares of a HhollJ	oHned subsidiarJ of 
$ifeco. The ompanJ has le8allJ enforceable ri8hts to settle these financial instruments on a net basis and the ompanJ 
intends to eIercise these ri8hts. ccordin8lJ the investments and debentures are offset in the consolidated financial 
statements of the ompanJ. 

(oHer orporation also controls +a8ard  oldin8s !nc. +a8ard a multi	strate8J alternative asset mana8er (oHer +ustainable 
%ana8er !nc. (oHer +ustainable a 8lobal multi	platform alternative asset mana8er and (orta8e .entures (orta8e a 8lobal 
fintech venture capital investment strate8J. $ifeco has a minoritJ investment in +a8ard and in  entered into a lon8	term 
strate8ic partnership Hith (oHer +ustainable. $ifeco and %ac<enKie inancial orporation a HhollJ	oHned subsidiarJ of !% 
are investors in &orthleaf apital (artners $td. &orthleaf a 8lobal private eBuitJ private credit and infrastructure fund 
mana8er. The ompanJ and its subsidiaries invest in funds mana8ed bJ +a8ard (oHer +ustainable (orta8e and &orthleaf. 
+a8ard also provides certain sub 	advisorJ and propertJ mana8ement services to the ompanJ and its subsidiaries. 
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+e8re8ated funds of the ompanJ Here invested in funds mana8ed bJ ! /ealth %ana8ement and %ac<enKie !nvestments. 
%ac<enKie !nvestments also mana8es certain of the ompanJs portfolio investments. The ompanJ also has interests in 
mutual funds open	ended investment companies unit trusts and private eBuitJ funds. +ome of these funds are mana8ed bJ 
related parties of the ompanJ Hho are paid mana8ement fees related to these services. urin8  the ompanJ made 
additional investments in funds mana8ed bJ related parties. ll transactions Here provided at mar<et terms and conditions 
note 1. 

'n &ovember   the ompanJ acBuired !( from !% for purchase consideration of . The transaction Has 
revieHed and approved bJ the onduct *evieH ommittee of each of the ompanJ and $ifeco note . 

The ompanJ held debentures issued bJ !% Hith a carrJin8 value of  at ecember 1   at ecember 1 . 

The ompanJ held investments in ollateraliKed $oan 'bli8ations mana8ed bJ mpoHer apital %ana8ement $$ Hith a 
carrJin8 value of  at ecember 1   at ecember 1 . 

The ompanJ has service a8reements Hith a subsidiarJ of mpoHer to provide administrative and information technolo8J 
services to the ompanJ. 

'n ecember   the ompanJ issued to reat	/est $ifeco -.+. $$ an affiliated entitJ a -.+.   at ecember 1 
 and  at ecember 1  	Jear loan Hith an annual interest rate of 1.. urin8  interest income of 1 1 in 
 is included in the onsolidated +tatements of arnin8s. 

'n ecember  1 $ifeco issued to the ompanJ a R  at ecember 1  and  at ecember 1  1	 
Jear loan Hith an annual interest rate of . until first par call date of ecember   and thereafter at a rate eBual to the 
five	Jear euro semi	annual mid	sHap rate plus 1. note 1. urin8  interest eIpense of   in  is included in 
the onsolidated +tatements of arnin8s. 

The ompanJ has . debentures due to $ifeco its parent Hhich have an outstandin8 balance of   in . 
inancin8 char8es of 1 is included in the onsolidated +tatements of arnin8s 1 in . 

'n "anuarJ 1  the ompanJ issued a  . debenture to $ifeco. The ompanJ made a correspondin8 investment 
of  in preferred shares of a HhollJ oHned subsidiarJ of $ifeco. The ompanJ has a le8allJ enforceable ri8ht to settle these 
financial instruments on a net basis and the ompanJ intends to eIercise this ri8ht. ccordin8lJ the investment and debenture 
Hill be offset in the consolidated financial statements of the ompanJ. 

'n 'ctober   the ompanJ issued a  .1 debenture to $ifeco. The ompanJ made a correspondin8 investment 
of  in preferred shares of a HhollJ oHned subsidiarJ of $ifeco. The ompanJ has a le8allJ enforceable ri8ht to settle these 
financial instruments on a net basis and the ompanJ intends to eIercise this ri8ht. ccordin8lJ the investment and debenture 
Hill be offset in the consolidated financial statements of the ompanJ. 

urin8  the ompanJ redeemed the 1 .1 debenture issued to a HhollJ oHned subsidiarJ of $ifeco in . lso 
redeemed Has 1 of preferred shares in that subsidiarJ. The ompanJ had a le8allJ enforceable ri8ht to settle these financial 
instruments on a net basis. ccordin8lJ the investment and debenture Here offset in the consolidated financial statements of 
the ompanJ at ecember 1 . 

(c) !ey Management Compensation 

#eJ mana8ement personnel constitute those individuals that have the authoritJ and responsibilitJ for plannin8 directin8 and 
controllin8 the activities of the ompanJ directlJ or indirectlJ includin8 anJ irector. The individuals that comprise the <eJ 
mana8ement personnel are the oard of irectors as Hell as certain <eJ mana8ement and officers. 

The folloHin8 describes all compensation paid to aHarded to or earned bJ each of the <eJ mana8ement personnel for services 
rendered in all capacities to the ompanJ and its subsidiaries 

2024 2023 

Salary $ 19 $ 19 

Share-based awards 18 17 

Option-based awards 9 8 

Annual non-e?uity incentive plan compensation 8 9 

Other 

$ 55 $ 55 

2 1 

Total 
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29. Income Ta6es 

(a) Components of the Income Tax Expense 

& + ,*" 5 " ,$+&7"! &+ 
,+0,)&!1"! 11"*"+10 ,# /+&+$0 

2023 2024 

Current income tax 

Current income tax $ 590 $ 469 

Current Global Minimum Tax (GMT) — 

Total current income tax 

Insurance 

2024 

Total %ther credits Tax assets forDard investments liabilities 

104 

$ 694 $ 469 

Deferred income tax 

Origination and reversal of temporary differences $ (237) $ (547) 

Tax expense (recovery) arising from unrecognized tax losses, tax credits or temporary differences 

Total deferred income tax 

Total income tax expense (recovery) 

(2) (2) 

$ (239) $ (549) 

$ 455 $ (80) 

&& + ,*" 5 " ,$+&7"! &+ 1%"/ 
,*-/"%"+0&3" + ,*" +,1"  

Current income tax expense (recovery) 

eferred income tax expense (recovery) 

Total 

2024 2023 

$ (13) $ 43 

65 22 

$ 52 $ 65 

(b) The Effective Income Tax Rate Reported in the Consolidated Statements of Earnings +aries From 
the Combined Canadian Federal and Provincial Income Tax Rate of 2	00 for the FolloDing Items 

Earnings before income taxes $ 2,339 

Combined basic Canadian federal and provincial tax rate 655 28
 00  

Increase (decrease) in the income tax rate resulting from 

Non-taxable investment income (233) (9
 96) 

Operations outside of Canada subject to a lower average 
foreign tax rate (483) (20
 65) 

Other 

Total income tax expense (recovery) and effective 
income tax rate excluding GMT (80) (3
 42) 

Global Minimum Tax — — 

Total income tax expense (recovery) and effective 
income tax rate (80) (3
 42) 

2024 2023 

$ 3,699 

1,036 28
 00  

(353) (9
 54) 

(347) (9
 38) 

15 0
 41 (19) (0
 81) 

$ 351 9
 49  $ 

104 2
 81 

$ 455 12
 30  $ 

(c) Composition and Changes in Net Deferred Income Tax Assets are as FolloDs 

and 
investment 
contract Portfolio 

"osses 
carried Intangible 

alance, beginning of year $ (353) $ 230 $ 525 $ (295) $ 82 $ 101 $ 290 

Recognized in Consolidated 
Statements of Earnings 150 64 61 (39) (42) 45 239 

Recognized in Consolidated 
Statements of Comprehensive 
Income — (2) — — — (63) (65) 

Ac?uired in business combinations — (59) — (36) — 1 (94) 

Other and foreign exchange rate 
changes (51) 73 41 (2) — (20) 41 

alance, end of year $ (254) $ 306 $ 627 $ (372) $ 40 $ 64 $ 411 
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2023 

Insurance 
and 

investment #osses 
contract Portfolio carried Intangible 
liabilities investments forward assets Tax credits Other Total 

alance, beginning of year $ (1,103) $ 520 $ 537 $ (303) $ 120 $ 7 $ (222) 

Recognized in Consolidated 
Statements of Earnings 672 (113) (11) 21 (39) 19 

Recognized in Consolidated 
Statements of Comprehensive 
Income — (55) — — — 33 (22) 

Ac?uired in business combinations — — 4 (12) 1 (3) (10) 

Other and foreign exchange rate 
changes 78 (122) (5) (1) — 45 (5) 

alance, end of year $ (353) $ 230 $ 525 $ (295) $ 82 $ 101 $ 290 

Recorded on Consolidated alance Sheets 2024 2023 

eferred tax assets $ 958 $ 804 

eferred tax liabilities 

Total 

(547) (514) 

$ 411 $ 290 

 deferred income taI asset is reco8niKed for deductible temporarJ differences and unused taI losses and carrJforHards onlJ to 
the eItent that realiKation of the related income taI benefit throu8h future taIable profits is probable. 

*eco8nition is based on the fact that it is probable that the entitJ Hill have taIable profits andor taI plannin8 opportunities 
available to alloH the deferred income taI asset to be utiliKed. han8es in circumstances in future periods maJ adverselJ 
impact the assessment of the recoverabilitJ. The uncertaintJ of the recoverabilitJ is ta<en into account in establishin8 the 
deferred income taI assets. The ompanJs annual financial plannin8 process provides a si8nificant basis for the measurement 
of deferred income taI assets. 

%ana8ement assesses the recoverabilitJ of the deferred income taI assets carrJin8 values based on future JearsN taIable 
income pro;ections and believes the carrJin8 values of the deferred income taI assets as of ecember 1  are recoverable. 

t ecember 1  the ompanJ has reco8niKed a deferred taI asset of   at ecember 1  on taI loss 
carrJforHards totalin8 1 of Hhich 1 eIpire betHeen  and  Hhile  have no eIpirJ date. The ompanJ Hill 
realiKe this benefit in future Jears throu8h a reduction in current income taIes paJable. 

The ompanJ has not reco8niKed a deferred taI asset of 1 11 in  on taI loss carrJforHards totalin8   in 
. 'f this amount  eIpire betHeen  and  Hhile  have no eIpirJ date. !n addition the ompanJ has not 
reco8niKed a deferred taI asset of  11 in  on other temporarJ differences of   in  associated Hith 
investments in subsidiaries branches and associates. 

 deferred income taI liabilitJ has not been reco8niKed in respect of the temporarJ differences associated Hith investments in 
subsidiaries branches and associates as the ompanJ is able to control the timin8 of the reversal of the temporarJ differences 
and it is probable that the temporarJ differences Hill not reverse in the foreseeable future. 

The 'r8aniKation for conomic o	'peration and evelopment ' introduced a 1 %T re8ime that has been adopted 
for  bJ all countries in Hhich the ompanJ has si8nificant operations. $e8islation has been enacted bJ anada arbados 
ermanJ !reland and the -.#. Hith an effective date of "anuarJ 1 . 

The %T is compleI in nature and applies to anada $ife as part of a lar8er 8roup of related companies. The ompanJ is liable 
for %T in respect of arbados and !reland ;urisdictions Hhere the statutorJ taI rates are beloH 1. 

The ompanJ has applied the mandatorJ temporarJ eIception in !+ 1 Income Taxes from reco8niKin8 and disclosin8 
deferred taI assets and liabilities related to the %T. 
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30. erivative inancial Instruments and edging 

!n the normal course of mana8in8 eIposure to fluctuations in interest and forei8n eIchan8e rates and to mar<et ris<s the 
ompanJ is an end	user of various derivative financial instruments. !t is the ompanJs policJ to transact in derivatives onlJ 
Hith the most creditHorthJ financial intermediaries. &ote  discloses the credit BualitJ of the ompanJs eIposure to 
counterparties. redit ris< eBuivalent amounts are presented net of eli8ible collateral received of  as at ecember 1  
 at ecember 1 . 

(a) The FolloDing SummariGes the Companys Derivative Portfolio and Related Credit Exposure *sing 
the FolloDing Definitions of Risk as Prescribed by %SFI 

Maximum credit risk The total replacement cost of all derivative contracts with positive values
 

Future credit exposure The potential future credit exposure is calculated based on a formula prescribed by OSFI
 The factors 
prescribed by OSFI for this calculation are based on derivative type and duration 

Credit risk e?uivalent The sum of maximum credit risk and the potential future credit exposure less any eligible collateral held 

Risk weighted e?uivalent Represents the credit risk e?uivalent, weighted according to the creditworthiness of the counterparty, as 
prescribed by OSFI
 

2024 2023 

Notional 
amount 

Maximum 
credit 
risk 

Future 
credit 

exposure 

Credit 
risk 

e>uivalent 

Risk 
Deighted 
e>uivalent 

Notional 
amount 

Maximum 
credit 
risk 

Future 
credit 

exposure 

Credit 
risk 

e?uivalent 

Risk 
weighted 
e?uivalent 

Interest rate 
contracts 

Swaps $ 9,014 $ 185 $ 100 $ 243 $ 4 $ 6,398 $ 152 $ 69 $ 151 $ 3 

Futures - short 159 — — — — 153 — — — — 

Options 
purchased 

Foreign 
exchange 
contracts 

Cross-currency 
swaps 26,821 1,109 1,677 2,482 50 23,372 1,145 1,501 2,008 40 

Forward 
contracts 

%ther 
derivative 
contracts 

E?uity 
contracts 2,188 4 142 145 1 1,760 100 131 164 1 

Futures - long 14 — — — — 14 — — — — 

Futures - short 549 — — — — 562 1 — — — 

E?uity options-
written 1,509 28 121 148 1 — — — — — 

Credit default 
swaps 39 1 — — — I I I I I 

Total 

3,239 90 37 43 1 1,995 15 19 26 — 

12,412 275 137 286 5 8,546 167 88 177 3 

8,605 41 108 141 1 6,332 73 80 124 1 

35,426 1,150 1,785 2,623 51 29,704 1,218 1,581 2,132 41 

4,299 33 263 293 2 2,336 101 131 164 1 

$ 52,137 $ 1,458 $ 2,185 $ 3,202 $ 58 $ 40,586 $ 1,486 $ 1,800 $ 2,473 $ 45 
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(b) The FolloDing Provides the Notional Amount, Term to Maturity and Carrying +alue of the 
CompanyHs Derivative Portfolio by Category 

2024 

Notional amount Carrying value 

1 year 
or less 1- years 

%ver  
years Total Assets "iabilities 

Derivatives not designated as 
accounting hedges 

Interest rate contracts 

Swaps $ 828 $ 2,243 $ 5,943 $ 9,014 $ 185 $ (340) 

Futures - short 159 — — 159 — — 

Options purchased 216 864 2,159 3,239 90 — 

1,203 3,107 8,102 12,412 275 (340) 

Foreign exchange 
contracts 

Cross-currency swaps 3,025 5,515 18,281 26,821 1,109 (1,400) 

Forward contracts 5,619 7 — 5,626 4 (225) 

8,644 5,522 18,281 32,447 1,113 (1,625) 

%ther derivative contracts 

E?uity contracts 1,631 557 — 2,188 4 (18) 

Futures - long 14 — — 14 — — 

Futures - short 549 — — 549 — — 

E?uity options - written — 1,509 — 1,509 28 — 

Credit default swaps — 26 13 39 1 — 

2,194 2,092 13 4,299 33 (18) 

Derivatives designated as 
accounting hedges 

Fair value hedges 

Foreign currency risk 

Foreign exchange 
contracts 

Forward contracts 79 — — 79 — (3) 

79 — — 79 — (3) 

Net investment hedges 

Foreign currency risk 

Foreign exchange 
contracts 

Forward contracts 2,353 547 — 2,900 37 (88) 

2,353 547 — 2,900 37 (88) 

Total $ 14,473 $ 11,268 $ 26,396 $ 52,137 $ 1,458 $ (2,074) 
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2023 

Notional amount Carrying value 

1 year 
or less 1-5 years 

Over 5 
years Total Assets #iabilities 

erivatives not designated as 
accounting hedges 

Interest rate contracts 

Swaps $ 598 $ 1,764 $ 4,036 $ 6,398 $ 152 $ (338) 

Futures - long 153 — — 153 — — 

Options purchased 

Foreign exchange contracts 

Cross-currency swaps 1,723 5,594 16,055 23,372 1,145 (840) 

Forward contracts 

Other derivative contracts 

E?uity contracts 504 1,256 — 1,760 100 (1) 

Futures - long 14 — — 14 — — 

Futures - short 

erivatives designated as 
accounting hedges 

Fair value hedges 

Foreign currency risk 

Foreign exchange 
contracts 

200 798 997 1,995 15 — 

951 2,562 5,033 8,546 167 (338) 

3,778 

(851) 1,190 27,150 16,055 5,594 5,501 

(11) 45 3,778 — — 

562 

(5) 101 2,336 1,256 1,080 

(4) 1 562 — — 

— 

Forward contracts 80 — — 80 1 — 

80 — — 80 1 — 

Net investment hedges 

Foreign currency risk 

Foreign exchange 
contracts 

Forward contracts 1,967 507 — 2,474 27 (14) 

1,967 507 — 2,474 27 (14) 

Total $ 9,579 $ 9,919 $ 21,088 $ 40,586 $ 1,486 $ (1,208) 

utures contracts included in the above are eIchan8e traded contracts all other contracts are over 	the	counter. 

(c) The FolloDing Provides Further Details on the Derivatives Designated as Accounting edges 

Exchange rates are expressed in dollar terms 

Fair value hedges 

Foreign currency risk 

Foreign exchange contracts 

ForDard contracts    I  I   

-eighted average +S-CA exchange rate 1
 37 — — 1
 37 

Net investment hedges 

Foreign currency risk 

Foreign exchange contracts 

ForDard contracts  2,  4  I  2,00 

-eighted average +S-CA exchange rate 1
 37 — — 1
 37 

-eighted average E+R-GP exchange rate 0
 83 0
 83 — 0
 83 

2024 

Notional amount 

1 year 
or less 1- years 

%ver 
 years Total 

The Canada Life Assurance Company 2024 Annual Report 95 



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements 

2023 

Notional amount 

1 year 
or less 1-5 years 

Over 
5 years Total 

Fair value hedges 

Foreign currency risk 

Foreign exchange contracts 

Foreign exchange forward contracts $ 80 $ — $ — $ 80 

-eighted average +S-CA exchange rate 1
 34 — — 1
 34 

Net investment hedges 

Foreign currency risk 

Foreign exchange contracts 

Forward contracts $ 1,967 $ 507 $ — $ 2,474 

-eighted average +S-CA exchange rate 1
 34 — — 1
 34 

-eighted average E+R-GP exchange rate 0
 86 0
 86 — 0
 86 

(d) The FolloDing Provides Details of the Companys Derivative Portfolio by Type of Instrument 

+1"/"01 1" 
,+1/ 10 
!nterest rate sHaps futures and options are used as part of a portfolio of assets to mana8e interest rate ris< associated Hith 
investment activities and insurance and investment contract liabilities. !nterest	rate sHap a8reements reBuire the periodic 
eIchan8e of paJments Hithout the eIchan8e of the notional principal amount on Hhich paJments are based. all options 8rant 
the ompanJ the ri8ht to enter into a sHap Hith predetermined fiIed	rate paJments over a predetermined time period on the 
eIercise date. all options are also used to hed8e minimum rate 8uarantees. 

,/"&$+ 5 %+$" 
,+1/ 10 
ross	currencJ sHaps are used in combination Hith other investments to mana8e forei8n currencJ ris< associated Hith 
investment activities and insurance and investment contract liabilities. -nder these sHaps principal amounts and fiIed or 
floatin8 interest paJments maJ be eIchan8ed in different currencies. The ompanJ also enters into certain forei8n eIchan8e 
forHard contracts to hed8e certain product liabilities. 

1%"/ "/&31&3" 
,+1/ 10 
BuitJ indeI sHaps futures and options are used to hed8e certain product liabilities. BuitJ indeI sHaps are also used as 
substitutes for cash instruments and are used to periodicallJ hed8e the mar<et ris< associated Hith certain fee income. BuitJ 
put options are used to mana8e potential credit ris< impact of si8nificant declines in certain eBuitJ mar<ets. 

(e) edge Accounting 

&/ )2" "!$"0 
The ineffective portion of fair value hed8es reco8niKed in the net investment result Hhich includes forei8n eIchan8e contracts 
Has nil durin8  and . 

"1 +3"01*"+1 "!$"0 
The effects of the ompanJNs net investment hed8es on the onsolidated +tatements of arnin8s and onsolidated +tatements 
of omprehensive !ncome are shoHn in the folloHin8 table. 

2024 

Change in fair Change in fair 
value of hedged value of hedging Gains (losses) Ineffectiveness 

items for instruments for reclassified from recogniGed in 
ineffectiveness ineffectiveness Gains (losses) A%CI into total total investment 
measurement measurement deferred in A%CI investment result result 

Foreign exchange forward contracts $ 88 $ (88) $ (88) $ — $ — 
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Change in fair Change in fair 

2023 

value of hedged value of hedging Gains (losses) 
items for instruments for reclassified from Ineffectiveness 

ineffectiveness ineffectiveness Gains (losses) AOCI into total recognized in total 
measurement investment result investment result deferred in AOCI measurement 

Foreign exchange forward contracts $ $ $1 7 $1 7$(17) — — 

31. Legal Provisions and Contingent Liabilities 

The ompanJ and its subsidiaries are from time	to	time sub;ect to le8al actions includin8 arbitrations class actions and 
re8ulatorJ matters. (rovisions are established if in mana8ements ;ud8ment it is probable a paJment Hill be reBuired and the 
amount of the paJment can be reliablJ estimated. !t is inherentlJ difficult to predict the outcome of anJ of these proceedin8s 
Hith certaintJ and it is possible that an adverse resolution could have a material adverse effect on the consolidated financial 
position of the ompanJ.  oHever based on information presentlJ <noHn it is not eIpected that anJ of the eIistin8 le8al 
actions either individuallJ or in the a88re8ate Hill have a material adverse effect on the consolidated financial position of the 
ompanJ. ctual results could differ from mana8ementNs best estimates. 

 proposed class action Has filed a8ainst a subsidiarJ of the ompanJ in anada and other third partJ defendants relatin8 to 
the defendants alle8ed use of a softHare application for settin8 rents in mutli	familJ residential compleIes. %ana8ement 
believes the claim to be Hithout merit and Hill be vi8orouslJ defendin8 the action. 

32. Commitments 

(a) "etters of Credit 

$etters of credit are Hritten commitments provided bJ a ban<. The total amount of letter of credit facilities is -.+. 1 of 
Hhich -.+.  Here issued as of ecember 1 . 

The apital and *is< +olutions se8ment periodicallJ uses letters of credit as collateral under certain reinsurance contracts for 
on	balance sheet policJ liabilities.  

(b) Investment Commitments 

ommitments of investment transactions made in the normal course of operations in accordance Hith policies and 8uidelines 
that are to be disbursed upon fulfillment of certain contract conditions Here  as at ecember 1  Hith  
maturin8 Hithin one Jear 11 maturin8 Hithin tHo Jears  maturin8 Hithin three Jears and  maturin8 Hithin four Jears. 

(c) Pledged Assets 

!n addition to the assets pled8ed bJ the ompanJ disclosed elseHhere in the consolidated financial statements 

Q The amount of assets included in the ompanJs balance sheet Hhich have a securitJ interest bJ HaJ of pled8in8 is 1 
1 at ecember 1  in respect of reinsurance a8reements. 

Q !n addition under certain reinsurance contracts bonds presented in portfolio investments are held in trust and escroH 
accounts. ssets are placed in these accounts pursuant to the reBuirements of certain le8al and contractual obli8ations to 
support contract liabilities assumed. 

Q The ompanJ has pled8ed in the normal course of business  1 at ecember 1  of assets of the ompanJ for 
the purpose of providin8 collateral for the counterpartJ. 

33. Segmented Information 

The ma;or operatin8 se8ments of the ompanJ are the participatin8 and shareholder operations. /ithin these se8ments the 
ma;or business units are anada urope apital and *is< +olutions and orporate. These business units reflect the 
ompanJNs mana8ement structure and internal financial reportin8. ach of these se8ments operates in the financial services 
industrJ and the revenues from these business units are derived principallJ from life insurance health insurance retirement 
and investment services and reinsurance businesses. usiness activities and operations in the -nited +tates and those that are 
not associated Hith the specific business units are attributed to orporate. 
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(a) Consolidated Net Earnings 

2024 

Shareholder Participating 

Capital and 
Risk Total 

Europe Corporate Company Total Total Solutions Canada 

Segment revenue 

Insurance revenue 1 $ 9,325 $ 6,588 $ 4,936 $ 12 $ 20,861 $ 146 $ 21,007 

Net investment income 2 1,413 1,507 335 195 3,450 2,269 5,719 

Changes in fair value on F,TP# assets 2 540 (1,178) (383) (2) (1,023) 2,303 1,280 

11,278 6,917 4,888 205 23,288 4,718 28,006 

Fee and other income 3 1,894 915 14 30 2,853 — 2,853 

13,172 7,832 4,902 235 26,141 4,718 30,859 

%ther insurance results 

Insurance service expenses (6,450) (5,613) (4,080) (22) (16,165) — (16,165) 

Net income (expenses) from reinsurance contracts (1,399) (138) (61) 14 (1,584) — (1,584) 

(7,849) (5,751) (4,141) (8) (17,749) — (17,749) 

%ther investment results 

Net finance income (expenses) from insurance 
contracts (1,306) 22 8 (2) (1,278) (4,573) (5,851) 

Net finance income (expenses) from reinsurance 
contracts (2) 28 10 (10) 26 — 26 

Changes in investment contract liabilities (153) (2) (4) — (159) — (159) 

(1,461) 48 14 (12) (1,411) (4,573) (5,984) 

Net investment result - insurance contracts on 
account of segregated fund policyholders 

Net investment income (loss) 5,280 1,548 — — 6,828 — 6,828 

Net finance income (expenses) from insurance 
contracts (5,280) (1,548) — — (6,828) — (6,828) 

— — — — — — — 

%ther income and expenses 

Operating and administrative expenses (1,931) (962) (48) (113) (3,054) (34) (3,088) 

Amortization of finite life intangible assets (101) (61) (2) (5) (169) (16) (185) 

Financing costs — — (4) (101) (105) — (105) 

Other 62 — — — 62 (62) — 

Restructuring expenses 

Earnings (loss) before income taxes 

— (26) — (20) (46) (3) (49) 

1,892 1,080 721 (24) 3,669 30 3,699 

Income taxes 421 180 86 (155) 532 (77) 455 

Net earnings before non-controlling interests 1,471 900 635 131 3,137 107 3,244 

Attributable to non-controlling interests 

Net earnings 

(3) — — — (3) — (3) 

1,474 900 635 131 3,140 107 3,247 

Net earnings - participating policyholder 107 107 

$ 1,474 $ 900 $ 635 $ 131 $ 3,140 $ — $ 3,140 

— — — — — 

Net earnings - common shareholder 

1 !ncluded Hithin insurance service result in the onsolidated +tatements of arnin8s. 
 !ncluded Hithin net investment result in the onsolidated +tatements of arnin8s. 
 !ncluded Hithin other income and eIpenses in the onsolidated +tatements of arnin8s. 

98 The Canada Life Assurance Company 2024 Annual Report 



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements 

2023 

Shareholder Participating 

Capital and 
Risk Total 

Segment revenue 

Insurance revenue 1 $ 9,242 $ 6,068 $ 4,716 $ 13 $ 20,039 $ 149 $ 20,188 

Net investment income 2 1,300 1,419 169 189 3,077 1,800 4,877 

Changes in fair value on F,TP# assets 2 

Canada Europe Solutions Corporate Total Total Company 

1,522 886 57 21 2,486 1,781 4,267 

12,064 8,373 4,942 223 25,602 3,730 29,332 

Fee and other income 3 1,347 777 14 25 2,163 — 2,163 

13,411 9,150 4,956 248 27,765 3,730 31,495 

Other insurance results 

Insurance service expenses (6,496) (5,162) (3,940) (23) (15,621) (1) (15,622) 

Net income (expenses) from reinsurance 
contracts (1,398) (143) (39) 16 (1,564) — (1,564) 

(7,894) (5,305) (3,979) (7) (17,185) (1) (17,186) 

Other investment results 

Net finance income (expenses) from insurance 
contracts (2,796) (2,536) (46) 10 (5,368) (3,664) (9,032) 

Net finance income (expenses) from reinsurance 
contracts 19 221 32 (6) 266 — 266 

Changes in investment contract liabilities (130) (3) (45) — (178) — (178) 

(2,907) (2,318) (59) 4 (5,280) (3,664) (8,944) 

Net investment result - insurance contracts on 
account of segregated fund policyholders 

Net investment income (loss) 3,366 1,442 — — 4,808 — 4,808 

Net finance income (expenses) from insurance 
contracts (3,366) (1,442) — — (4,808) — (4,808) 

— — — — — — — 

Other income and expenses 

Operating and administrative expenses (1,385) (1,067) (50) (97) (2,599) (36) (2,635) 

Amortization of finite life intangible assets (77) (57) (1) (13) (148) (12) (160) 

Financing costs — 1 (5) (101) (105) — (105) 

Other 68 — — — 68 (68) — 

Restructuring expenses 

Earnings (loss) before income taxes 

Income taxes 

Net earnings before non-controlling interests 

Attributable to non-controlling interests 

Net earnings 

Net earnings - participating policyholder 

Net earnings - common shareholder 

— (126) — — (126) — (126) 

1,216 278 862 34 2,390 (51) 2,339 

268 (200) 5 (78) (5) (75) (80) 

948 478 857 112 2,395 24 2,419 

— — — 1 1 — 1 

948 478 857 111 2,394 24 2,418 

1 

 !ncluded Hithin net investment result in the onsolidated +tatements of arnin8s. 
 !ncluded Hithin other income and eIpenses in the onsolidated +tatements of arnin8s. 

— — — — — 24 24 

$ 948 $ 478 $ 857 $ 111 $ 2,394 $ — $ 2,394 

!ncluded Hithin insurance service result in the onsolidated +tatements of arnin8s. 
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(b) Consolidated Total Assets 

2024 2023 

Participating Participating 

Assets 

Shareholder account Total Shareholder account Total 

Invested assets $ 91,650 $ 62,241 $ 153,891 $ 85,327 $ 56,408 $ 141,735 

Goodwill and intangible assets 9,693 — 9,693 9,556 — 9,556 

Other assets 15,681 1,539 17,220 14,660 1,479 16,139 

Investments on account of segregated fund 
policyholders 280,400 280,400 243,186 243,186 

$ 397,424 $ 63,780 $ 461,204 $ 352,729 $ 57,887 $ 410,616 

— — 

Total 

(c) Geographic Distribution of Total Income and Assets 

2024 2023 

Segment revenue Assets Segment revenue Assets 

Canada $ 18,013 $ 224,400 $ 17,157 $ 203,373 

International 

Total 

12,846 236,804 14,338 207,243 

$ 30,859 $ 461,204 $ 31,495 $ 410,616 

(d) CSM 

2024 

Non-Participating (excluding Segregated Funds) 

Capital 
and Risk Segregated 

Funds Par Total 1Canada Europe Solutions Corporate Total 

CSM, beginning of year $ 1,159 $ 3,255 $ 1,699 $ 66 $ 6,179 $ 3,309 $ 2,970 $ 12,458 

CSM recognized for services provided (103) (286) (171) (9) (569) (410) (133) (1,112) 

Contracts initially recognized in the year 36 371 252 — 659 169 119 947 

Changes in estimates that adjust the CSM (431) 79 479 34 161 194 138 493 

Net finance expenses from insurance contracts 29 79 46 4 158 — — 158 

Effect of movement in exchange rates — 166 92 6 264 29 6 299 

CSM, end of year $ 690 $ 3,664 $ 2,397 $ 101 $ 6,852 $ 3,291 $ 3,100 $ 13,243 

2023 

Non-Participating (excluding Segregated Funds) 

Capital 
and Risk Segregated 

CSM recognized for services provided (143) (234) (137) (8) (522) (392) (136) (1,050) 

Contracts initially recognized in the year 41 284 49 — 374 182 111 667 

Changes in estimates that adjust the CSM (40) 325 33 70 388 239 (494) 133 

Net finance expenses from insurance contracts 37 49 37 3 126 — — 126 

Funds Par Total 1Canada Europe Solutions Corporate Total 

CSM, beginning of year $ 1,264 $ 2,771 $ 1,699 $ 3 $ 5,737 $ 3,269 $ 3,490 $ 12,496 

Effect of movement in exchange rates — 60 18 (2) 76 11 (1) 86 

CSM, end of year $ 1,159 $ 3,255 $ 1,699 $ 66 $ 6,179 $ 3,309 $ 2,970 $ 12,458 

The amounts in the table above are presented net of reinsurance. 
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Independent Auditor’s Report 

. Deloitte LLP 
360 Main Street 
Suite 2300 
Winnipeg MB  R3C 3Z3 
Canada 

Tel: 204-942-0051 
Fax: 204-947-9390 
www.deloitte.ca 

Independent Auditor’s Report 

To the Policyholders and Shareholder of 
The Canada Life Assurance Company 

Opinion 

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of The Canada Life Assurance Company 
(the “Company”), which comprise the consolidated balance sheets as at December 31, 2024 and 2023, 
and the consolidated statements of earnings, comprehensive income, changes in equity and cash flows 
for the years then ended, and notes to the consolidated financial statements, including material 
accounting policy information (collectively referred to as the “financial statements”). 

In our opinion, the accompanying financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the financial 
position of the Company as at December 31, 2024 and 2023, and its financial performance and its cash 
flows for the years then ended in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards as issued 
by the International Accounting Standards Board (“IASB”). 

Basis for Opinion 

We conducted our audit in accordance with Canadian generally accepted auditing standards (“Canadian 
GAAS”). Our responsibilities under those standards are further described in the Auditor’s Responsibilities 
for the Audit of the Financial Statements section of our report. We are independent of the Company in 
accordance with the ethical requirements that are relevant to our audit of the financial statements in 
Canada, and we have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with these requirements. 
We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for 
our opinion. 

Other Information 

Management is responsible for the other information. The other information comprises: 

• Management’s Discussion and Analysis. 

Our opinion on the financial statements does not cover the other information and we do not express any 
form of assurance conclusion thereon. In connection with our audit of the financial statements, our 
responsibility is to read the other information identified above and, in doing so, consider whether the 
other information is materially inconsistent with the financial statements or our knowledge obtained in 
the audit, or otherwise appears to be materially misstated. 

We obtained Management’s Discussion and Analysis prior to the date of this auditor’s report. If, based on 
the work we have performed on this other information, we conclude that there is a material 
misstatement of this other information, we are required to report that fact in this auditor’s report. We 
have nothing to report in this regard. 
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Responsibilities of Management and Those Charged with Governance for the 
Financial Statements 

Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of the financial statements in 
accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards as issued by the IASB, and for such internal 
control as management determines is necessary to enable the preparation of financial statements that 
are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error. 

In preparing the financial statements, management is responsible for assessing the Company’s ability to 
continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and using the 
going concern basis of accounting unless management either intends to liquidate the Company or to 
cease operations, or has no realistic alternative but to do so. 

Those charged with governance are responsible for overseeing the Company’s financial reporting process. 

 Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements 

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements as a whole are 
free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s report that 
includes our opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an 
audit conducted in accordance with Canadian GAAS will always detect a material misstatement when it 
exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if, individually or in the 
aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on the 
basis of these financial statements. 

As part of an audit in accordance with Canadian GAAS, we exercise professional judgment and maintain 
professional skepticism throughout the audit. We also: 

• Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to 
fraud or error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain audit 
evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not detecting 
a material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may 
involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal 
control. 

• Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit procedures 
that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the 
effectiveness of the Company’s internal control. 

• Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting 
estimates and related disclosures made by management. 

• Conclude on the appropriateness of management’s use of the going concern basis of accounting and, 
based on the audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to events or 
conditions that may cast significant doubt on the Company’s ability to continue as a going concern. If 
we conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are required to draw attention in our auditor’s 
report to the related disclosures in the financial statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to 
modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our 
auditor’s report. However, future events or conditions may cause the Company to cease to continue 
as a going concern. 
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• Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the financial statements, including the 
disclosures, and whether the financial statements represent the underlying transactions and events in 
a manner that achieves fair presentation. 

• Plan and perform the group audit to obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the 
financial information of the entities or business units within the Company as a basis for forming an 
opinion on the financial statements. We are responsible for t he direction, supervision and review of 
the audit work performed for purposes of the group audit. We remain solely responsible for our audit 
opinion. 

We communicate with those charged with governance regarding, among other matters, the planned 
scope and timing of the audit and significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in 
internal control that we identify during our audit. 

Chartered Professional Accountants 
Winnipeg, Manitoba 
February 5, 2025 
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Appointed Actuary’s Report 

To the Policyholders, Shareholder and Directors of The Canada Life Assurance Company 

I have valued the policy liabilities of The Canada Life Assurance Company for its consolidated financial statements prepared in accordance 
with International Financial Reporting Standards for the year ended December 31, 2024. 

In my opinion, the amount of policy liabilities is appropriate for this purpose. The valuation conforms to accepted actuarial practice in Canada 
and the consolidated financial statements fairly present the results of the valuation. 

Linda Kerrigan 

Fellow, Canadian Institute of Actuaries 

Toronto, Ontario 

February 5, 2025 
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Participating Policyholder Dividend Policy 

This Policyholder Dividend Policy, in conjunction with the Participating Account Management Policy, has been established by the Board of 
Directors and applies to all participating insurance policies issued or assumed by the Company. The Board of Directors may amend this policy 
from time to time at its discretion. The factors most likely to be considered in deciding whether to amend this policy include changes in applicable 
legal or regulatory requirements, professional guidelines, industry practices or significant business changes. The Appointed Actuary has overall 
accountability for the administration of this policy. 

Earnings arise in the participating account when the experience in the participating account for factors such as investment income, mortality, 
policyholder behaviour (including lapses), expenses and taxes is collectively more favourable than the assumptions for these factors used when 
pricing the participating insurance policies. The Company may distribute a portion of the earnings at the discretion of the Board of Directors in 
accordance with this policy. 

Participating insurance policies are eligible for periodic policyholder dividends. Policyholder dividends are not guaranteed. The amount of 
earnings to be distributed from the participating account as policyholder dividends is determined at least annually following a review of the 
actual experience and trends in experience. 

For the open sub-accounts, the amount of earnings to be distributed is also influenced by considerations such as the need to retain earnings as 
surplus. Throughout the term of their policy, participating policyholders benefit from the financial strength and ongoing vitality of the Company. 
For policyholders in the open sub-accounts, this includes the benefit of participating account surplus. The earnings retained in the participating 
account surplus include items such as policyholders’ contributions to surplus and the investment returns earned on assets allocated to the 
participating account surplus. Any contributions to surplus made by policyholders over the duration of their policy, remains part of the 
participating account surplus after the policy terminates. Further details on the operation of the participating account surplus is provided in the 
Participating Account Management Policy. 

Experience can fluctuate from one period to the next, based on changes in the factors impacting participating account earnings, including 
volatility in the performance of investments and the resulting investment income as well as volatility in the experience for other factors. 
Fluctuations in experience in a given period may be smoothed into the dividend scale in accordance with the company’s smoothing guideline 
for participating policies. The effect of such smoothing is to spread the impact of experience fluctuations into policyholder dividends over 
time, with the objective of achieving greater stability of dividends from one period to the next. The extent of smoothing to be used, if any, will 
depend on considerations such as the source and extent of the fluctuation in experience, expected trends in the future experience, and the 
potential impact on policyholder dividends. 

Dividends may increase or decrease over time, depending on experience and expected trends in future experience. If actual experience and 
expected trends in future experience deteriorate over time, then dividends may reduce. Conversely, if actual experience and expected trends in 
future experience improve over time, then dividends may increase. 

The amount distributed as policyholder dividends is divided among classes of policies by setting the policyholder dividend scale. These dividend 
classes are groupings of participating policies with certain product and policy attributes in common. 

The Company follows the contribution principle when setting the policyholder dividend scale. This means the amount distributed as 
policyholder dividends is divided among dividend classes in proportion to the amount that those classes are considered to have contributed to 
the participating account earnings. A contribution to earnings will be made from a particular dividend class to the extent the experience for that 
particular class is different from the assumptions used when pricing that class of policies. When applying the contribution principle, attention is 
paid to achieving reasonable equity between dividend classes and between generations of policies within a dividend class, taking into account 
practical considerations and limits, legal and regulatory requirements, professional guidelines and industry practices. For certain policies, the 
policyholder dividend scale may be determined using methods designed to approximate the contribution to earnings of those policies. 

The policyholder dividends are credited according to the terms of each policy. A change made by a policyholder to a policy after it is issued may, 
in some cases, result in a change to the policy’s dividend class and thus a change to the amount of policyholder dividends credited thereafter. 

In addition to periodic policyholder dividends, certain policies could also be eligible for additional dividends which may be payable when the 
policy matures or is terminated by the death of the life insured or by the surrender of the policy. Such dividends are also not guaranteed and are 
payable only to the extent they are approved by the Board of Directors in the year that the policy matures or terminates. The amount of any such 
additional dividends may take into consideration such elements as the type of policy, length of time the policy has been in force and when the 
policy was issued. 

The Company maintains separate sub-accounts for certain specific closed blocks of participating life insurance policies in many of the 
jurisdictions in which it operates. The closed block sub-accounts are within the Company’s participating account and managed according to the 
operating rules established for the closed blocks. Each closed block sub-account is managed separately to distribute over time the full amount of 
its earnings to the participating policyholders of that closed block through policyholder dividends. 

Prior to the declaration of policyholder dividends by the Board, the Appointed Actuary reports to the Board of Directors with an opinion on the 
fairness to participating policyholders of the proposed policyholder dividends and on their compliance with this policy, applicable legislative 
and regulatory requirements and applicable professional practice standards. Policy illustrations will reflect changes to the policyholder dividend 
scale as soon as practical. 
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Participating Policyholder Dividend Policy 

Glossary: 

The Company: The Canada Life Assurance Company, which was amalgamated with The Great-West Life Assurance Company, London Life 
Insurance Company, London Insurance Group Inc. and Canada Life Financial Corporation on January 1, 2020. 

Closed block sub-account and open sub-accounts:  If a mutual insurance company demutualizes (see ‘Demutualization’ below), 
participating policyholders are divided into two categories. Eligible policies which were purchased or assumed by the company before 
demutualization are accounted for in what is known as the ‘closed block’ or ‘closed block sub-account’. Those purchased or assumed after 
demutualization are accounted for in what is known as the ‘open sub-accounts’. The closed block sub-accounts are maintained in accordance 
with the closed block operating rules established by the Company for the closed blocks and approved by the Office of the Superintendent of 
Financial Institutions. 

Demutualization: Demutualization is the process of a company changing from a mutual company owned by participating policy owners to 
a stock company owned by shareholders. 

Dividend classes: Groupings of participating policies with certain product and policy attributes in common, which are used in determining 
how the amount to be distributed as policyholder dividends is divided among classes of policies when setting the policyholder dividend scale. 

Dividend scale: The dividend scale outlines how the total amount available for distribution as dividends will be allocated to each individual 
policy in the form of policyholder dividends. 

Participating account earnings: Earnings arise when the experience in the participating account for factors such as investment income, 
mortality, policyholder behaviour (including lapses), expenses and taxes is collectively more favourable than the assumptions for these 
factors used when pricing the participating insurance policies. The Company may distribute a portion of the earnings at the discretion of the 
Board of Directors in accordance with the Dividend Policy. 

Sub-accounts: A participating account can be split into separate sub-accounts to better align the management of the accounts, including 
management of investments, to different parts of participating business. 
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Participating Account Management Policy 

This Participating Account Management Policy has been established by the Board of Directors, in conjunction with the Participating 
Policyholder Dividend Policy, and may be amended by the Board from time to time at its discretion. The factors most likely to be considered 
in deciding whether to amend this policy include changes in applicable legal or regulatory requirements, professional guidelines, industry 
practices or significant business changes. The Appointed Actuary has overall accountability for the administration of this policy, having 
regard for relevant corporate policies. 

The participating account is managed with regard to the Company’s enterprise risk management framework through which the Board and 
management establish the Company’s risk strategy, articulate and monitor adherence to risk appetite and risk limits and identify, measure, 
manage, monitor and report on risks. 

As required by the Insurance Companies Act, the Company maintains accounts for its participating insurance policies separately from those 
maintained in respect of other policies. This facilitates the measurement of the earnings attributable to the participating account. 

The participating account is maintained in respect of participating life insurance policies and small blocks of participating annuities and 
disability insurance policies that have been issued or assumed by the Company. The participating account is comprised of three main types 
of sub-accounts. The closed block sub-accounts for Canada Life, New York Life and Crown Life were established for participating insurance 
policies issued or assumed by the Company prior to demutualization and are no longer open to new business. They are comprised of the 
best-estimate liabilities associated with these policies. The ancillary sub-accounts are comprised of additional liabilities in respect of the 
policies contained in the closed block sub-accounts. These additional liabilities include margins for financial and non-financial risks with 
regard to the estimate of future cash flows and the contractual service margin. 

The open sub-accounts are maintained in respect of the participating insurance policies issued or assumed by the Company other than those 
within the closed block sub-accounts, and are comprised of the total liabilities associated with these policies, together with the participating 
account surplus. While some of these open sub-accounts have since been closed to new business after demutualization, the Canadian open 
sub-account remains open to new business. The Canadian open sub-account includes participating insurance policies issued or assumed 
in Canada and Bermuda. 

The closed block sub-accounts are maintained in accordance with the closed block operating rules established by the Company for the closed 
blocks and approved by the Office of the Superintendent of Financial Institutions. The closed block operating rules govern the management 
of the various closed block sub-accounts, including investment income allocation, mortality costs, expense charges and taxes. The Appointed 
Actuary is required to provide the Superintendent and the relevant non-Canadian insurance regulators with reports and opinions about the 
operation of the closed block sub-accounts and ongoing compliance with the closed block operating rules as may be required. 

Assets of the Company, held within its general funds, are allocated to the participating account and non-participating account segments for 
the purpose of allocating investment income to each account. Assets are allocated to each segment according to the investment guidelines 
established for the segments. These guidelines outline criteria for asset mix, liquidity, currency risk and interest rate risk. These guidelines are 
intended to recognize considerations such as the business objectives, liability characteristics, liquidity requirements, tax considerations and 
interest rate risk tolerance of each segment. Assets allocated to a segment may from time to time be reallocated to another segment within 
the same account or another account provided the assets exchanged comply with the investment policy of the respective segments. Any such 
exchanges are effected at fair value. 

The Board of Directors reviews the investment strategy of each of the sub-accounts, and on an annual basis reviews and approves investment 
policies which govern investment activities for the participating accounts. The investment policies outline a number of principles for 
investing in assets, including risk tolerance and the approach to managing investment risk. Investment risk is managed through underwriting 
standards, exposure limits and specific guidelines governing asset classes and investment operations. The investment policies establish limits 
for the concentration of assets in single geographic areas, industries, companies and types of businesses as part of the risk management 
process. The Company may use derivative products to gain exposure to certain markets or for risk management purposes (for example, to 
hedge asset and liability positions). 

The Company maintains one asset segment to support the liabilities of the open sub-account for policies issued in Canada and Bermuda, 
and of the Canada Life closed block sub-account and ancillary sub-accounts for policies issued in Canada. The assets supporting these 
liabilities are notionally divided based on investment needs and objectives into: (1) investments that are used to satisfy near term policy 
benefits (next 10 years) and (2) investments that are used to achieve longer term objectives of the participating account. 

The investments used for the near term are primarily fixed income assets. The cashflows of these assets, together with the participating policy 
premiums are expected to provide for the policyholder benefits for the next 10 years. These benefits include dividends, death benefits, cash 
surrender values and other policy benefits such as waiver of premium. 

The investments used to achieve the longer term objectives include a combination of 1 to 10 year fixed income assets, fixed income assets 
with longer terms, and a diversified pool of common stocks, private equity and real estate. As most fixed income assets are invested in terms 
of 1 to 10 years, they are expected to mature and be reinvested several times before being used to meet the policy benefits. The focus in 
managing these assets is to create value by investing in a disciplined manner as investment spreads, interest rate levels and equity market 
conditions evolve and cycle. The performance of this part of the strategy is a key driver of changes in the dividend scale interest rate and this 
rate is an important contributor to changes in the dividend scale. 
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Participating Account Management Policy 

For all other sub-accounts, the Company invests primarily in fixed income assets across a spread of terms. The target maturity profile of these 
fixed income investments is shorter than the expected policy cashflows. This strategy is intended to produce returns that exhibit stability while 
providing policyholders with some participation in changing fixed income market conditions. 

Investment income is allocated to the participating account in accordance with the Company’s investment income allocation policy. Generally, 
investment income results are allocated directly to a segment based on the assets allocated to the segment. Each year the Appointed Actuary 
reviews the method used for allocating investment income to the participating account and reports to the Board of Directors on its fairness 
and equitableness. 

Expenses and taxes incurred by the Company are allocated to the participating account in accordance with the Company’s expense allocation 
and tax allocation policies. 

Expenses are allocated by the area incurring the expense to the appropriate line of business. As a general principle, expenses are 
allocated to a line of business in accordance with its business activities. In addition, from time to time the Company makes significant 
expenditures/investments outside of regular business activities which may include but are not limited to transactions such as acquisitions, 
restructurings, and capital expenditures (e.g. major IT systems), the intent and effect of which is to reduce future expenses. The governing 
principle for fair and equitable treatment of such expenditures/investments is that expenses will be allocated to the lines of business 
recognizing both the benefit derived by the line of business from that expenditure/investment and the contribution made by the line of 
business to that expenditure/investment. 

For the open sub-accounts, in general, expenses that are exclusively related to participating business are allocated directly to the participating 
account. Expenses related to both participating and non-participating business are allocated based on business statistics when the expenses 
vary based on those statistics, based on managers’ estimates supported by time studies or other assessments, or in proportion to the total 
expenses allocated using all of the methods previously mentioned. For unusual items, management will determine and report to the Appointed 
Actuary the resulting allocation of expenses to each line of business, including the basis and justification for it. 

For the closed block sub-accounts, expenses are charged based on pre-determined formulas in accordance with the closed block operating rules. 

Taxes are allocated to the participating account using the characteristics of the participating and non-participating accounts that are determinative 
of the relevant tax costs. In accordance with the closed block operating rules, no taxes on profits are allocated to the closed block sub-accounts 
since it is expected that closed block pre-tax profit will cumulatively be zero over the lifetime of the closed block. 

Each year the Appointed Actuary reviews the method used for allocating expenses and taxes to the participating account and reports to the 
Board of Directors on its fairness and equitableness. 

Throughout the term of their policy, participating policyholders benefit from the financial strength and ongoing vitality of the Company. 
For policyholders in the open sub-accounts, this includes the benefit of participating account surplus, which includes the combined 
contributions to surplus made by, or expected to be made by, past and present participating policyholders. After their policy terminates, 
contributions to surplus made by policyholders remain in the participating account surplus. 

The participating account surplus associated with the open sub-accounts is managed within the Company’s capital management and 
enterprise risk management framework and with regard to regulatory requirements. Surplus is required for a number of purposes including to 
help ensure the Company can meet its obligations to participating policyholders, help ensure financial strength and stability of the Company, 
finance new business growth and acquisitions which may benefit the participating account, provide for transitions during periods of major 
change, and to avoid undue fluctuations in dividends; subject to items such as practical considerations and limits, legal and regulatory 
requirements, and industry practices. 

A portion of earnings in the open sub-accounts for each financial period is retained in the participating account surplus. The earnings retained 
in the participating account surplus include items such as policyholders’ contributions to surplus and the investment returns earned on 
assets allocated to the participating account surplus. The participating account surplus position is reviewed annually, having regard 
for the specific circumstances of the participating account. Based on the review, policyholders’ future contributions to surplus may be 
adjusted by increasing or decreasing the dividend scale. 

As permitted by the Insurance Companies Act, the Company may distribute to the shareholders a percentage of the amount distributed to 
policyholders from the open sub-accounts in respect of a financial year. Prior to any such distribution, the Appointed Actuary will confirm to 
the Board of Directors that the proposed distribution is permitted under the terms of the Insurance Companies Act. The proportion distributed 
to the shareholders will not exceed the prescribed amount as determined under section 461 of the Insurance Companies Act. Any distribution 
made to the shareholders will be published in the Company’s annual report. 

Under the terms of the closed block operating rules, no distribution to the shareholders may be made from the closed block sub-accounts. 
In accordance with the demutualization agreement, the amount by which the assets exceed the liabilities in the ancillary sub-accounts is 
transferred to the shareholders each quarter. 

108 The Canada Life Assurance Company 2024 Annual Report 



(March 23, 2025 / 10:08:34)

D201134909_Canada_Life_2024_AR_ENG_Text_REV.pdf  .109

Participating Account Management Policy 

Glossary: 

The Company: The Canada Life Assurance Company, which was amalgamated with The Great-West Life Assurance Company, London Life 
Insurance Company, London Insurance Group Inc. and Canada Life Financial Corporation on January 1, 2020. 

Closed block sub-account and open sub-accounts: If a mutual insurance company demutualizes (see ‘Demutualization’ below), participating 
policyholders are divided into two categories. Eligible policies which were purchased or assumed by the company before demutualization are 
accounted for in what is known as the ‘closed block’ or ‘closed block sub-account’. Those purchased or assumed after demutualization are accounted 
for in what is known as the ‘open sub-accounts’. The closed block sub-accounts are maintained in accordance with the closed block operating rules 
established by the Company for the closed blocks and approved by the Office of the Superintendent of Financial Institutions. 

Demutualization: Demutualization is the process of a company changing from a mutual company owned by participating policy owners to a 
stock company owned by shareholders. 

Dividend classes: Groupings of participating policies with certain product and policy attributes in common, which are used in determining 
how the amount to be distributed as policyholder dividends is divided among classes of policies when setting the policyholder dividend scale. 

Dividend scale: The dividend scale outlines how the total amount available for distribution as dividends will be allocated to each individual 
policy in the form of policyholder dividends. 

Participating account earnings: Earnings arise when the experience in the participating account for factors such as investment income, 
mortality, policyholder behaviour (including lapses), expenses and taxes is collectively more favourable than the assumptions for these factors 
used when pricing the participating insurance policies. The Company may distribute a portion of the earnings at the discretion of the Board of 
Directors in accordance with the Dividend Policy. 

Contractual service margin (CSM): The CSM is a new component of the liability post IFRS17 implementation. The CSM is a component of the 
carrying amount of the asset or liability for a group of insurance contracts representing the unearned profit the entity will recognize as it provides 
insurance contract services under the insurance contracts in the group. 

Segments: The split of the assets of the Company held within its general funds for the purpose of determining asset allocation; each segment 
has investment guidelines established for the segment. 

Sub-accounts: A participating account can be split into separate sub-accounts to better align the management of the accounts, including 
management of investments, to different parts of participating business. 

Undue fluctuations: One of the uses that may be made of participating account surplus in the open sub-accounts is to help avoid undue fluctuations 
in dividends. The use of surplus for this purpose is limited to the occurrence of extreme events, and as such, is not a common occurrence. 

Participating Account Financial Disclosure 
The information in this section is disclosed in accordance with the Office of the Superintendent of Financial Institutions’ Guideline 
E-16 – Participating account management and disclosure to participating policyholders and adjustable policyholders. 

1. Participating Account Financial Disclosure 

Canada Life Participating Disclosure 

(in millions of local currency) 2024 2023 

Participating Open Closed Open Closed 
Account Accounting Item Fund Fund Fund Fund 

Canada Opening surplus and accumulated other comprehensive income (AOCI) $ 2,859 n/a $ 2,750 n/a 
Canada Life Net earnings (including OCI) before distributions 1,992 85 1,818 85 

Amounts transferred to shareholders under s. 461 of the ICA (45) – (43) – 
$ Other transfers or accruals under s. 462 of the ICA (3) – – – 

Net earnings (including OCI) before payment of policyholder dividends 1,944 85 1,775 85 

Policyholder dividends distributed during the year (1,747) (85) (1,666) (85) 

Closing surplus and accumulated other comprehensive income (AOCI) $ 3,056 n/a $ 2,859 n/a 

Total assets at year end $ 56,092 $ 2,696 $ 50,290 $ 2,603 

Section 461 transfer as a % of total distributions 2.50% n/a 2.50% n/a 
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Participating Account Financial Disclosure 

(in millions of local currency) 

Participating 
Account Accounting Item 

Open 
Fund 

2024 

Closed 
Fund 

Open 
Fund 

2023 

Closed 
Fund 

Canada Opening surplus and accumulated other comprehensive income (AOCI) n/a n/a 
Crown Life Net earnings (including OCI) before distributions 3 3 

Amounts transferred to shareholders under s. 461 of the ICA – – 
$ Other transfers or accruals under s. 462 of the ICA – – 

Net earnings (including OCI) before payment of policyholder dividends 3 3 

Policyholder dividends distributed during the year (3) (3) 

Closing surplus and accumulated other comprehensive income (AOCI) n/a n/a 

Total assets at year end $ 839 $ 842 

Section 461 transfer as a % of total distributions n/a n/a 

Canada Opening surplus and accumulated other comprehensive income (AOCI) n/a n/a 
New York Life Net earnings (including OCI) before distributions 34 34 

Amounts transferred to shareholders under s. 461 of the ICA – – 
$ Other transfers or accruals under s. 462 of the ICA – – 

Net earnings (including OCI) before payment of policyholder dividends 34 34 

Policyholder dividends distributed during the year (34) (34) 

Closing surplus and accumulated other comprehensive income (AOCI) n/a n/a 

Total assets at year end $ 1,271 $ 1,261 

Section 461 transfer as a % of total distributions n/a n/a 

International Opening surplus and accumulated other comprehensive income (AOCI) n/a n/a 
Hong Kong Net earnings (including OCI) before distributions 10 9 

Amounts transferred to shareholders under s. 461 of the ICA – – 
US$ Other transfers or accruals under s. 462 of the ICA – – 

Net earnings (including OCI) before payment of policyholder dividends 10 9 

Policyholder dividends distributed during the year (10) (9) 

Closing surplus and accumulated other comprehensive income (AOCI) n/a n/a 

Total assets at year end $ 440 $ 457 

Section 461 transfer as a % of total distributions n/a n/a 

International Opening surplus and accumulated other comprehensive income (AOCI) n/a n/a 
Macau Net earnings (including OCI) before distributions – – 

Amounts transferred to shareholders under s. 461 of the ICA – – 
US$ Other transfers or accruals under s. 462 of the ICA – – 

Net earnings (including OCI) before payment of policyholder dividends – – 

Policyholder dividends distributed during the year – – 

Closing surplus and accumulated other comprehensive income (AOCI) n/a n/a 

Total assets at year end $ 9  $ 9 

Section 461 transfer as a % of total distributions n/a n/a 

International Opening surplus and accumulated other comprehensive income (AOCI) $ (8) $ (8) 
Pacific Rim Net earnings (including OCI) before distributions 1 – 

Amounts transferred to shareholders under s. 461 of the ICA – – 
US$ Other transfers or accruals under s. 462 of the ICA – – 

Net earnings (including OCI) before payment of policyholder dividends 1 – 

Policyholder dividends distributed during the year (1) – 

Closing surplus and accumulated other comprehensive income (AOCI) $ (8) $ (8) 

Total assets at year end $ 14 $ 13 

Section 461 transfer as a % of total distributions 2.50% 2.50% 
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Participating Account Financial Disclosure 

(in millions of local currency) 2024 2023 

Participating Open Closed Open Closed 
Account Accounting Item Fund Fund Fund Fund 

United States Opening surplus and accumulated other comprehensive income (AOCI) $ 8 n/a $ 6 n/a 
Canada Life Net earnings (including OCI) before distributions 2 9 3 9 

Amounts transferred to shareholders under s. 461 of the ICA – – – – 
US$ Other transfers or accruals under s. 462 of the ICA (1) – – – 

Net earnings (including OCI) before payment of policyholder dividends 1 9 3 9 

Policyholder dividends distributed during the year (1) (9) (1) (9) 

Closing surplus and accumulated other comprehensive income (AOCI) $ 8 n/a $ 8 n/a 

Total assets at year end $ 138 $ 963 $ 156 $ 972 

Section 461 transfer as a % of total distributions 2.46% n/a 2.50% n/a 

United States Opening surplus and accumulated other comprehensive income (AOCI) $ (11)  $ (12) 
Crown Life Net earnings (including OCI) before distributions 3 3 

Amounts transferred to shareholders under s. 461 of the ICA – – 
US$ Other transfers or accruals under s. 462 of the ICA – – 

Net earnings (including OCI) before payment of policyholder dividends 3 3 

Policyholder dividends distributed during the year (1) (2) 

Closing surplus and accumulated other comprehensive income (AOCI) $ (9) $ (11) 

Total assets at year end $ 224 $ 254 

Section 461 transfer as a % of total distributions 2.43% 2.50% 
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Participating Account Financial Disclosure 

2. Participating Account Dividend Composition 

Earnings arise when the experience in the participating account is collectively more favourable than the assumptions for the factors used 
when pricing the participating insurance policies. The Company may distribute a portion of the earnings at the discretion of the Board of 
Directors in accordance with the Dividend Policy. The amount distributed as policyholder dividends is divided among classes of policies 
by setting the policyholder dividend scale. These dividend classes are groupings of participating policies with certain product and policy 
attributes in common. 

Dividends may increase or decrease over time, depending on experience in the participating account and expected trends in future experience 
and are not guaranteed. The contribution from the investment and non-investment factors shown in the table are approximations for the 
entire participating account and can vary significantly at an individual policy level depending on the class the policy belongs to. 

Current dividend composition by experience factor1: 

Participating Account 

Contribution from 
investment 
experience 

Contribution from 
non-investment 

experience 2 

Canada 
Canada Life (Open Fund) 40% 60% 

Canada 
Canada Life (Closed Fund) 20% 80% 

Canada 
Crown Life (Closed Fund) 0% 100% 

Canada 
New York Life (Closed Fund) 0% 100% 

International 
Hong Kong (Closed Fund) 0%  100% 

International 
Macau (Closed Fund) 0% 100% 

International 
Pacific Rim (Open Fund) 0% 100% 

United States 
Canada Life (Open Fund) 0% 100% 

United States 
Canada Life (Closed Fund) 0% 100% 

United States 
Crown Life (Open Fund) 0% 100% 

1 Figures shown have been rounded to the nearest 10%. 

2 Non-investment experience includes factors such as mortality, policyholder behaviour (including lapses), expenses and taxes. 
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Participating Account Financial Disclosure 

3. Participating Account Dividend Scale Interest Rate 

The participating account dividend scale interest rate is used to calculate the investment component of participating policyholder dividends. 
The historical dividend scale interest rate is provided for illustrative purposes only. It represents past performance, which is not indicative of 
future performance. 

Dividend Scale Interest Rate 
Historical average annual rate 

5 years 10 years 20 years 
Participating Account – Canada As of Dec 31, 2024 (2020 – 2024) (2015 – 2024) (2005 – 2024) 

Canada 
Canada Life (Open Fund) 1, 2 5.50% 5.29% 5.52% 6.39% 

a) Policies formerly belonging to the 
London Life Participating Account 1 5.50% 5.19% 5.21% 6.01% 

b) Policies formerly belonging to the 
Great-West Life Participating Account 1 5.50% 5.29%  5.49% 6.14% 

Canada 
Canada Life (Closed Fund) 5.40% 5.19% 5.47% 6.37% 

Canada 
Crown Life (Closed Fund) 4.50% 4.62% 4.82% 5.62% 

Canada 
New York Life (Closed Fund) 4.62% 4.74% 4.94% 5.70% 

1 Effective January 1st 2020, the London Life and Great-West Life participating accounts were merged with the Canada Life Open Account. 

2 Includes policies belonging to the Canada Life Open Participating Account prior to merging of the accounts on January 1st 2020. 

Dividend Scale Interest Rate 
Historical average annual rate 

5 years 10 years 14 years 
Participating Account – United States & International As of Dec 31, 2024 (2020 – 2024) (2015 – 2024) (2011 – 2024) 

International 
Hong Kong (Closed Fund) 5.10% 4.82% 4.90% 5.21% 

International 
Macau (Closed Fund) 5.10% 4.82% 4.90% 5.21% 

International 
Pacific Rim (Open Fund) 4.70% 4.50% 4.58% 4.82% 

United States 
Canada Life (Open Fund) 3.95% 3.99% 4.51% 5.05% 

United States 
Canada Life (Closed Fund) 3.95% 3.99% 4.51% 5.05% 

United States 
Crown Life (Open Fund) 4.80% 4.80% 5.18% 5.44% 

4. Participating Account Investment Rate of Return 

One of the components in participating account earnings is the investment income on the underlying assets. The participating account 
investment rate of return shown in the table below is expressed as a market yield without smoothing and net of investment expenses, which 
is aligned with the disclosure requirements of Guideline E-16. 

There are several factors which result in participating account earnings not being directly linked to the participating account investment rate 
of return. For example, the short-term impact of unrealized gains or losses on fixed income assets are reflected in the participating account 
investment rate of return, but these unrealized gains or losses generally do not impact participating account earnings. In addition, non-fixed 
income returns are reflected directly in the participating account investment rate of return while generally being smoothed into participating 
account earnings. 

The historical participating account investment rate of return is provided for illustrative purposes only. It represents past performance, which 
is not indicative of future performance. The historical average annual rate over for the current year (2024) as well as the historical average 
annual rate (2020 – 2024) included in the table below includes the impact of unrealized gains and losses on fixed income assets arising from 
interest rate volatility during this period. 
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Participating Account Financial Disclosure 

Participating Account Investment Rate of Return 
Historical average 

annual rate 3 

Participating Account – Canada 2024 2020-2024 

Canada 
Canada Life (Open Fund) 1 8.43% 4.22% 

Canada 
Canada Life (Closed Fund) 2 8.51% 4.36% 

Canada 
Crown Life (Closed Fund) 4.11% 1.17% 

Canada 
New York Life (Closed Fund) 4.12% 1.15% 

1 Effective January 1st 2020, the London Life and Great-West Life participating accounts were merged with the Canada Life Open Account. For the Canadian Canada Life Open Fund 
the participating account investment rate of return includes the return on assets backing the participating account surplus. The investment rate of return on assets backing surplus 
was 5.62% in 2024 and since 2020, the historical average return was 1.41%. For all participating accounts, the investment returns on participating account surplus are not included 
in the determination of dividends. 

2 The Canada Life Closed Fund shares an investment pool with the Canada Life Open Fund. The return shown for the Closed Fund does not include the investment return on the Open 
participating account surplus. 

3 For illustrative purposes, historical returns prior to 2020 are shown below. These historical returns are based on data availability and are not directly comparable to current year 
returns. The historical returns shown below were determined in accordance with IFRS issued by the International Accounting Standards Board (IASB) prior to January 1 2023, with 
the exception of unrealized gains and losses on fixed income investments which were excluded. Some approximations were used in the reflection of realized gains and losses on 
bonds in the participating account returns prior to 2020 by sub-account below. 

3a   For the Canadian Canada Life Open Fund the historical average 10-year (2010-2019) return ranged from 5.06% to 5.14% for the accounts prior to them being merged. 

3b For the Canadian Crown Life Closed Fund and the Canadian New York Life Closed Fund, the historical average 10-year (2010-2019) return ranged from 5.46% to 5.54%. 

Participating Account Investment Rate of Return 
Historical average 

annual rate 1 

Participating Account – United States & International 2024 2020-2024 

International 
Hong Kong (Closed Fund) - 0.85% - 2.14% 

International 
Macau (Closed Fund) -1.25% - 2.29% 

International 
Pacific Rim (Open Fund) - 1.26% - 1.55% 

United States 
Canada Life (Open Fund) 4.55% 1.88% 

United States 
Canada Life (Closed Fund) 4.61% 1.95% 

United States 
Crown Life (Open Fund) 4.29% 1.60% 

1 For illustrative purposes, historical returns prior to 2020 are shown based on data availability and are not directly comparable to current year returns. The historical returns shown 
below were determined in accordance with IFRS issued by the International Accounting Standards Board (IASB) prior to January 1 2023, with the exception of unrealized gains and 
losses on fixed income investments which were excluded. 

1a For the International Hong Kong (Closed Fund), the historical average 10-year (2010-2019) return was 5.00%. For the International Macau (Closed Fund) and Pacific Rim 
(Open Fund), the historical average 7-year (2013-2019) return was 3.60% and 3.12%, respectively. 

1b For the United States Canada Life (Open Fund), Canada Life (Closed Fund), and Crown Life (Open Fund), the historical average 10-year (2010-2019) return was 5.56%, 5.24%, 
and 6.62%, respectively. 

5. Participating Account Asset Mix 

On December 31, 2024, for the Canadian Canada Life Open and Closed Funds, the actual asset mix was 70.0% fixed income and 30.0% non-
fixed income compared against a target mix of 70% fixed income and 30% non-fixed income. For all other participating accounts, the actual 
and target asset mix was 100% fixed income. 

For all participating accounts, policy loans, cash, and cash equivalents are classified as fixed income in the consideration of the overall target 
and actual asset mix. 
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Subsidiaries of The Canada Life Assurance Company 1 

Principal Carrying Value 2 Voting 
Office (in Canadian Share 

Name Address $ millions) Ownership 

Canada Life Capital Corporation Inc. Toronto, Ontario  $ 10,875 100% 
Canada Life International Holdings Limited Hamilton, Bermuda 5,459 100% 

The Canada Life Group (U.K.) Limited Potters Bar, Hertfordshire, England 6,550 100% 
Canada Life Limited Potters Bar, Hertfordshire, England 4,798 100% 

Irish Life Group Limited Dublin, Ireland 2,635 100% 
Irish Life Assurance p.l.c. Dublin, Ireland 1,832 100% 

Canada Life Irish Holding Company Limited Dublin, Ireland 1,709 100% 
The Canada Life Insurance Company of Canada Toronto, Ontario 965 100% 
Quadrus Investment Services Ltd. London, Ontario 34 100% 
GWL Realty Advisors Inc. Winnipeg, Manitoba 3 100% 

1 The table above depicts the major and certain other subsidiaries of the Company at December 31, 2024. 

2 The carrying value represents the Company’s equity in its subsidiaries. 
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Directors and Senior Officers 
As of February 5, 2025 

Board of Directors 

R. Jeffrey Orr 3, 4, 5, 6 

Chair of the Board, Canada Life 

President and Chief Executive Officer, 
Power Corporation of Canada 

Michael R. Amend 2, 7 

Chief Enterprise Technology Officer, 
Ford Motor Company 

Deborah J. Barrett, FCPA, FCA, ICD.D 1, 2, 5 

Corporate Director 

Robin A. Bienfait 1, 7 

Chief Executive Officer, 
Emnovate 

Heather E. Conway 1, 2, 4, 7 

Chair of the Board, 
Amex Bank of Canada 

Marcel R. Coutu 3, 4, 5 

Corporate Director 

André Desmarais, O.C., O.Q. 3, 4, 7 

Deputy Chairman, 
Power Corporation of Canada 

Paul Desmarais, Jr., O.C., O.Q. 3, 5 

Chairman, 
Power Corporation of Canada 

Senior Officers 

Paul A. Mahon 
President and Chief Executive Officer 

David M. Harney 
President and Chief Operating Officer, 
Europe and Capital and Risk Solutions 
Interim Global Chief Investment Officer 

Fabrice Morin 
President and Chief Operating Officer, 
Canada 

Colleen N. Bailey Moffitt 
Executive Vice-President and 
Chief Human Resources Officer 

Michael W. Dibden 
Executive Vice-President and 
Chief Information Officer 

Gary A. Doer, O.M. 4, 7 

Senior Business Advisor, 
Dentons Canada LLP 

Claude Généreux 4, 5 

Executive Vice-President, 
Power Corporation of Canada 

Jake P. Lawrence 1, 6, 7 

Executive Vice-President and 
Chief Financial Officer, 
Power Corporation of Canada 

Paula B. Madoff 5, 6 

Corporate Director 

Paul A. Mahon 6 

President and Chief Executive Officer, 
Canada Life 

Susan J. McArthur 3, 4, 5 

Corporate Director 

James P. O’Sullivan 4, 5 

President and Chief Executive Officer, 
IGM Financial Inc. 

T. Timothy Ryan 3, 4, 7 

Corporate Director 

Nancy C. Hudson 
Senior Vice-President and 
Chief Internal Auditor 

Sharon C. Geraghty 
Executive Vice-President and 
General Counsel 

Linda Kerrigan 
Senior Vice-President and 
Appointed Actuary 

Amy E. Metzger 
Senior Vice-President and 
Chief Compliance Officer 

Jon P. Nielsen 
Executive Vice-President and 
Chief Financial Officer 

Dhvani D. Shah, CFA 2, 5, 6 

Group Vice President and 
Chief Investment Officer, 
JM Family Enterprises, Inc. 

Siim A. Vanaselja, FCPA, FCA 1, 7 

Corporate Director 

Brian E. Walsh 3, 4, 5, 6 

Corporate Director 

Committees 

1. Audit Committee 
Chair: Siim A. Vanaselja 

2. Conduct Review Committee 
Chair: Deborah J. Barrett 

3. Governance and Nominating Committee 
Chair: R. Jeffrey Orr 

4. Human Resources Committee 
Chair: Claude Généreux 

5. Investment Committee 
Chair: Paula B. Madoff 

6. Reinsurance Committee 
Chair: Brian E. Walsh 

7. Risk Committee 
Chair: T. Timothy Ryan 

David B. Simmonds 
Senior Vice-President, 
Chief Marketing and 
Communications Officer 

Dervla M. Tomlin 
Executive Vice-President and 
Chief Risk Officer 
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Company Information 

The Canada Life Assurance Company operates in Canada, Germany, and the United Kingdom, and in Ireland through Irish Life. 
Our contact information is listed below for each region. 

Registered Office 

100 Osborne Street North 
Winnipeg, Manitoba, Canada R3C 1V3  
Phone: 204-946-1190 
Website: canadalife.com 

Canada Canada Life 

100 Osborne Street North 

Winnipeg, Manitoba Canada R3C 1V3 

Phone: 204-946-1190 

Website: canadalife.com 

Canada Life Reinsurance 

330 University Avenue 

Toronto, Ontario Canada M5G 1R8 

Phone: 416-597-1456 

Website: canadalifere.com 

Ireland Irish Life 

Irish Life Centre 

Lower Abbey Street  

Dublin 1, Ireland 

Phone: 353 1 704 2000 

Website: irishlife.ie 

Germany Canada Life Assurance Europe plc 

Höninger Weg 153a 

50969 Köln Germany 

Phone:  +49 221 36756-0 

Website: canadalife.de 

United Kingdom Canada Life Limited 

Canada Life Place 

Potters Bar, Hertfordshire 

England EN6 5BA 

Phone: +44 1707 651 122 

Website: canadalife.co.uk 

Visit canadalife.com to view this report online and learn more about our products and services. 

To request a printed copy of this report email corporate.secretary@canadalife.com. 

Trademarks contained in this report are owned by The Canada Life Assurance Company or a member of the Power Corporation group of companies. Trademarks not owned by The Canada Life 
Assurance Company are used with permission. 
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canadalife.com 

The Canada Life Assurance Company 
100 Osborne Street North 
Winnipeg Manitoba Canada R3C 1V3 

A MEMBER OF THE POWER CORPORATION GROUP OF COMPANIES® 

Canada Life and design are trademarks of The Canada Life Assurance Company. 
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